2016 ANNUAL RESULTS

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING | TSX |

w w w.perpetualenergyinc .com
320 0, 605 – 5 Avenue S W
Calgar y, Alber ta CA N A DA T 2P 3H5
8 0 0.811.5522 TOLL FREE
4 03. 269.4 4 0 0 PHONE
info @perpetualenergyinc.com

EMAIL

TO SHAREHOLDERS
2016 was a year of extraordinary transformation for Perpetual. We successfully executed on critical steps to position the Company to navigate
the current volatile, and in some aspects hostile, business environment and prosper in the future.
Commodity prices were on a downward slide through much of 2016, staging a modest recovery in the fourth quarter and poising for improved
stability in 2017. Perpetual’s focus was squarely on liquidity management and preservation of the balance sheet through restricted capital
spending, as well as financial sustainability by establishing a competitive cost structure in all aspects of our operations.
We successfully executed on an asset base high-grading strategy, disposing of a large percentage of our high liability, low netback legacy
mature shallow gas properties in east central and northeast Alberta. This novel sale for nominal proceeds resulted in an outright reduction of
over 40 percent of production and almost 20 percent of proved and probable reserves but created significant value by effecting a material
decrease in future asset retirement obligations and restoring positive adjusted funds flow.
The strategic disposition, combined with a series of financing and recapitalization transactions, reduced debt by close to 80 percent,
eliminated close to 70 percent of future decommissioning obligations, doubled our future operating netbacks, restored cash flow from
operations and established financial flexibility to fund our growth-oriented business plan in 2017 and 2018. Importantly, all of this was
accomplished while preserving exposure to virtually all of our promising investment and growth opportunities. Going forward we are
positioned with a diversified foundation of resource-style plays which include liquids-rich gas, heavy oil, shallow shale gas and bitumen that
provide a solid platform to grow value for our shareholders.
Success in advancing our strategic goals has positioned the Company for strong growth. Perpetual’s top four strategic priorities for 2017
include:
•
•
•
•

Grow the value of Greater Edson liquids-rich gas;
Optimize the value potential of Eastern Alberta assets;
Advance high impact opportunities; and
Optimize the balance sheet for growth.

In 2017, we have shifted our focus back to capital investment to drive production and adjusted funds flow growth. At the same time, we will
maintain our vigilance to further reduce costs, maximize efficiencies in administration and operations, enhance financial flexibility and
strengthen our balance sheet.
Despite the headwinds, we remain convicted to grow value for shareholders. Through proven creativity, technical excellence, adaptability and
accountability we are set to capture the inherent value of our diversified portfolio of resource-style plays for the short and long term. The
Board of Directors and Management remain grateful for the talent and deep commitment of our team and the support of our shareholders.

SUE RIDDELL ROSE
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 14, 2017

2016 ANNUAL HIGHLIGHTS
2016 ANNUAL FINANCIAL AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS
•

Perpetual’s exploration and development spending in 2016 totaled $14.0 million, 75 percent of which was concentrated on the West
Central Alberta deep basin assets. Capital expenditures included drilling four wells (4.0 net), with two (2.0 net) liquids-rich wells at East
Edson and two (2.0 net) horizontal well at Mannville targeting shallow gas, one of which encountered uphole drilling problems and was
subsequently re-drilled in January 2017. Capital activity in 2016 also included continuation of waterflood activities and a shallow gas
recompletion program at Mannville. In addition, Perpetual advanced phase one of its strategic low pressure electro-thermally assisted
drive (“LEAD”) pilot project with cyclic heat stimulation (“CHS”) testing in the Bluesky formation at Panny. Currently in the fourth cycle,
results to date have exceeded expectations and the CHS test is providing valuable insights to inform a potential commercial development
plan and the future pilot project.

•

Net property dispositions of $26.2 million in 2016 included the sale of certain oil sands leases with a retained gross overriding royalty,
non-core undeveloped land, a 25 percent interest in certain seismic, and idle production equipment for proceeds of $7.7 million.
Dispositions also included the sale of its 30 percent partnership interest in its gas storage business at Warwick and surrounding buffer
lands as well as a large percentage of its mature shallow gas properties in east central and northeast Alberta, along with their associated
decommissioning obligations (the “Shallow Gas Properties”).

•

Perpetual spent $3.8 million on abandonment and reclamation projects during 2016 mainly in eastern Alberta. The Company scaled up the
redeployment of operational personal and internal resources to accelerate progress and drive efficiencies on abandonment and
reclamation projects, resulting in the realization of substantial cost savings on 2016 projects. These efficiencies, combined with the
disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties, reduced the the Company’s decommissioning obligations by $125.5 million year-over-year to
$33.6 million at year end 2016.

•

Total natural gas, oil and natural gas liquids (“NGL”) production for the year ended December 31, 2016 of 14,128 boe/d was 28 percent
lower than 2015 (19,706 boe/d), reflecting the Shallow Gas Property disposition and natural declines related to the decision to restrict
capital spending in response to low commodity prices in 2016. Perpetual’s natural gas production averaged 74.7 MMcf/d. Consistent with
restricted capital spending and declining East Edson gas production, NGL production of 614 bbl/d (67 percent condensate) in 2016
decreased 14 percent from 711 bbl/d (68 percent condensate) in 2015. Oil production of 1,058 bbl/d for 2016 was 35 percent lower than
2015 (1,626 bbl/d).

•

Total operating expenses decreased 46 percent to $35.0 million ($6.77/boe) for 2016 compared to $65.1 million ($9.06/boe) in 2015,
reflecting company-wide cost saving initiatives, the re-deployment of operations personnel to abandonment and reclamation projects,
and concentration of operations to the low cost East Edson area with the impact of the sale of the Shallow Gas Properties for the full
duration of the fourth quarter.

•

Municipal property taxes of $7.3 million continued to represent a significant portion of fixed operating costs at $1.42 per boe (21 percent
of total operating costs) for the year ended December 31, 2016. The calculation of property taxes for machinery and equipment,
pipelines and wells is based on a prescribed formula methodology which results in a tax assessment base that is dramatically
misrepresentative of the property value for the Company’s mature shallow gas assets. As a result, property taxes for the Shallow Gas
Properties in Eastern Alberta for the first three quarters of 2016 were $5.2 million ($3.00/boe), which represented 26 percent of
operating costs for the shallow gas production and 320 percent of pre-municipal tax operating netbacks for these properties.

•

Realized revenue of $86.1 million in 2016 was 41 percent lower than 2015 due to lower commodity prices combined with the 28 percent
decrease in average daily production.

•

AECO Monthly Index prices which were 24 percent lower in 2016 as compared to 2015 was reflected in Perpetual’s natural gas price
before derivatives of $2.19/Mcf, down from $2.87/Mcf in 2015. Perpetual’s average realized gas price, including derivatives, decreased
20 percent to $2.42/Mcf for the year ended December 31, 2016 from $3.01/Mcf in 2015. The Corporation’s realized 2016 natural gas
price, with derivatives, includes $2.7 million of realized losses on natural gas derivatives offset by $8.9 million of gains realized on
crystallizations of contracts before maturity.

•

Perpetual’s oil price, before derivatives, of $34.93/bbl in 2016 decreased 15 percent compared to 2015 due primarily to the 11 percent
decline in WTI pricing. Perpetual’s realized oil price of $37.60/bbl, including derivatives, was higher than the price before derivatives due
to gains of $1.3 million recorded on financial crude oil derivative contracts reduced by $0.3 million of losses realized on crystallizations of
contracts before maturity.

•

Perpetual’s realized average NGL price increased five percent from the prior year to $35.45/bbl, reflecting the improvement in all NGL
component prices as NGL inventory levels began to stabilize.

•

Royalty expense of $9.4 million in 2016 represented a combined royalty rate of 11.6 percent compared to 11.5 percent in 2015. Average
crown royalty rates decreased to 2.1 percent in 2016 compared to 3.1 percent in 2015 as a result of lower commodity prices. Freehold
and overriding royalty rates for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased from 8.4 percent in 2015 to 9.5 percent in 2016 as the
East Edson joint venture royalty of 5.6 MMcf/d plus associated oil and NGLs represented a larger percentage of reduced production given
the impact of reduced capital spending.

•

Operating netbacks of $6.53/boe in 2016 were 12 percent lower than in 2015 ($7.44/boe), driven by the 18 percent ($3.80/boe) decline
in realized revenue due to lower commodity prices which more than offset the positive impact of lower operating and transportation
costs per boe.
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•

Cash interest expense in 2016 decreased 52 percent to $14.7 million (2015 – $30.6 million) as a result of the 81 percent reduction in
total net debt from $203.6 million at year end 2015 to $38.1 million at year end 2016, net of working capital and including the mark to
market value of the Company’s investment in Tourmaline Oil Corp. (“TOU”) shares. The reduction was accomplished through asset sales
and the exchange of $214.4 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes for 4.4 million of the Company’s TOU shares (the
“Security Swap”) in April and May 2016.

•

Despite significant corporate cost savings, low commodity prices continued to have a dramatic impact on financial results with adjusted
funds flow of $0.9 million for 2016 as compared to $2.0 million in 2015. Operating, transportation, administrative and financing expenses
were 40 percent ($50.2 million) lower than in 2015 (17 percent lower ($2.92/boe) on a unit-of-production basis).

•

The Corporation recorded net income of $107.1 million ($2.11/share) in 2016 which included: an $81.3 million gain on the Security
Swap; a $58.9 million change in the market value of the TOU share investment based on the increase in trading price from $22.35/share
on December 31, 2015 to $35.91/share at year end 2016; a net $6.9 million impairment reversal primarily recorded on the Company’s
Mannville heavy oil property; as well as a $21.6 million gain primarily related to the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties; offset by
related restructuring costs of $5.6 million.

2016 STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Perpetual’s top four strategic priorities for 2016 included:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Reduce debt and restore cash flow;
Grow value and scope of Greater Edson liquids-rich gas;
Maximize value potential of Eastern Alberta assets; and
Advance high impact opportunities.

Significant progress was made to advance the Company’s strategic priorities as outlined below.

R educe debt and restore cash flow
•

In January 2016, Perpetual closed a fully backstopped rights offering and issued 665.4 million common shares (33.3 million common
shares post-consolidation) of the Company for gross proceeds of $25 million, including 427.4 million (21.4 million post-consolidation)
issued to entities controlled by the Chairman of Perpetual’s Board of Directors for proceeds of $16.1 million. On March 24, 2016
shareholders of the Corporation approved the consolidation of outstanding common shares of the Company on the basis of 20 common
shares to one common share.

•

In April 2016, Perpetual announced the Security Swap to give holders of senior notes an opportunity to exchange their senior notes for
TOU shares owned by Perpetual on the basis of 21 TOU shares for each $1,000 principal amount of the 8.75% senior notes due March
15, 2018 (the "2018 Senior Notes") and 20 TOU shares for each $1,000 principal amount of the 8.75% senior notes due July 23, 2019
(the "2019 Senior Notes"). Between the periods of April 27, 2016 and May 25, 2016, $214.4 million face value of senior notes were
swapped, including $114.0 million of outstanding 2018 Senior Notes and $100.4 million of outstanding 2019 Senior Notes through the
exchange of 4.4 million TOU shares with a fair market value of $130.5 million ($29.64 per share) and a cash payment of $3.9 million for
accrued interest. All senior notes tendered to the Security Swap were exchanged for TOU shares. Perpetual recorded a gain on the
Security Swap of $81.3 million. At year end 2016, Perpetual had $60.6 million face value of senior notes remaining, consisting of $36.0
million 2018 Senior Notes and $24.6 million 2019 Senior Notes. Annual interest savings associated with the $214.4 million of senior notes
cancelled is $18.8 million.

•

To facilitate the execution of the Security Swap, during the second quarter Perpetual entered into a reduced TOU share margin loan with
more favorable terms including a lower interest rate, higher loan to value ratio and extended maturity to April 30, 2017. Proceeds from
the new TOU share margin loan of $10.6 million, together with available cash on hand, was utilized to repay the previous $42 million
margin loan, allowing the release of TOU shares which were used for the Security Swap. Collateral for the new TOU share margin loan
was provided by a reduced securities pledge of 0.8 million TOU shares. In November 2016, Perpetual further enhanced its TOU share
margin loan, increasing the loan amount to $16.8 million, embedding a put option to secure a floor price of $27.38 per TOU share for a
reduced 0.65 million TOU shares pledged as security, and further extending the maturity to November 2017.

•

To enhance the cash on hand to maximize the retirement of senior notes through the Security Swap, the Company disposed of its
remaining 30 percent interest in the Warwick gas storage facility as well as 9,207 net acres of surrounding buffer lands and associated
wells and infrastructure with net production of 470 Mcf/d. The transaction involved the sale of Perpetual’s 30 partnership interest in
Warwick Gas Storage LP, including its share of $8.3 million of debt net of working capital held by the partnership. In addition, Perpetual
received a net dividend of $0.5 million at closing for effective total value of approximately $23 million.

•

In 2016, the Company sold 250,000 TOU shares at an average price of $29.45 per share for proceeds of $7.4 million. Accounting for the
Security Swap, the balance of TOU shares outstanding at year end 2016 was 1.85 million with a market value of $66.3 million
($35.91/share).

•

Other asset dispositions during the year generated a net $6.5 million, including the sale of certain oil sands leases with a retained gross
overriding royalty, non-core undeveloped land, 25 percent interest in certain seismic, idle production equipment and the disposition of
100 percent of the shares in Perpetual Energy Operating Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary which held the Shallow Gas Properties and
included $128.0 million in decommissioning obligations which were transferred with the properties disposed.
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•

At December 31, 2016, the Company has TOU share margin loans with two lenders both of which have TOU shares pledged as collateral
and TOU put options purchased from the lender have been embedded (“TOU share put option margin loans”). The TOU share put option
margin loans bear interest based on fixed interest rates, plus the cost of purchasing the embedded TOU put option, as applicable. At
December 31, 2016, $23.2 million of the TOU share put option margin loans are scheduled to mature in March 2017 and $16.8 million
mature in November 2017. For the March 2017 maturity, 0.84 million TOU shares have been pledged as collateral with a put option floor
price of $27.72 per share.

•

In January 2017, the Company sold 180,000 TOU shares for net cash proceeds of $5.7 million which was applied as a reduction to the
TOU share put option margin loan set to expire in March 2017. The remaining balance was extended to August 1, 2017 subject to a
maximum payment of $18.9 million at maturity. The number of shares pledged as collateral was increased to 0.9 million with the floor
price being reset to $21.14 per share.

•

In March 2017, the Company’s reserve based credit facility was amended and restated providing for an increase of $14 million to restore
the total borrowing capacity to $20.0 million and extend the maturity to October 31, 2017. The borrowing base will be subject to
redetermination by the lender prior to May 31, 2017.

•

During the year, hedging gains of $7.7 million were crystallized from future natural gas contracts.

•

At year end 2016, Perpetual had natural gas commodity price contracts in place to provide downside protection on an estimated 55
percent of forecast natural gas production for 2017 at an estimated price of $3.19/GJ. Oil sales collar arrangements were also in place
for 2017 with a floor price at WTI of USD$50.00/bbl providing downside protection on close to 50 percent of forecast oil and liquids
production.

•

Subsequent to December 31, 2016, Perpetual closed out several transactions with one counterparty including 30,000 GJ/d of future
natural gas basis contracts, a 250 bbl/d WTI costless collar for 2017, and a foreign exchange currency option contract that was due to
expire in March 2018, at a net cost of $0.3 million.

•

The disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties involved nominal proceeds at closing, however, through gas marketing arrangements
related to the transaction, Perpetual retains essentially full natural gas price upside exposure on the forecast base production from the
Shallow Gas Properties of 33,611 GJ/d to the extent average monthly AECO natural gas prices exceed $2.81/GJ through August 2018,
with no operating exposure or future capital spending commitments. During the same term, arrangements were made to provide the
purchaser a floor price of $2.58/GJ. The positive impacts to future adjusted funds flow are far reaching as many of these mature legacy
assets had negative operating netbacks for the past several years, largely due to high fixed operating costs which included extremely
high municipal taxes and high G&A costs related to the large number of low productivity wells and related leases.

•

Perpetual’s focus on debt reduction resulted in a decrease in total net debt of $165.5 million (80 percent) to $38.1 million at year end
2016, including the mark to market value of the TOU share investment at year end 2016.

•

Total liabilities on the balance sheet were reduced by 67 percent ($377.6 million) year-over-year to $178.7 million. The most significant
reductions were related to the $125.5 million decrease in decommissioning obligations, the cancellation of $214.4 million principal
aggregate amount of senior notes, and a $20.1 million reduction in TOU share margin loans outstanding at the end of the year. These
were partially offset by the recognition of a provision for restructuring costs of $4.2 million related to downsizing after closing the
Shallow Gas Property disposition.

•

Subsequent to the end of 2016, on January 23, 2017, Perpetual exchanged $17.4 million aggregate principal amount of its existing
senior notes maturing in 2018 and 2019 for new 8.75% senior notes having an extended maturity date of January 23, 2022 (the “2022
Senior Notes”).

•

On March 14, 2017, the Company closed a $45 million second lien senior secured term loan (the “Second Lien Facility”) with Alberta
Investment Management Corporation (“AIMCo”) bearing annual interest at 8.1 percent and maturing March 14, 2021. The initial draw on
the Second Lien Facility was $35 million with the remaining $10 million to be drawn prior to November 30, 2017. In addition, for no
additional consideration, 5.4 million warrants were issued which entitle the holder to acquire common shares on a one for one basis for a
period of up to three years, at an exercise price of $2.34 per share (the “Warrants”).

•

In a related transaction, the Company issued equity units (“Equity Units”), comprised of 5.1 million Common Shares and 1.1 million
Warrants, at a price of $1.75 per Equity Unit for gross proceeds of $9 million (50% AIMCo and 50% Perpetual insiders and other existing
shareholders).

•

Following closing of the second lien and equity financing transactions, on March 14, 2017, the Company issued of a notice for the early
redemption of all of the $27.6 million aggregate outstanding principal amount of its 8.75% senior notes maturing March 15, 2018,
effective April 17, 2017. The redemption amount payable will be either: CDN $1,000 for each $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior
Notes; or at the election of an eligible holder and subject to the limitations described in the notice, $1,000 principal amount of 2022
Senior Notes for each $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes. Noteholders are required to make their election by April 11, 2017.

•

For the first three quarters of 2016, the Company deferred material capital spending in light of depressed commodity prices, drilling just
one (1.0 net) well at East Edson. Perpetual’s focus through the final quarter of 2016 and continuing into 2017 shifted to increasing
capital investment to restore production and grow cash flow from operating activities. Based on the total capital spending plan in 2017 of
$67 million, Perpetual expects to exit 2017 at a production rate of 13,000 to 13,500 boe/d in December 2017, with full year 2017
production averaging between 10,750 to 11,000 boe/d (85 percent natural gas). This represents growth in average daily production from
fourth quarter 2016 to full year 2017 of close to 30 percent and an increase in exit rate based on average December production of
approximately 60 percent year-over-year. The resultant forecast growth in production is expected to positively impact adjusted funds
flow.
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•

Based on current operating and financing assumptions, commodity price hedges in place and the current forward market for oil and
natural gas prices, Perpetual forecasts 2017 adjusted funds flow of approximately $40 million ($0.68 per share).

•

Incorporating the current market value of 1.67 million TOU shares held of $28.95 per share, year end 2017 total net debt of
approximately $80 million is forecast, with a corresponding debt to trailing twelve months adjusted funds flow ratio of approximately 2.0.

Grow value and scope of Greater Edson liquids-rich gas
•

Close to 75% of total exploration and development spending was concentrated on liquids-rich gas projects at East Edson, and included
the drilling of two (2.0 net) wells, for $10.5 million.

•

First quarter 2016 expenditures included carry-in facilities spending from 2015 and the drilling of one (1.0 net) well, with follow on
completion activities deferred until late in the third quarter pending improved commodity prices. The well was brought on stream in midOctober and results were as expected, closely aligned with the East Edson Wilrich type curve.

•

Beginning in early December, a single rig drilling program commenced at East Edson. Prior to year end 2016, the Company rig released
one well (1.0 net) and spud a second on a two well pad at East Edson, both targeting the Wilrich formation. Completion and testing
operations for the one Edson well drilled in the fourth quarter were executed during the first quarter of 2017 and production has
commenced after tie in to the East Edson plant infrastructure.

•

Perpetual’s focus on reducing costs and maximizing efficiencies in operations has resulted in a sustainable cost structure for the
Company’s East Edson assets. Operating costs at East Edson averaged $2.77/boe during 2016 compared to $3.74/boe in 2015.

•

East Edson represented 93 percent of total proved and probable reserves at year end 2016 (2015 – 73 percent). Despite bringing only
one new well online in 2016 and production of close to 2.7 MMboe, proved and probable reserves at East Edson were virtually flat at
56.8 MMboe. Positive technical revisions were related to stronger performance from producing wells as well as upward adjustments to
both initial productivity and the production decline profile in the type curve to match historical well performance. This increase in type
curve resulted in fewer wells required to fill the Company’s existing infrastructure and meet firm transportation commitments in the
Edson area, largely driving the reduction in future development capital within McDaniel’s prescribed nine-year development plan. As a
result, 8.5 net undeveloped wells at East Edson were shifted from the reserve report to the Company’s prospect inventory.

•

The value of the Company’s proved and probable reserves at East Edson, recorded at year end 2016, increased 17 percent over 2015,
driven primarily by lower estimated future development capital. Reduced future development costs (“FDC”) was related to modest 2016
spending as well as revised future costs to reflect reduced labor costs and improved drilling efficiencies due to changes to well design
and drilling programs. As well, increased productivity and per well reserves attributed to future drilling in the Wilrich formation at East
Edson has reduced the total number of locations in the total proved plus probable development plan which encapsulates nine years to
73.7 net undeveloped locations (2015 – 82.2 net locations). These locations previously recognized in the McDaniel reserve report at year
end 2015 remain technically and economically viable and have been mechanically transferred from booked reserves to Perpetual’s
prospect inventory. East Edson projects are forecast by McDaniel to generate annual operating cash flow in excess of the annual FDC,
making the projects self-funding.

•

In 2017, Perpetual will focus its capital spending on its core operating areas, with spending at East Edson estimated at $55 million,
representing close to 85 percent of total forecast 2017 exploration and development expenditures. Activity in the first quarter will include
frac and tie-in operations on the East Edson well drilled in the fourth quarter of 2016 and drilling of five additional Wilrich horizontal
wells. A minimum of four of the six new drills are forecast to be completed, tied in and on production prior to spring break up, with the
timing of the complete and frac operations on the additional two drills dependent on surface access conditions. The Company plans to
recommence its one rig drilling program after break up to continue to grow production at East Edson, with the drilling of up to an
additional eight wells. The one rig drilling program in East Edson is expected to re-establish throughput using Company-owned
infrastructure approaching the capacity of 60 to 65 MMcf/d plus associated liquids by year end 2017.

M ax im ize value potential of Eastern Alberta assets
•

On October 1, 2016, Perpetual completed the strategic disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties along with their associated
decommissioning obligations. The Shallow Gas Properties included approximately 35.5 MMcfe/d of production and 82.1 Bcfe of proved
plus probable working interest reserves, $128.0 million in discounted decommissioning obligations and 353,777 net acres of undeveloped
lands. The positive impacts to future adjusted funds flow are far reaching as these mature legacy assets had been adjusted funds flow
negative for many years, largely due to high fixed operating costs which included extremely high municipal taxes and high general and
administrative costs related to the large number of low productivity wells and related leases.

•

A total of $3.4 million was spent in the Mannville and shallow gas areas during 2016, converting two wells to water injection to progress
the waterflood development as well as the drilling of two (2.0 net) exploratory wells in the fourth quarter. The Mannville wells were
targeting the Company’s regional shallow shale gas play and have resulted in one net gas well and one well which encountered drilling
problems prior to reaching its targeted depth and was successfully re-drilled in the first quarter of 2017. Both of the exploratory shallow
shale gas wells are currently undergoing completion operations.

•

Drilling operations at Mannville continued to be deferred through the first three quarters of 2016 to preserve value. Instead, the
Company focused on waterflood activities to arrest production declines, increase heavy oil recoveries and improve netbacks. Positive
waterflood response has been observed in several heavy oil pools where producing gas oil ratios are declining and oil production rates
are stabilizing and in some cases inclining.
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•

Heavy oil production at Mannville of 424 Mboe was offset by upward technical revisions to the proved reserves related to the positive
impact of waterflood implementation during 2016. While Mannville heavy oil reserves account for just five percent of Perpetual’s total
proved and probable reserves, this core area accounts for 17 percent of Perpetual’s total proved developed producing reserves and 14
percent of total proved and probable developed producing reserves.

•

Production and operating expenses associated with the Company’s shallow gas assets decreased 48 percent to $6.0 million ($9.08/boe)
in 2016 compared to $11.5 million ($14.44/boe) for 2015, reflecting the Company’s diligent focus on reducing costs and maximizing
efficiencies in operations, including the re-deployment of operations personnel to accelerate progress and drive efficiencies on
abandonment and reclamation projects. While the majority of these cost savings were associated with the Shallow Gas Properties that
were subsequently disposed early in the fourth quarter, the remaining shallow gas assets in Mannville and Panny will continue to benefit
from the improved operating practices implemented.

•

Despite material decreases in many categories of discretionary operational spending, municipal property taxes and other annual fees
continued to represent a significant portion of fixed operating costs. The calculation of property taxes for machinery and equipment,
pipelines and wells is based on a prescribed formula methodology which results in a tax assessment base that is dramatically
misrepresentative of the actual property value for the Company’s mature shallow gas assets. As a result, property taxes in eastern
Alberta completely eliminated positive operating netbacks on most of the Company’s shallow gas properties.

•

The Company spent $3.8 million on abandonment and reclamation projects, primarily on abandonment and reclamation projects to reduce
future costs associated with non-producing shallow gas wells and pipelines in eastern Alberta as part of the Company’s shallow gas
operating cost reduction program. The majority of decommissioning expenditures relate to internal labor and equipment costs incurred during
the first nine months of 2016 as the Company continued its program to redeploy operational personnel and internal resources to accelerate
progress and drive efficiencies on abandonment and reclamation projects.

•

The Company plans to continue its momentum reducing asset retirement obligations related to its mature shallow gas assets into 2017.
To this end, activities are underway to spend up to $1.0 million to recomplete wells in uphole zones. Up to an additional $4.0 million is
budgeted to be spent on abandonment and reclamation work focused in the Mannville and Panny area.

•

A one-rig drilling program commenced in late December, targeting the drilling of five heavy oil wells in the Mannville area which are
designed to grow oil production and further refine future drilling locations for the second half of 2017.

•

Technical work continued on the extensive shallow shale gas resource play in the Colorado and Viking formations in eastern Alberta. The
Company retained material exposure to this play in the Mannville area, with an internally estimated 585 Bcf of potentially recoverable
resource over 150 net sections. Two horizontal wells were drilled to begin to evaluate the economic potential of Viking and Colorado
formations were drilled in the winter of 2016/17. Completion and testing operations are ongoing.

Advance high im pact opportunities
•

Perpetual continued to advance phase 1 of its low pressure electro-thermally assisted drive ("LEAD") process pilot project targeting
bitumen recovery from the Bluesky formation at Panny. First production from the single horizontal well in the cyclic heat stimulation
("CHS") test configuration was established on flow back in the first quarter of 2016 following a successful first heating phase of the pilot
which commenced in September 2015. Cycle two commenced production in late June after an abbreviated second heating cycle. Results
from both cycles exceeded expectations, with cumulative oil recovery surpassing forecasts. In late September, cycle three commenced
with solvent injection combined with heating and a fourth cycle is currently ongoing. The CHS test thus far is yielding valuable insights
regarding reservoir performance, the functionality of the electrical heating cable and other operational considerations. High quality data
continues to be gathered for refinement of a potential commercial development plan and economic model.

•

A downhole pump assembly was installed in the Company’s non-operated Duvernay volatile oil evaluation well at Waskahigan during the
first quarter of 2016 and operations stabilized during 2016 with availability of natural gas takeaway capacity. Perpetual continues to
monitor production and the extensive competitor activity in the high condensate and volatile oil windows for the play to understand the
long term production capability and flow characteristics of the Duvernay formation on this acreage.

•

Over the past two years, Perpetual has been accumulating a material land position in a new exploration area in the Alberta deep basin
through acquisitions and Crown land sales. At year end 2016, Perpetual had an interest in 41,760 gross acres (22,949 net) of primary
undeveloped land in the Columbia area with a partner. Perpetual has since purchased the partner‘s working interest and increased
ownership through additional Crown land sales during the first quarter of 2017 to a total of 38,564 net acres of undeveloped lands.
These lands are prospective in multiple horizons and provide a new potential growth area for the Corporation.
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2016 RESERVE HIGHLIGHTS
•

Total proved and probable reserves were 61.3 MMboe at December 31, 2016, down 16.5 MMboe from year end 2015. The Shallow Gas
Disposition of 14.1 MMboe accounted for 85 percent of the reduction, while production of 5.1 MMboe was partially offset by positive
additions of 2.7 MMboe. Adjusting for production and reserves related to the strategic Shallow Gas Disposition, total proved and probable
reserves were effectively flat year-over-year.

•

While proved and probable reserves were down 21 percent, the net present value discounted at ten percent (“NPV10”) of the proved and
probable reserves increased by 12 percent at year end 2016 to $380.7 million, highlighting the limited reserve value associated with the
disposed Shallow Gas Properties, as well as, increased value in the Company’s core assets at East Edson and Mannville, despite lower
forecast commodity prices. The increase in value of the proved and probable reserves was driven by strong well performance in
Perpetual’s core retained assets as well as a 20 percent reduction FDC.

•

On a commodity basis, NGLs represent 11 percent of Perpetual’s total proved and probable reserves (10 percent of proved reserves) at
December 31, 2016.

•

Positive technical proved reserve revisions in both East Edson and Mannville Heavy Oil areas nearly offset total Company annual
production of 5.1 MMboe, highlighting strong operational performance from the Company’s diversifying growth assets.

•

Proved reserves of 35.1 MMboe at year end 2016 were down from 44.4 MMboe at year end 2015, reflecting production of 5.1 MMboe
and the transformative disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties which included 8.5 MMboe of proved reserves. While proved reserves
were down 21 percent, the NPV10 of the proved reserves increased by 64 percent at year end 2016 to $210.9 million, highlighting the
shareholder value created through the Shallow Gas Disposition as well as increased value in the Company’s core assets at Edson and
Mannville, despite lower forecast commodity prices.

•

Perpetual’s net asset value discounted at ten percent at year end 2016 is estimated at $394.8 million ($7.39 per share), up 70 percent
from year end 2015, despite lower future commodity price forecasts.

Reserves Summary
Working interest reserves included herein refer to working interest reserves before royalty deductions. Reserves information is based on an
independent reserves evaluation report prepared by McDaniel with an effective date of December 31, 2016 (the “McDaniel Report”), and has
been prepared in accordance with National Instrument 51-101 (“NI 51-101”) using McDaniel’s forecast prices and costs. Perpetual’s reserves
at December 31, 2016 are summarized below.
Working Interest Reserves at December 31, 2016(1)
Light and
Medium
Crude Oil
(M bbl )
26
11
37
20
(11)
9
46

Proved Producing
Proved Non-Producing
Proved Undeveloped
Total Proved
Probable Producing
Probable Non-Producing
Probable Undeveloped
Total Probable
Total Proved and Probable
(1)

Heavy
Oil
(M bbl )
1,218
120
335
1,672
472
88
272
832
2,504

Conventional
Natural Gas
(M M cf )
37,555
2,122
146,778
186,455
31,909
5,810
102,573
140,292
326,747

Natural Gas
Liquids
(M bbl )
486
23
1,802
2,311
449
77
1,437
1,963
4,274

Oil
Equivalent
(M boe )
7,989
496
26,611
35,096
6,259
1,134
18,793
26,186
61,283

May not add due to rounding.

Future Development Capital(1)

($ millions)
Eastern Alberta Shallow Gas
Mannville Heavy Oil
Greater Edson Wilrich
Total
(1)

2017
0.2
1.0
41.7
42.9

2018
0.1
2.4
39.8
42.3

2019
1.0
2.3
38.3
41.5

2020
34.4
34.4

2021
34.8
34.8

Remainder
171.7
171.7

Total
1.3
5.7
360.7
367.6

May not add due to rounding

McDaniel estimates the FDC required to convert proved and probable non-producing and undeveloped reserves to proved producing reserves,
to be $367.6 million at December 31, 2016. Estimated FDC decreased by $91.0 million, down from $458.7 million at year end 2015. On a
proved and probable basis, FDC decreased by $7.9 million as a result of dispositions and a further $83.1 million related to the future
development of reserves at East Edson and in the Mannville Heavy Oil area.
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NET PRESENT VALUE OF RESERVES SUMMARY
Perpetual’s oil, natural gas and NGL reserves were evaluated by McDaniel using McDaniel’s product price forecasts effective January 1, 2017
prior to provision for financial oil and natural gas price hedges, income taxes, interest, debt service charges and general and administrative
expenses. The following table summarizes the NPV of funds flows from recognized reserves at January 1, 2017, assuming various discount
rates. It should not be assumed that the discounted future net funds flows estimated by McDaniel represent the fair market value of the
potential future production revenue of the company.
NPV of Reserves, before income tax(1)(2)
Discounted at

($ millions, except as noted)
Proved Producing
Proved Non-Producing
Proved Undeveloped
Total Proved
Probable Producing
Probable Non-Producing
Probable Undeveloped
Total Probable
Total Proved and Probable
(1)
(2)

Undiscounted
77.6
5.0
278.2
360.7
39.6
13.2
398.3
451.1
811.8

5%
75.4
4.1
191.2
270.7
32.3
7.4
225.9
265.6
536.3

8%
73.4
3.6
155.0
232.0
28.4
5.7
167.1
201.2
433.2

10%
71.9
3.4
135.7
210.9
26.1
4.9
138.8
169.8
380.7

15%
68.1
2.9
99.1
170.0
21.6
3.5
91.5
116.6
286.6

20%
64.5
2.5
74.0
140.9
18.2
2.7
64.0
85.0
225.9

Unit Value
Discounted at
10%/Year
($/ boe )
9.00
6.81
5.10
6.01
4.18
4.29
7.39
6.48
6.21

January 1, 2017 McDaniel Forecast Prices and Costs.
May not add due to rounding.

McDaniel’s estimate of NPV10 of Perpetual’s total proved and probable reserves at year end 2016 was $380.7 million, up 12 percent from
$338.6 million at year end 2015. The increase in NPV10 reflected strong recycle ratios at East Edson driven by better well performance
combined with lower FDC in 2016 which offset the impact of lower forecast commodity prices. At a ten percent discount factor, total proved
reserves account for 55 percent (2015 – 38 percent) of the proved and probable net present value. Proved and probable producing reserves
represent 26 percent (2015 – 28 percent) of the total proved and probable value (discounted at ten percent).

FAIR MARKET VALUE OF UNDEVELOPED LAND
Perpetual’s independent third party estimate of the fair market value of its undeveloped acreage by region for purposes of the net asset value
calculation is based on past Crown land sale activity, adjusted for tenure and other considerations. In West Central Alberta, no undeveloped
land value was assigned where proved and/or probable undeveloped reserves have been booked.
Fair Market Value of Undeveloped Land
Net Acres
Eastern
West Central
Oil Sands
Totals

79,527
73,465
188,896
341,888

Value ($ m illions )
3.8
27.5
18.5
49.9

$/Acre
47.94
374.79
98.17
145.93

The fair market value of Perpetual’s undeveloped land at year end 2016, adjusted to remove the value of undeveloped lands with reserves
assigned in West Central Alberta, is estimated by an external land consultant at $49.9 million, a decrease of 40 percent from $83.0 million
relative to year end 2015. The reduction in undeveloped land includes the sale of 23,680 net acres of oil sands leases in 2016 for gross
proceeds of $6.2 million and retention of a one percent gross overriding royalty on the lands. The fair market value of undeveloped oil sands
land incorporates the absolute investment to date in the ongoing bitumen extraction pilot project at Panny.
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NET ASSET VALUE
The following net asset value table shows what is normally referred to as a “produce-out” NAV calculation under which the Corporation’s
reserves would be produced at forecast future prices and costs. The value is a snapshot in time and is based on various assumptions including
commodity prices and foreign exchange rates that vary over time. It should not be assumed that the NAV represents the fair market value of
Perpetual’s shares. The calculations below do not reflect the value of the Corporation’s prospect inventory to the extent that the prospects are
not recognized within the NI 51-101 compliant reserve assessment, except as they are valued through the estimate of the fair market value of
undeveloped land.
Pre-tax NAV at December 31, 2016(1)
($ millions, except as noted)
Total Proved and Probable Reserves(2)
TOU Shares(3)
Fair Market Value of Undeveloped Land(4)
Cash Net of Working Capital(1)
TOU Share Margin Loans(1)
Senior Notes
Hedge Book(5)

Undiscounted

5%

8%

10%

811.8
66.3

536.3
66.3

433.2
66.3

380.7
66.3

Discounted at
15%
286.6
66.3

49.9
(5.4)

49.9
(5.4)

49.9
(5.4)

49.9
(5.4)

49.9
(5.4)

(40.0)
(60.6)

(40.0)
(60.6)

(40.0)
(60.6)

(40.0)
(60.6)

(40.0)
(60.6)

3.9

3.9

3.9

3.9

3.9

$825.9

$550.4

$447.4

$394.8

$300.7

Shares Outstanding (million) – basic(6)

53.421

53.421

53.421

53.421

53.421

NAV per Share ($/Share)

15.46

10.31

8.37

7.39

5.63

NAV

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Financial information is per Perpetual’s 2016 audited consolidated financial statements.
Reserve values per McDaniel Report as at December 31, 2016.
TOU Share value based on 1.85 million shares at December 31, 2016 closing price ($35.91/share).
Independent third party estimate, excludes undeveloped land in West Central Alberta with reserves assigned.
Hedging adjustments as at December 31, 2016 relative to McDaniel price forecast.
Common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the consolidation of outstanding common shares on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share at March 24, 2016. All common shares are net of 260,000 shares held in trust.

The above evaluation includes future capital expenditure expectations required to bring undeveloped reserves recognized by McDaniel that
meet the criteria for booking under NI 51-101 on production. Costs inclusive in McDaniel’s reserve assessment align closely with the
Company’s estimate of total future asset retirement obligations, net of estimated salvage value of facilities and equipment, therefore no
additional future abandonment and reclamation adjustment is included. The fair market value of undeveloped land does not reflect the value
of the Company’s extensive prospect inventory which is anticipated to be converted into reserves and production over time through future
capital investment.

2017 OUTLOOK
Please refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis – 2017 Outlook” on page 14 of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS
THREE MONTHS
Ended December 31

(Cdn$ thousands except volume and per share amounts)

YEAR ENDED
December 31,

2016

2015

Change

2016

2015
142,437

(43%)

12,406

(158%)

Change

Financial
17,940

33,044

(46%)

81,403

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities

4,470

11,980

(63%)

(7,136)

Adjusted funds flow(1)

3,326

362

819%

920

2,004

(54%)

0.06

0.05

20%

0.02

0.27

93%

Oil and natural gas revenue

Per share(1)(2)
Net earnings (loss)
Per share(2)

20,379

(93,539)

122%

107,149

(89,274)

220%

0.39

(12.34)

103%

2.11

(11.89)

118%

361,405

603,450

(40%)

361,405

603,450

Net bank debt outstanding(1)

43,870

73,891

(38%)

43,870

73,891

Senior notes, at principal amount

60,573

275,000

(78%)

60,573

275,000

(78%)

(66,343)

(145,275)

(54%)

(66,343)

(145,275)

(54%)

38,100

203,616

(80%)

38,100

203,616

(80%)

7,044

806

774%

14,039

75,431

(81%)

25

25

–

541

910

(41%)

7,069

831

751%

14,580

76,341

(81%)

(93)

97%

23

1,526

(98%)

1,248

3

415%

(26,212)

(23,710)

(11%)

8,314

741

1002%

11,609

54,157

(79%)

End of period

53,421

19,067

180%

53,421

19,067

1810%

Weighted average

52,924

7,582

598%

50,733

7,507

576%

Total assets

Carrying value of marketable securities
Total net debt(1)

(40%)
(38%)

Net capital expenditures
Exploration and development(3)
Other
Capital expenditures

(3)

Geological and geophysical expenditures
Dispositions, net of acquisitions
Net capital expenditures
Common shares outstanding (thousands)

(5)

Operating
Average production
Natural gas (MMcf/d)(4)

40.3

105.1

(62%)

74.7

104.2

(28%)

1,403

2,144

(35%)

1,672

2,337

(28%)

8,118

19,661

(59%)

14,128

19,706

(28%)

Natural gas, before derivatives ($/Mcf)

3.31

2.74

21%

2.19

2.87

(24%)

Natural gas, including derivatives ($/Mcf)

2.41

2.92

(17%)

2.42

3.01

(20%)

Oil, before derivatives ($/bbl)

42.35

33.04

28%

34.93

41.27

(15%)

Oil, including derivatives ($/bbl)

38.95

39.81

(2%)

37.60

52.48

(28%)

NGL ($/bbl)

46.99

33.68

40%

35.45

33.72

5%

–
–

4/4.0

6/4.5

–

–

–

2/2.0

4/4.0
75/75

8/6.5
100/100

Oil and NGL (bbl/d)(4)
Total (boe/d)

(4)

Average prices

Drilling (wells drilled gross/net)
Gas

–

Observation/Service

–

–

3/3.0
66.7/66.7

–

Total
Success rate (%)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

3/3.0

Oil

–

These are non-GAAP measures. Please refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” below.
Based on weighted average basic common shares outstanding for the period.
Exploration and development costs include geological and geophysical expenditures.
Production amounts are based on the Corporation’s interest before royalty expense.
Common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the consolidation of outstanding common shares on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share at March 24, 2016. All common shares are net of shares held in trust.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The following is management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Perpetual Energy Inc.’s (“Perpetual”, the “Company” or the “Corporation”)
operating and financial results for the year ended December 31, 2016 as well as information and estimates concerning the Corporation’s
future outlook based on currently available information. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s audited
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. The Corporation’s consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") which require publicly
accountable enterprises to prepare their financial statements using International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Readers are referred
to the advisories for additional information regarding forecasts, assumptions and other forward-looking information contained in the “Forward
Looking Information and Statements” section of this MD&A. The date of this MD&A is March 14, 2017.
Certain financial measures referred to in this MD&A are not prescribed by IFRS. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for information regarding
the following non-GAAP financial measures used in this MD&A: “adjusted funds flow”, “operating netback”, “realized revenue”, “gas over
bitumen net of payments”, “adjusted working capital deficiency (surplus)”, “net debt”, “net bank debt” and “total capitalization”.
NATURE OF BUSINESS: Perpetual is an oil and natural gas exploration, production and marketing company headquartered in Calgary,
Alberta. Perpetual operates a diversified asset portfolio, including liquids-rich natural gas assets in the deep basin of west central Alberta,
heavy oil and shallow natural gas in eastern Alberta and undeveloped oil sands leases in northern Alberta. Additional information on
Perpetual, including the most recent filed Annual Information Form (“AIF”), can be accessed at www.sedar.com or from the Corporation’s
website at www.perpetualenergyinc.com.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Perpetual has completed the following financing transactions subsequent to December 31, 2016:
•
•
•

•
•
•

Partial repayment and refinancing of its existing Tourmaline Oil Corp. (“TOU”) share put option margin loan previously maturing in
March 2017, reducing the loan amount outstanding to $18.9 million, extending the maturity to August 1, 2017 and increasing the
number of shares pledged as collateral to 0.9 million TOU shares, with a new floor price on these shares of $21.14 per TOU share;
Exchange of $17.4 million aggregate principal amount of its existing senior notes maturing in 2018 and 2019 for new 8.75% senior
notes having an extended maturity date of January 23, 2022 (the “2022 Senior Notes”);
Establishment of a $45 million second lien senior secured term loan facility (the “Second Lien Facility”) bearing annual interest at
8.1 percent and maturing March 14, 2021. The initial draw on the Second Lien Facility was $35 million with the remaining $10
million to be drawn prior to November 30, 2017. In addition, for no additional consideration, 5.4 million warrants were issued which
entitle the holder to acquire common shares on a one for one basis for a period of up to three years, at an exercise price of $2.34
per share, equal to a 45 percent premium to the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares for the ten trading
days prior to the date of issue of the warrants on March 14, 2017;
Issuance of 5.1 million common shares and 1.1 million warrants to purchase common shares on the same terms and conditions as
above at $1.75 per Equity Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $9 million;
Extension of the Company’s current bank lending arrangements to October 31, 2017, while providing for a $14 million increase in
total borrowing capacity under the credit facility to $20 million; and
Issuance of a notice for the early redemption of all of the $27.6 million aggregate outstanding principal amount of its 8.75% senior
notes maturing March 15, 2018, effective April 17, 2017. The redemption amount payable will be either: CDN $1,000 for each
$1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes; or at the election of an eligible holder and subject to the limitations described in the
notice, $1,000 principal amount of 2022 Senior Notes for each $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes.

Collectively, these financing transactions significantly strengthen Perpetual’s liquidity and debt repayment profile and secure funding for the
Company’s 2017 and 2018 business plan.

FOURTH QUARTER FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS
On October 1, 2016, Perpetual completed the strategic disposition of a large percentage of its mature shallow gas properties in east central
and northeast Alberta, along with their associated decommissioning obligations (the “Shallow Gas Properties”). This disposition involved
nominal proceeds at closing, however, through gas marketing arrangements related to the transaction, Perpetual effectively retains full
natural gas price upside exposure on the forecast base production from the Shallow Gas Properties to the extent average monthly AECO
natural gas prices exceed $2.81/GJ through August 2018, with no operating exposure or future capital spending commitments. The Shallow
Gas Properties included approximately 35.5 MMcfe/d of production and 82.1 Bcfe of proved plus probable working interest reserves, $128.0
million in discounted decommissioning obligations and 353,777 net acres of undeveloped lands. The positive impacts to future adjusted funds
flow are far reaching as these mature legacy assets had been adjusted funds flow negative for many years, largely due to high fixed operating
costs which included extremely high municipal taxes and high general and administrative costs related to the large number of low productivity
wells and related leases.
Beginning in early December, drilling operations commenced at both Mannville and East Edson, with a single rig drilling program in each area.
Prior to year end 2016, the Company rig released one well (1.0 net) and spud a second on a two well pad at East Edson, both targeting the
Wilrich formation. At Mannville, two (2.0 net) exploratory wells were drilled in the fourth quarter. The Mannville wells were targeting the
Company’s regional shallow shale gas play and have resulted in one net gas well and one well which encountered drilling problems prior to
reaching its targeted depth and was successfully re-drilled in the first quarter of 2017. Both of the exploratory shallow shale gas wells are
currently undergoing completion operations. The fourth quarter 2016 capital program also included expenditures for high return conventional
shallow gas workovers and recompletions as well as waterflood operations in the Mannville area. Fourth quarter 2016 exploration and
development spending totaled $7.0 million.
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Net income of $20.4 million ($0.39/share) was recorded for the fourth quarter of 2016, including a non-cash gain of $0.7 million related to the
change in the fair value of the Company’s investment in Tourmaline Oil Corp. (“TOU”), a gain on disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties of
$19.2 million and $6.9 million related to a net impairment reversal driven by improved performance at Mannville.
Driven by the 87 percent decrease in costs, Perpetual recorded adjusted funds flow of $3.3 million ($4.45/boe) for the fourth quarter of 2016
compared to $0.4 million ($0.20/boe) in 2015, reflecting the improved cost structure resulting from strategic operational and financing
decisions throughout 2016.
Operating costs of $2.15/boe ($1.6 million) were 69 percent lower compared to $6.92/boe in the fourth quarter of 2015, driven by the
disposition of the high cost Shallow Gas Properties which focused Perpetual’s natural gas production base to the low cost East Edson property.
Operating costs in 2017 are anticipated to be $4.75 to $5.25/boe.
Cash interest costs of $1.5 million were down 81 percent compared to $8.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2015, largely as a result of the
$214.4 million reduction in the outstanding balance of senior notes in the second quarter of 2016. See “Security Swap” discussion included
below in the “2016 Financial Results – Overall Performance” section of this MD&A.
Fourth quarter production of 8,118 boe/d (79 percent East Edson) was 59 percent lower than 2015 (19,661 boe/d; 53 percent East Edson),
reflecting the full impact of lost volumes associated with the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties and natural declines resulting from the
Company’s decision to restrict capital spending during 2016 in response to low commodity prices.
Perpetual’s average natural gas price, including derivatives, for the fourth quarter of 2016 of $2.41/Mcf was 17 percent lower than $2.92/Mcf
in the fourth quarter of 2015 despite an increase in the average conversion ratio for Perpetual’s natural gas production to 1.16 GJ/Mcf from
1.13 GJ/Mcf in the 2015 period. Perpetual’s oil price, including derivatives, of $38.95/bbl in the fourth quarter was comparable to the 2015
period ($39.81/bbl). Average realized natural gas liquids (“NGL”) prices of $46.99/bbl were 40 percent higher than the prior year
($33.68/bbl), reflecting the slightly higher percentage of condensate in the Company’s NGL blend as well as slightly higher benchmark prices
for all NGL components.

2016 FINANCIAL RESULTS
OVERALL PERFORMANCE
Perpetual focused on four key strategic priorities in 2016:
•
•
•
•

Reduce debt and restore cash flow;
Grow value and scope of Greater Edson liquids-rich gas;
Maximize value potential of Eastern Alberta assets; and
Advance high impact opportunities.

In light of continuing depressed commodity prices, Perpetual prioritized the strengthening of its balance sheet and liquidity management
throughout 2016. This was achieved through a combination of debt reduction, restricted spending, financial recapitalization, cost reduction,
maximizing efficiencies in administration and operations and focusing of the Company’s portfolio of assets. A diligent focus on reductions in all
areas of spending, including operating, financing and administrative costs, will continue throughout 2017 in combination with production
growth in order to establish a sustainable cost structure in this low commodity price environment.
In January 2016, Perpetual closed a fully backstopped rights offering and issued 33.3 million common shares for gross proceeds of $25
million, including 21.4 million issued to entities controlled by the Chairman of Perpetual’s Board of Directors for proceeds of $16.1 million.
On March 24, 2016, shareholders of the Corporation approved the consolidation of outstanding common shares of the Company on the basis
of 20 common shares to one common share.
In April 2016, Perpetual announced a security swap proposal (the “Security Swap”) to give holders of senior notes an opportunity to exchange
their senior notes for TOU shares owned by Perpetual on the basis of 21 TOU shares for each $1,000 principal amount of the 8.75% senior
notes due March 15, 2018 (the "2018 Senior Notes") and 20 TOU shares for each $1,000 principal amount of the 8.75% senior notes due July
23, 2019 (the "2019 Senior Notes"). Between the periods of April 27, 2016 and May 25, 2016, $214.4 million face value of senior notes were
swapped, including $114.0 million of outstanding 2018 Senior Notes and $100.4 million of outstanding 2019 Senior Notes through the
exchange of 4.4 million TOU shares with a fair market value of $130.5 million ($29.64 per share) and a cash payment of $3.9 million for
accrued interest. All senior notes tendered to the Security Swap were exchanged for TOU shares. Perpetual recorded a gain on the Security
Swap of $81.3 million.
On October 1, 2016, Perpetual closed the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties. This disposition involved nominal proceeds at closing,
however, through gas marketing arrangements related to the transaction, Perpetual retains essentially full natural gas price upside exposure
on the forecast base production from the Shallow Gas Properties should AECO natural gas prices exceed $2.81/GJ through August 2018, with
no operating exposure or future capital spending commitments. During the same term, arrangements were made to provide the purchaser a
floor price of $2.58/GJ.
Declining commodity prices throughout 2016 led to a substantial reduction in oil and natural gas revenues compared to the prior year. This
resulted in 2016 cash flow used in operations of $7.1 million compared to cash flow from operations of $12.4 million in 2015.
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For the first three quarters of 2016, the Company deferred material capital spending in light of depressed commodity prices, drilling just one
(1.0 net) well at East Edson. Minor capital spending was also directed to waterflood optimization activities at Mannville while strategic
spending for abandonment and reclamation activities in eastern Alberta was ramped up as part of the Company’s asset retirement obligation
reduction initiative and shallow gas operating cost reduction program. Perpetual also continued to monitor performance of its bitumen
extraction cyclic heat stimulation pilot project at Panny. Perpetual’s focus through the final quarter of 2016 and continuing into 2017 shifted to
increasing capital investment to restore production and grow cash flow from operating activities.
2017 OUTLOOK
Success in advancing the Company’s strategic priorities has established a foundation for strong growth in production and adjusted funds flow
in 2017. Perpetual’s top four strategic priorities for 2017 include:
•
•
•
•

Grow the value of Greater Edson liquids-rich gas;
Optimize the value potential of Eastern Alberta assets;
Advance high impact opportunities; and
Optimize the balance sheet for growth.

Closing of the suite of financing transactions during the first quarter of 2017 has established sufficient liquidity to execute the planned growthoriented capital program and manage debt maturities into 2018 at current commodity prices. The Company will continue its diligent focus on
increasing netbacks through reductions in all areas of spending, including operating, financing and administrative costs, to confirm the
sustainable cost structure established through strategic decisions over the past two years.
In 2017, Perpetual will focus its capital spending on its core operating areas, with spending at East Edson, representing close to 85 percent of
total forecast exploration and development expenditures. In the first quarter of 2017, the Company will spend close to $26 million. Activity will
include frac and tie-in operations on the East Edson well drilled in the fourth quarter of 2016 and drilling of five additional Wilrich horizontal
wells. A minimum of four of the six new drills are forecast to be completed, tied in and on production prior to spring break up, with the timing
of the complete and frac operations on the additional two drills dependent on surface access conditions. The Company plans to recommence
its one rig drilling program after break up to continue to grow production at East Edson, with the drilling of up to an additional eight wells.
The one rig drilling program in East Edson is expected to re-establish throughput using Company-owned infrastructure approaching the
capacity of 60 to 65 MMcf/d plus associated liquids by year end 2017.
The Company is also finishing the execution of it first quarter drilling program at Mannville. Four horizontal heavy oil wells, three of which are
exploratory, have been successfully drilled, completed, equipped and tied in with results pending as all four wells are currently cleaning up on
initial flow back. Pending successful drilling results and commodity prices, up to four additional heavy oil wells are planned for the second half
of 2017 in Mannville. Two horizontal wells to evaluate shallow shale gas plays in the Viking and Colorado formations have been drilled, taking
advantage of synergies with the heavy oil drilling program. Completion and testing operations are currently ongoing. The first quarter 2017
capital program also includes expenditures for high return conventional shallow gas workovers and recompletions as well as waterflood
operations in the Mannville area.
The table below summarizes expected capital spending and drilling activities for the first and second half of 2017.
Exploration and development
capital expenditures
East Edson liquids-rich gas
Mannville heavy oil
Eastern shallow gas and other
Total capital spending(1)
(1)

H1 2017
($ m illions )
25
4
3

# of wells
(gross/net)
5/5.0
4/3.3
1/1.0

H2 2017
($ m illions )

Total
($ m illions )

30
4
1

# of wells
(gross/net)
8/8.0
4/4.0
–

55
8
4

# of wells
(gross/net)
13/13.0
8/7.3
1/1.0

32

9/8.3

35

12/12.0

67

22/21.3

Excludes budgeted abandonment and reclamation spending of up to $4 million in 2017.

Capital spending during 2017 will be funded through a combination of adjusted funds flow and proceeds from the financing transactions
closed on March 14, 2017.
Based on the total capital spending plan in 2017 of $67 million, Perpetual expects to exit 2017 at a production rate of 13,000 to 13,500 boe/d
in December 2017, with full year 2017 production averaging between 10,750 to 11,000 boe/d (85 percent natural gas). This represents
growth in average daily production from fourth quarter 2016 to full year 2017 of close to 30 percent and an increase in exit rate based on
average December production of approximately 60 percent year-over-year.
In order to protect a base level of adjusted funds flow, Perpetual has commodity price contracts in place in 2017 on an estimated 45 percent
of forecast production for the remainder of the year. These include natural gas contracts at AECO hub from April to December 2017 on close
to 27,500 GJ/d at an estimated price of $3.15/GJ; and oil sales arrangements on 750 bbl/d protecting a WTI floor price of $USD50.00/bbl.
Based on these assumptions and the current forward market for oil and natural gas prices, Perpetual forecasts 2017 adjusted funds flow of
approximately $40 million ($0.68 per share). Incorporating the current market value of 1.67 million TOU shares of $28.95 per share, the
Company estimates year end 2017 total net debt of approximately $80 million, with a corresponding debt to trailing twelve months adjusted
funds flow ratio of approximately 2.0.
Incorporating the assumptions outlined above, the following table shows Perpetual’s estimated 2017 forecast adjusted funds flow using
various commodity price sensitivities for the full year of 2017.
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Projected 2017 adjusted funds flow(2)

($ millions)

2017 WTI price
(US$/ bbl )(1)
$40.00
$45.00
$50.00
$55.00
$60.00
$65.00
(1)
(2)

2017 AECO gas price ($/ GJ)
$2.00
30.6
31.9
33.2
36.2
39.1
40.5

$2.50
34.4
35.7
37.0
40.0
42.9
44.4

$3.00
38.3
39.6
40.9
43.9
46.8
48.2

(1)

$3.50
42.1
43.4
44.7
47.7
50.6
52.1

$4.00
46.0
47.3
48.6
51.6
54.5
55.9

$4.50
49.8
51.1
52.4
55.5
58.3
59.8

The current settled and forward average AECO and WTI prices for calendar 2017 as of March 14, 2017 were $2.58 per GJ and US$49.98 per bbl,
respectively.
Adjusted funds flow is a non-GAAP measure. Please refer to "Non-GAAP Measures".

Capital expenditures
($ thousands)
Exploration and development
Other
Capital expenditures
Geological and geophysical costs(1)
Dispositions, net of acquisitions
Disposition of gas storage facility
Total
(1)

2016
14,039
541
14,580
23
(6,509)
(19,703)
(11,609)

2015
75,431
910
76,341
1,526
(23,710)
–
54,157

Geological and geophysical expenditures and dry hole costs are expensed directly in the Corporation’s statement of income (loss); they are considered by
Perpetual to be more closely related to investing activities than operating activities, and therefore are included with capital expenditures for the purposes of
this MD&A.

Perpetual’s exploration and development spending in 2016 totaled $14.0 million, 75 percent of which was concentrated on the West Central
Alberta deep basin assets. Capital expenditures included drilling four (4.0 net) wells, with two (2.0 net) natural gas wells at Edson and two
(2.0 net) horizontal wells at Mannville targeting natural gas, as well as two waterflood injector conversions and related infrastructure at
Mannville. Three of the four wells were drilled during the fourth quarter, with two having been completed in the first quarter of 2017. One
shallow gas well encountered uphole drilling problems before reaching total depth and was subsequently re-drilled in the first quarter of 2017.

Ex ploration and developm ent spending by area
($ thousands)
West Central
Eastern Alberta
Total

2016
10,538
3,501
14,039

2015
67,501
7,930
75,431

Perpetual continued to defer material spending in light of depressed commodity prices in 2016. The majority of Perpetual’s exploration and
development spending during 2016 was focused on liquids-rich natural gas development activities in West Central Alberta.
Spending on West Central liquids-rich gas projects for 2016 included $10.5 million for the drilling of two (2.0 net) natural gas wells in the
Company’s Edson area. Completion and testing operations for the one Edson well drilled in the fourth quarter were executed during the first
quarter of 2017 and production has commenced after tie in to the East Edson plant infrastructure.
A total of $3.4 million was also spent in the Mannville and shallow gas areas during 2016, converting two wells to water injection to progress
the waterflood development as well as the drilling of two (2.0 net) exploratory wells in the fourth quarter. The Mannville wells were targeting
the Company’s regional shallow shale gas play and have resulted in one net gas well and one well which encountered drilling problems prior
to reaching its targeted depth and was successfully re-drilled in the first quarter of 2017. Both of the exploratory shallow shale gas wells are
currently undergoing completion operations.
Perpetual continued to advance phase 1 of its strategic low pressure electro-thermally assisted drive ("LEAD") process pilot project targeting
bitumen recovery from the Bluesky formation at Panny. First production from the single horizontal well in the cyclic heat stimulation ("CHS")
test configuration was established on flow back in the first quarter of 2016 following a successful first heating phase of the pilot which
commenced in September 2015. Cycle two commenced production in late June after an abbreviated second heating cycle. Results from both
cycles exceeded expectations, with cumulative oil recovery surpassing forecasts. In late September, cycle three commenced with solvent
injection combined with heating and a fourth cycle is currently ongoing. The CHS test thus far is yielding valuable insights regarding reservoir
performance, the functionality of the electrical heating cable and other operational considerations. High quality data continues to be gathered
for refinement of a potential commercial development plan and economic model.
Drilling operations continued into the first quarter of 2017 at Edson, with three additional liquids-rich gas wells drilled since year end and an
additional two wells expected to be drilled prior to the end of the first quarter. At Mannville, four horizontal heavy oil wells have been drilled,
completed and tied-in for production during the first quarter of 2017. Additionally, a shallow gas recompletion and well optimization program
has successfully increased shallow gas production from existing wells at both Mannville and Panny during the first quarter of 2017.
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Dispositions
Dispositions in 2016 included:
•
•
•

The sale of certain oil sands leases with a retained gross overriding royalty, non-core undeveloped land, 25 percent interest in
certain seismic, and idle production equipment;
The disposition of 100 percent of the shares in Perpetual Energy Operating Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary which held the
Shallow Gas Properties and included $128.0 million in decommissioning obligations which were transferred with the properties
disposed; and
The disposition of the Company’s gas storage facility investment for net proceeds of $19.7 million which included an additional
9,207 net acres of surrounding lands and associated wells and infrastructure with net production of 470 Mcf/d.

Ex penditures on decom m issioning obligations
During the year ended December 31, 2016, Perpetual spent $3.8 million on abandonment and reclamation projects. This spending was primarily
directed to projects in eastern Alberta as part of the Company’s shallow gas operating cost reduction program. The majority of decommissioning
expenditures relate to internal labor and equipment costs incurred during the first nine months of 2016 as the Company continued its program to
redeploy operational personnel and internal resources to accelerate progress and drive efficiencies on abandonment and reclamation projects.
Net income (loss)
Net income for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2016 was $20.4 million, compared to a net loss of $93.5 million in the prior year
period. Net income in the fourth quarter included a gain of $19.2 million from the sale of the Shallow Gas Properties, an impairment reversal
of $6.9 million (2015 Q4 - $23.7 million impairment charge) and an unrealized gain of $0.7 million on its TOU share investment (2015 Q4 $56.1 million unrealized loss). Excluding these items, the Company recorded a net loss in the fourth quarter of $6.4 million compared to a net
loss of $13.7 million in the prior year period, due to cost reductions and the disposal of the unprofitable Shallow Gas Properties in 2016.
Perpetual recorded net income of $107.1 million ($20.75 per boe) for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to a net loss of $89.3
million ($12.41 per boe) for 2015. The year-over-year improvement in net income was primarily the result of gains on the Security Swap
transaction and the unrealized gain on TOU share investment, partially offset by reduced gains on property dispositions in 2016 compared to
2015.
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from operating activities for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2016 was $4.7 million, down 61 percent from $12.0 million in
the prior year period, primarily due to a 59 percent decrease in average daily production. Lower costs in the current quarter were offset by
reduced levels of non-cash working capital compared to the prior year period.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, low commodity prices continued to have a dramatic impact on financial results with the Corporation
reporting cash flow from operating activities of negative $7.1 million, compared to positive $12.4 million in 2015. Year-over-year declines in
commodity prices led to a further reduction in cash flow from operating activities despite significant corporate cost-savings initiatives
throughout 2016. Through the Company’s diligent focus on controlling costs, operating expenses, cash general and administrative expenses
and cash finance expenses combined were 41 percent lower than 2015. Despite these significant cost reductions, the 41 percent drop in
realized revenue, restructuring cost payments resulting from the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties along with fluctuations in working
capital and decommissioning obligations, contributed to negative cash flow from operating activities in the current year.
Adjusted funds flow
Management uses adjusted funds flow and adjusted funds flow per share to analyze operating performance and borrowing capacity. Adjusted
funds flow is cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital, settlement of decommissioning obligations and
certain E&E costs, but after payments on the gas over bitumen royalty financing and payments on restructuring costs. Adjusted funds flow is
not intended to represent cash flow from operating activities, net earnings or other measures of financial performance calculated in
accordance with IFRS. The Corporation previously referred to adjusted funds flow as “funds flow”.
Below is a table which reconciles cash flow from operating activities to adjusted funds flow:
($ thousands, except per share amounts)
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities
Changes in non-cash working capital
Exploration and evaluation costs(1)
Payments on gas over bitumen royalty financing(2)
Payments on restructuring costs(3)
Expenditures on decommissioning obligations
Adjusted funds flow
Adjusted funds flow per share(4)
(1)

(2)

Three months ended December 31,
2016
2015
4,740
11,980
(2,539)
(13,094)
(3)
(93)
(726)
(826)
1,484
–
370
2,395
3,326
362
0.06
0.05

Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
(7,136)
12,406
4,910
(15,813)
23
1,526
(2,164)
(3,704)
1,484
–
3,803
7,589
920
2,004
0.02
0.27

The Corporation expenses exploratory dry hole costs, geological and geophysical costs, lease rentals on undeveloped properties and the cost of expired
leases in the period incurred. To make reported adjusted funds flow in this MD&A more comparable to industry practice, the Corporation reclassifies dry hole
costs in addition to geological and geophysical costs from operating to investing activities in the adjusted funds flow reconciliation.
These payments are indexed to gas over bitumen revenue and are recorded as a reduction to the Corporation’s gas over bitumen royalty financing obligation
in accordance with IFRS. To present gas over bitumen revenue net of these payments, the Corporation has reclassified these payments from financing to
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(3)
(4)

operating activities in the calculation of adjusted funds flow.
Restructuring cost payments include employee downsizing costs and surplus office lease obligations associated with the disposition of the Shallow Gas
Properties which the Company considers to not be related to cash flow from operating activities.
Based on basic weighted average shares outstanding for the period.

For the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2016, adjusted funds flow was $3.3 million, a $2.9 million increase over the prior year period, as
lower costs more than offset the impact of lower production in the current quarter compared to the prior year period.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, adjusted funds flow was $0.9 million, compared to $2.0 million in 2015 for the same reasons as
discussed under cash flow from operating activities adjusted for the impact of restructuring cost payments and fluctuations in working capital
and decommissioning obligations in order to reflect management’s view of the operating performance of the business.
Reconciliation to net income

Realized revenue(1)
Royalties(2)
Production and operating expenses
Transportation costs
Operating netback(1)
Gas over bitumen revenue net of payments
Exploration and evaluation – lease rentals (3)
Cash G&A
Interest(3)(4)
Dividends from gas storage investment
Adjusted funds flow(1)
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives
Payments on gas over bitumen royalty financing
Exploration and evaluation(5)
Compensation expense, non-cash
Restructuring costs
Gain on dispositions
Gain on Security Swap
Depletion and depreciation
Impairment reversals
Finance expense, non-cash
Change in fair value of TOU share investment
Net income and dividends from gas storage investment
Net income (loss)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

($ thousands )
86,104
(9,415)
(35,019)
(7,925)
33,745
(180)
(1,040)
(17,153)
(14,953)
501
920
13,340
2,164
(2,750)
(5,911)
(5,638)
21,605
81,572
(54,317)
6,900
(10,156)
58,897
523
107,149

2016
($/ boe )
16.65
(1.82)
(6.77)
(1.53)
6.53
(0.03)
(0.20)
(3.32)
(2.89)
0.10
0.19
2.58
0.42
(0.53)
(1.14)
(1.09)
4.18
15.78
(10.50)
1.33
(1.96)
11.39
0.10
20.75

($ thousands)
147,063
(16,344)
(65,133)
(12,058)
53,528
(551)
(2,866)
(17,461)
(30,646)
–
2,004
(16,063)
3,704
(7,864)
(3,774)
–
146,632
–
(88,364)
(23,700)
2,756
(104,828)
223
(89,274)

2015
($/boe)
20.45
(2.27)
(9.06)
(1.68)
7.44
(0.08)
(0.40)
(2.43)
(4.26)
–
0.28
(2.23)
0.51
(1.09)
(0.52)
–
20.39
–
(12.29)
(3.30)
0.38
(14.57)
0.03
(12.41)

See “Non-GAAP measures” in this MD&A.
Includes $5.5 million in gross overriding royalty payments at East Edson for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $6.9 million).
Excludes non-cash items.
Includes $0.3 million in cash transaction costs in relation to the Security Swap.
Includes non-cash exploration and evaluation expense from expired leases and geological and geophysical costs.

Production
Natural gas (MMcf/d)
Eastern Alberta
West Central
Total natural gas
Crude oil (bbl/d)
Eastern Alberta(1)
West Central
Total crude oil
Total NGL (bbl/d)(2)
Total production (boe/ d )
(1)
(2)

2016

2015

33.8
40.9
74.7

52.8
51.4
104.2

1,041
17
1,058
614
14,128

1,595
31
1,626
711
19,706

Primarily Mannville heavy oil.
Primarily West Central liquids-rich gas.

Total natural gas, oil and NGL production for the year ended December 31, 2016 of 14,128 boe/d was 28 percent lower than 2015 (19,706
boe/d), reflecting the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties at the beginning of the fourth quarter and the Company’s decision to restrict
capital spending in response to low commodity prices.
Perpetual’s natural gas production of 74.7 MMcf/d decreased 28 percent from 2015 (104.2 MMcf/d), reflecting production declines following
the Company’s decision to restrict capital spending in response to low commodity prices, and the sale of approximately 35.5 MMcf/d of
production related to the Shallow Gas Properties effective October 1, 2016. Natural gas production from Eastern shallow gas properties
decreased 89 percent from 40.8 MMcf/d in Q3 2016 to 4.5 MMcf/d in the fourth quarter of 2016.
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Consistent with restricted capital spending and declining East Edson natural gas production, NGL production of 614 bbl/d in 2016 decreased
14 percent from 711 bbl/d in 2015.
Oil production of 1,058 bbl/d for 2016 was 35 percent lower than 2015 (1,626 bbl/d) mainly due to natural declines and the decision to defer
crude oil drilling activities and waterflood spending in light of depressed crude oil prices. Production declines were mitigated somewhat by the
positive response of select pools to waterflood programs.
Commodity prices

Reference prices
AECO Monthly Index ($/GJ)
AECO Daily Index ($/GJ)
Alberta Gas Reference Price ($/GJ)(1)
West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) light oil ($USD/bbl)
Western Canadian Select (“WCS”) differential ($USD/bbl)
Average Perpetual prices
Natural gas
Before derivatives ($/Mcf)(2)(3)
Percent of AECO Monthly Index
Including derivatives ($/Mcf)
Percent of AECO Monthly Index
Oil
Before derivatives ($/bbl)
Including derivatives ($/bbl)
NGL ($/bbl)
(1)
(2)
(3)

2016

2015

1.98
2.05
1.81
43.32
(13.84)

2.62
2.55
2.44
48.79
(13.52)

2.19
98
2.42
108

2.87
97
3.01
102

34.93
37.60
35.45

41.27
52.48
33.72

Alberta Gas Reference Price is the price used to calculate Alberta Crown royalties.
Natural gas price before derivatives includes physical forward sales contracts for which delivery was made during the reporting period but excludes realized
gains and losses on financial derivatives.
The average conversion ratio for Perpetual’s 2016 natural gas production is 1.13 GJ:1 Mcf (2015 – 1.12 GJ:1 Mcf).

Significant declines in benchmark prices on all commodities continued to affect Perpetual’s 2016 realized pricing compared to the prior year.
Average AECO Monthly Index pricing of $1.98/GJ in 2016 was 24 percent lower than $2.62/GJ in 2015, reflecting the overhang of natural gas
in storage in Alberta and generally in North America. The buildup of gas in storage resulted from the warm 2015/2016 winter season
throughout North America, contributing to declining natural gas demand. The decrease of WTI to $USD43.32/bbl in 2016 from $USD48.79/bbl
in 2015 was related to continued oversupply of global crude production resulting in higher than normal inventory levels, culminating on
February 11th, 2016 with a calendar year 2016 low price of $USD26.21/bbl. Crude prices increased later in the year as the supply-demand
imbalance dissipated as a result of OPEC’s November 30, 2016 announcement to agree to a cut of 1.2 million barrels per day of production
along with an additional cut from select non-OPEC producers of up to 0.6 million barrels per day, both scheduled to begin in January 2017.
Decreased AECO Monthly Index prices were reflected in Perpetual’s natural gas price before derivatives of $2.19/Mcf, down 24 percent from
$2.87/Mcf in 2015. Perpetual’s average realized gas price, including derivatives, decreased 20 percent to $2.42/Mcf for the year ended
December 31, 2016 from $3.01/Mcf in 2015. The Corporation’s realized 2016 natural gas price includes $2.7 million of realized losses on
natural gas derivatives and $8.9 million of gains realized on crystallizations of contracts before maturity. During the fourth quarter of 2016,
the average conversion ratio for Perpetual’s natural gas production was 1.16 GJ:1 Mcf compared to 1.13 GJ:1 Mcf in the comparative fourth
quarter of 2015. This increase reflects the larger percentage of total gas production from East Edson, which yields higher heat content gas
compared to Perpetual’s other production areas. Perpetual expects the average conversion ratio for its natural gas to remain at 1.16 GJ:1 Mcf
during 2017.
Perpetual’s 2016 oil price, before derivatives, of $34.93/bbl decreased 15 percent compared to 2015 due primarily to the 11 percent decline in
WTI pricing. Perpetual’s realized oil price of $37.60/bbl, including derivatives, was higher than the price before derivatives due to gains of
$1.3 million recorded on financial crude oil derivative contracts and $0.3 million of losses realized on crystallizations of contracts before
maturity.
Perpetual’s realized average NGL price increased 5 percent from the prior year to $35.45/bbl, reflecting an increase in all NGL component
prices as excess North American inventory levels began to stabilize due to increasing exports from the United States to Asia and Europe
brought on by low North American product prices. Perpetual’s average NGL sales composition for the year ended December 31, 2016
consisted of 67 percent condensate, largely unchanged from the prior year (2015 – 68 percent).
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Revenue
($ thousands, except as noted)
Petroleum and natural gas revenue
Natural gas(1)
Oil(1)
NGL
Total petroleum and natural gas revenue
Realized gains (losses) on derivatives
Realized revenue
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives
Total revenue
Realized revenue ($/boe)
Total revenue ($/boe)
(1)

2016
59,902
13,529
7,972
81,403
4,701
86,104
13,340
99,444
16.65
19.23

2015
109,186
24,497
8,754
142,437
4,626
147,063
(16,063)
131,000
20.45
18.21

Includes revenues related to physical forward sales contracts which settled during the period.

Perpetual’s petroleum and natural gas (“P&NG”) revenue, before derivatives, for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $81.4 million
decreased 43 percent from 2015, due to lower commodity prices combined with the 28 percent decrease in average daily production.
Natural gas revenue, before derivatives, of $59.9 million in 2016 decreased 45 percent from $109.2 million in 2015 reflecting the 24 percent
decline in realized natural gas prices and the 28 percent reduction in daily production.
Oil revenues of $13.5 million in 2016 were 45 percent lower than 2015 ($24.5 million) due to lower crude oil prices combined with reduced
production as a result of natural declines and the deferral of crude oil drilling programs.
NGL revenue for the year declined nine percent from 2015 to $8.0 million as lower production more than offset a five percent increase in
realized commodity prices.
Realized gains on derivatives totaled $4.7 million for 2016 compared to gains of $4.6 million in 2015. Total gains in the current year were
comprised of $6.2 million on natural gas derivatives and $1.0 million from oil derivatives, partially offset by $2.5 million of losses on forward
foreign exchange contracts.
The Corporation recorded unrealized gains on derivatives of $13.3 million during 2016 compared to unrealized losses of $16.1 million for
2015. Unrealized gains and losses represent the change in mark-to-market value of derivative contracts as forward commodity prices and
foreign exchange rates change. Unrealized gains and losses on derivatives are excluded from the Corporation’s calculation of cash flow from
operating activities as they are non-cash. Derivative gains and losses vary depending on the nature and extent of derivative contracts in place,
which in turn, vary with the Corporation’s assessment of commodity price risk, committed capital spending and other factors.
Royalties
($ thousands, except as noted)
Crown
Freehold and overriding(1)
Total
Crown (% of P&NG revenue)
Freehold and overriding (% of P&NG revenue)
Total (% of P&NG revenue)
$/boe
(1)

2016
1,676
7,739
9,415
2.1
9.5
11.6
1.82

2015
4,394
11,950
16,344
3.1
8.4
11.5
2.27

Includes $5.5 million in gross overriding royalty payments at East Edson for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $6.9 million).

Royalty expenses for 2016 were $9.4 million, representing a slight increase in the effective combined average royalty rate on P&NG revenue
to 11.6 percent from 11.5 percent in 2015. Average crown royalty rates decreased to 2.1 percent in 2016 compared to 3.1 percent in 2015,
partially as a result of lower Alberta natural gas reference prices combined with declining oil prices. Crown royalties in 2016 were also lower as
a result of the 28 percent decline in year-over-year production volumes.
Freehold and overriding royalty rates increased from 8.4 percent in 2015 to 9.5 percent in 2016, reflecting the larger percentage of production
from East Edson wells which are subject to gross overriding royalties pursuant to Perpetual’s 2014 East Edson royalty disposition and farm-in
agreements which, in combination, entitle the partner to a maximum of 5.6 MMcf/d of natural gas from the East Edson property plus oil and
associated NGLs on a monthly basis. Excluding royalty payments of $5.5 million under the East Edson overriding royalty arrangement (2015 $6.9 million), the effective freehold and overriding royalty rate for the year ended December 31, 2016 was 2.8 percent compared to 3.5
percent in 2015.
Production and operating expenses
($ thousands, except as noted)
Production and operating expenses
$/boe
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Total production and operating expenses decreased 46 percent to $35.0 million in 2016 compared to $65.1 million in 2015. This decrease
reflected company-wide cost saving initiatives, the re-deployment of operations personnel to abandonment and reclamation projects,
operating efficiencies at the low cost Company owned and operated gas plant at East Edson which commenced operations in the third quarter
of 2015, and the full impact of the sale of the Shallow Gas Properties for the duration of the fourth quarter of 2016. Despite the Company’s
continued focus on cost reductions on its shallow gas assets throughout 2016, municipal property taxes represented a significant portion of
fixed operating costs for the Company’s mature shallow gas assets as the calculation of property taxes for machinery and equipment,
pipelines and wells is based on a prescribed formula methodology which results in a tax assessment base that is dramatically
misrepresentative of the property value. Operating costs at East Edson averaged $2.77/boe during 2016 compared to $3.74/boe in 2015.
Perpetual expects corporate per boe operating costs to be significantly lower in 2017 following the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties
on October 1, 2016, as close to 80 percent of the Company’s total 2017 production is forecast from its low cost East Edson operating area.
Transportation costs
($ thousands, except as noted)
Transportation costs
$/boe

2016
7,925
1.53

2015
12,058
1.68

Transportation costs include clean oil trucking and NGL transportation as well as costs to transport natural gas from the plant gate to
commercial sales points. Consistent with the decrease in production, transportation costs in 2016 decreased 34 percent to $7.9 million from
$12.1 million for the same period in 2015, reflecting lower oil and gas sales volumes combined with lower rates on clean oil trucking. The
reduction in transportation costs is largely the result of Perpetual’s higher percentage of total gas production from East Edson properties,
where costs to transport gas averaged $0.21/Mcf compared to an average cost of $0.35/Mcf for the disposed Shallow Gas Properties.
Operating netback
2016

Operating netback ($ thousands )(1)
Realized revenue(1)
Royalties(2)
Production and operating expenses
Transportation costs
Total operating netback
Boe operating netback ($/ boe )(1)
Realized revenue(1)
Royalties(2)
Production and operating expenses
Transportation costs
Total operating netback
(1)
(2)

2015

86,104
(9,415)
(35,019)
(7,925)
33,745

147,063
(16,344)
(65,133)
(12,058)
53,528

16.65
(1.82)
(6.77)
(1.53)
6.53

20.45
(2.27)
(9.06)
(1.68)
7.44

See “Non-GAAP measures” in this MD&A.
Includes $5.5 million in gross overriding royalty payments at East Edson for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $6.9 million).

Perpetual’s operating netback of $6.53/boe ($33.7 million) in 2016 decreased 12 percent from $7.44/boe ($53.5 million) in 2015. This
decrease was due primarily to the 18 percent ($3.80/boe) decline in realized revenue caused by lower commodity prices which more than
offset the positive impact of the reduction in per boe royalties, operating and transportation costs.
Gas over bitumen
($ thousands, except as noted)
Gas over bitumen royalty credit
Payments on gas over bitumen royalty financing(1)
Gas over bitumen, net of payments
$/boe
(1)

2016
1,984
(2,164)
(180)
(0.03)

2015
3,153
(3,704)
(551)
(0.08)

At December 31, 2016, the fair value of the gas over bitumen royalty financing is estimated to be $8.3 million (2015 - $10.0 million).

Perpetual records revenue in relation to gas over bitumen royalty credits received under the Natural Gas Royalty Regulation as a result of its
working interests in a number of natural gas wells which have been shut-in pursuant to shut-in orders issued by the Government of Alberta.
During 2016, Perpetual recorded $2.0 million in gas over bitumen revenue; a decrease of $1.2 million from the same period in 2015
attributable to the 26 percent decrease in Alberta gas reference prices, combined with the annual 10 percent decline in deemed production.
Gas over bitumen royalty credits earned throughout 2016 were offset by payments of $2.2 million (2015 – $3.7 million) in relation to the 2014
monetization of Perpetual’s future gas over bitumen royalty credits. As part of the arrangement, Perpetual makes monthly payments to the
purchaser, which from time to time will vary from the actual gas over bitumen credit received in the period due to timing differences. The
monthly payment commitment expires concurrent with the gas over bitumen credit, with final expiries expected to occur in June 2021.
Under IFRS, the monetization of future gas over bitumen royalty credits was recorded as a financial obligation (“Gas over bitumen royalty
financing”); however, entitlement to future revenue from gas over bitumen royalty adjustments are not recorded as an asset but as revenue
with the passage of time as it is earned. As such, gas over bitumen revenue will continue to be recognized separately as revenue in
accordance with Perpetual’s accounting policies with the monthly payments recognized separately as a reduction to the gas over bitumen
royalty financing obligation. For purposes of this MD&A, the monthly payments have been included as a reduction to gas over bitumen
revenue to reflect the substantive monetization of the future gas over bitumen royalty adjustments. During 2016, the gas over bitumen
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royalty financing obligation was reduced by $1.7 million, comprised of payments of $2.2 million (2015 - $3.7 million) partially offset by a loss
of $0.5 million (2015 - gain of $1.7 million). The loss has been included in non-cash finance expense and represents an increase in the fair
value of the gas over bitumen royalty financing obligation compared to 2015, as a result of higher forecasted natural gas reference prices.
Exploration and evaluation
($ thousands)
Lease rentals
Geological and geophysical costs(1)
Lease expiries
Total exploration and evaluation
(1)

2016
1,040
23
2,727
3,790

2015
2,866
1,526
6,338
10,730

Geological and geophysical expenditures and dry hole costs are expensed directly in the Corporation’s statement of income (loss); they are considered by
Perpetual to be more closely related to investing activities than operating activities, and therefore are included with capital expenditures for the purposes of
this MD&A.

Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) costs include lease rentals on undeveloped acreage, geological and geophysical costs and the write down
of carrying costs related to lease expiries. E&E costs of $3.8 million in 2016 were 65 percent lower than 2015 due to decreased lease rental
costs, geological and geophysical expenditures and fewer lease expiries. The reduction in lease rental costs was largely due to dispositions
along with decisions in 2015 and 2016 to let a number of leases expire, primarily in eastern Alberta.
General and administrative expenses
($ thousands, except as noted)
Cash general and administrative expense
Share based compensation expense (non-cash)
Total general and administrative expense
Cash general and administrative expense ($/boe)
Share based compensation expense (non-cash) ($/boe)

2016
17,153
5,911
23,064
3.32
1.14

2015
17,461
3,774
21,235
2.43
0.52

Cash G&A expense decreased two percent to $17.2 million in 2016 from $17.5 million in 2015. This decrease reflected a $2.7 million reduction
in overhead recoveries as a result of reduced capital spending in 2016, offset by reductions in consulting fees and savings related to modified
work schedules, elimination of annual bonuses and on-going cost saving initiatives implemented by the Corporation in response to the
depressed commodity price environment.
Non-cash compensation expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased $2.1 million compared to the same period in 2015. This
increase was the result of performance multiplier adjustments related to performance share rights issued and outstanding in addition to the
beneficial modification of share based compensation plans following the consolidation of outstanding common shares of the Company on the
basis of 20 common shares to one common share on March 24, 2016.
Restructuring costs
($ thousands, except as noted)
Employee downsizing costs
Onerous office lease contract
Total restructuring costs
Restructuring costs ($/boe)

2016
2,926
2,712
5,638
1.09

2015
–
–
–
–

During the year, the Company recognized onerous lease obligations totaling $2.7 million in relation to corporate office space which is no
longer being utilized as a result of a terminated sublease and staff reductions related to the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties. The
unused office space is recorded as an onerous contract as the unavoidable costs associated with the lease contract exceed the economic
benefits to be received. Also included in restructuring costs was $2.9 million in relation to employee downsizing costs of which $1.5 million
were paid in 2016 with the remaining to be paid out over the next 12 months.
Gains on dispositions
Perpetual recorded gains on property transactions of $27.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. This gain was made up of the
following transactions:
•

•

The sale of certain oil sands leases with a retained gross overriding royalty, non-core undeveloped land, 25 percent interest in
certain seismic, and idle production equipment for proceeds of $7.8 million. Also included in this disposition was the de-recognition
of abandonment and reclamation liabilities which were transferred with the properties disposed, resulting in a total gain of $8.6
million; and
The disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties for nominal cash consideration and the assumption of $128.0 million of
decommissioning obligations associated with the Shallow Gas Properties, resulting in a gain on disposition of $19.2 million. In
addition, the transaction included marketing arrangements (described below) whereby the Company will receive additional
consideration to the extent natural gas average monthly AECO prices exceed $2.81/GJ on 33,611 GJ/d through to August 31, 2018.
Additionally, the Company has retained price exposure on 33,611 GJ/d to the extent average monthly AECO prices fall below
$2.58/GJ for the April 2018 through August 2018 period.
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Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these marketing arrangements are recognized as adjustments to gains/losses on dispositions.
During the fourth quarter, $1.8 million of realized and unrealized net gains were recorded with respect to these arrangements.
Details on the retained shallow gas marketing arrangements have been summarized as follows:
Term
March 2017 – August 2018
April 2018 – August 2018

Volumes at AECO
(GJ/ d )
33,611
33,611

Floor price
($/ GJ )
–
2.58

Ceiling price
($/ GJ )
2.81
–

Market prices
($/ GJ )
2.52
2.34

Depletion and depreciation
($ thousands, except as noted)
Depletion and depreciation
$/boe

2016
54,317
10.50

2015
88,364
12.29

Perpetual recorded $54.3 million of depletion and depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 (2015 - $88.4 million). On a
per boe basis, 2016 depletion and depreciation expense of $10.50/boe was 15 percent lower than the prior year, due primarily to the lower
depletion rates associated with the Company’s East Edson assets, which make up a larger percentage of Perpetual’s total reserves than in
previous years.
Impairment
At December 31, 2016, indicators of potential impairment in its Athabasca cash-generating unit (“CGU”) (renamed Northern CGU) were
identified related to the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties. In addition, technical revisions to Mannville heavy oil reserves related to
improved recovery methods along with realized lower operating and capital efficiencies justified a review for impairment reversals for the
Birchwavy East CGU (renamed Eastern CGU).
Perpetual measured the carrying values of each of the above CGUs against the estimated recoverable amount based on value in use which
Perpetual deemed to be higher compared to fair value less cost to sell. A net impairment reversal of $6.9 million was recorded to net income
which consisted of a $12.7 million impairment reversal in the Eastern CGU which was partially offset by an impairment loss of $5.8 million in
the Northern CGU.
At December 31, 2015, indicators of potential impairment were identified related to the reduction in commodity prices and future commodity
price forecasts estimated by third party independent engineers. Perpetual measured the carrying values of each of its CGUs, less the
corresponding decommissioning obligations, against the estimated recoverable amount based on value in use which Perpetual deemed to be
higher compared to fair value less cost to sell. A net impairment loss of $23.7 million was recorded for 2015 which included a $6.5 million
impairment loss in the Birchwavy East CGU and a $2.5 million impairment loss in the Birchwavy West CGU as a result of lower forecasted oil
and natural gas prices. The Corporation also determined that future production from the shut-in gas over bitumen wells is unlikely in the
continued absence of a technical solution or permitted production. Impairment losses for 2015 further included $14.7 million for derecognition of the gas over bitumen CGU, net of $3.8 million for de-recognition of the provision for estimated future repayments of gas over
bitumen royalty credits received.
Finance expenses

Interest
($ thousands)
Cash interest
Senior notes
Convertible debentures
Bank debt
Total cash interest
Non-cash interest
Amortization of debt issue costs
Total interest

2016

2015

11,942
–
2,749
14,691

24,062
2,441
4,143
30,646

509
15,200

2,036
32,682

Total cash interest expense of $14.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 was 52 percent lower than the prior year ($30.6 million).
Decreased cash interest on senior notes resulted from the Security Swap, whereby $214.4 million face value of senior notes was swapped in
exchange for 4.4 million TOU shares with a fair market value of $130.5 million ($29.64 per share) and a cash payment of $3.9 million for
accrued interest. Following the Security Swap, Perpetual had $60.6 million principal amount of senior notes outstanding, resulting in a
significant reduction in cash interest expense and non-cash debt issue cost amortization for the second half of 2016. Decreased interest on
bank debt resulted from a reduction in Perpetual’s TOU share margin loans from $60.1 million at December 31, 2015 to $40.0 million at
December 31, 2016. In addition, restructuring all TOU margin loans to include put option floor prices resulted in lower floating interest
charges. The repayment of debentures in December 2015 also contributed to a reduction in period over period cash interest in addition to
non-cash debt issue cost amortization.

PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.

2016 ANNUAL RESULTS

Page 22

Other finance ex penses
($ thousands)
Accretion on decommissioning obligations
Accretion on gas over bitumen provision
Change in fair value of gas over bitumen royalty financing
Change in fair value of TOU share margin loans
Change in carrying amount of share purchase rights
Other finance expenses

2016
2,643
–
497
6,507
–
9,647

2015
4,034
498
(1,675)
(171)
(7,478)
(4,792)

Other finance expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 included accretion on decommissioning obligations of $2.6 million (2015 - $4.0
million), a loss of $0.5 million on the change in fair value of the gas over bitumen royalty financing (2015 – gain of $1.7 million) and a loss of
$6.5 million on the change in fair value of the TOU share margin loans (2015 – gain of $0.2 million).
Gain on exchange of senior notes for TOU share investment
The Company recorded a net gain on the Security Swap of $81.3 million, representing the difference between the carrying amount of senior
notes cancelled of $212.0 million ($214.4 million principal amount) and the fair market value of TOU shares exchanged of $130.5 million, net
of transaction costs.
Change in fair value of TOU share investment
During 2016, the Corporation recorded an unrealized gain of $58.9 million related to the change in fair value of TOU share investment, which
represents the change in value of TOU shares held from December 31, 2015 ($22.35 per share) to December 31, 2016 ($35.91 per share).
Gas storage facility investment
On May 25, 2016, the Corporation disposed of its interest in gas storage facility investment for net cash proceeds of $19.7 million, resulting in
a net loss on disposition of $6.2 million. For the period prior to the disposition of the gas storage facility investment, Perpetual recorded
income of $1.0 million in 2016 (2015 - $0.2 million). The Company also received dividends of $0.5 million (2015 – nil) representing Perpetual’s
share of total dividends declared prior to the closing of the sale transaction.

LIQUIDITY, CAPITALIZATION AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Perpetual’s goal is to maintain a strong capital base so as to retain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain the future
development of the business. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of its underlying oil and natural gas assets. The Company considers its capital structure to include share capital,
bank indebtedness, TOU share margin loans, senior notes and adjusted working capital, with value and liquidity enhanced through the current
ownership of TOU shares. In order to manage its capital structure, the Corporation may from time to time issue equity or debt securities,
enter into business transactions including the sale of assets and adjust its capital spending to manage current and projected debt levels.
With the deterioration of commodity prices continuing in 2016, the Company was focused on liquidity management and preservation of its
balance sheet through restricted capital spending, high grading the asset base, reducing costs and maximizing efficiencies in administration
and operations. A diligent focus on reductions in all areas of spending, including operating, financing and administrative costs, will continue in
order to establish a sustainable cost structure in this low commodity price environment.
During 2016, Perpetual achieved a $165.5 million (81 percent) reduction in net debt from $203.6 million, through a combination of financing
transactions and asset sales which are detailed as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Closing of the fully backstopped rights offering on January 18, 2016 for gross proceeds of $25 million;
Sale of 250,000 TOU shares at an average price of $29.45 per share for proceeds of $7.4 million;
Disposition of 37 sections of oil sands leases in northeast Alberta for proceeds of $6.2 million and a one percent gross overriding
royalty;
Crystallization of $7.7 million in hedging gains from future natural gas contracts;
Completion of the Security Swap whereby Perpetual repurchased and cancelled $214.4 million principal amount of senior notes
tendered by holders of senior notes through the exchange of 4.4 million TOU shares owned by Perpetual with a fair market value of
$130.5 million ($29.64 per share);
Disposition of the Company’s gas storage facility investment in May 2016 for net proceeds of $19.7 million in addition to a $0.5
million dividend prior to closing;
Reducing overall TOU share margin loans from $60.1 million at December 31, 2015 to $40.0 million at December 31, 2016 while
restructuring the collateral to improve lending ratios on a reduced amount of pledged TOU shares; and
Disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties on October 1, 2016 for nominal cash consideration, which reduced year-over-year
decommissioning obligations by $128.0 million.

At December 31, 2016, the majority of the Company’s debt consisted of $60.1 million of 2018 and 2019 Senior Notes. Obligations which will
require settlement or extension in 2017 include $40.0 million of TOU share margin loans maturing in July and November of 2017 which can be
repaid in cash or through settlement with the TOU shares pledged as security.
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Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Company completed a number of financing transactions to strengthen Perpetual’s liquidity and debt
repayment profile and secure funding for the Company’s 2017 and 2018 business plan. The significant financing transactions are as follows:
•
•
•

•
•
•

Partial repayment and refinancing of its existing TOU share put option margin loan previously maturing in March 2017, reducing the
loan amount outstanding to $18.9 million, extending the maturity to August 1, 2017 and increasing the number of shares pledged
as collateral to 0.9 million TOU shares, with a new floor price on these shares of $21.14 per TOU share;
Exchange of $17.4 million aggregate principal amount of its existing senior notes maturing in 2018 and 2019 for 2022 Senior Notes;
Establishment of a $45 million Second Lien Facility bearing annual interest at 8.1 percent and maturing March 14, 2021. The initial
draw on the Second Lien facility was $35 million with the remaining $10 million to be drawn prior to November 30, 2017. In
addition, for no additional consideration, 5.4 million warrants were issued which entitle the holder to acquire common shares on a
one for one basis for a period of up to three years, at an exercise price of $2.34 per share, equal to a 45 percent premium to the
volume weighted average trading price of the common shares for the ten trading days prior to the date of issue of the warrants on
March 14, 2017;
Issuance of 5.1 million common shares and 1.1 million warrants to purchase common shares on the same terms and conditions as
above at $1.75 per Equity Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $9 million. Included in the issuance were 1.6 million common shares
and 0.4 million warrants issued to directors and officers of the Company or entities controlled by them, for proceeds of $2.9 million;
Extension of the Company’s current bank lending arrangements to October 31, 2017, while providing for a $14 million increase in
total borrowing capacity under the credit facility to $20 million; and
Issuance of a notice for the early redemption of all of the $27.6 million aggregate outstanding principal amount of its 8.75% senior
notes maturing March 15, 2018, effective April 17, 2017. The redemption amount payable will be either: CDN $1,000 for each
$1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes; or at the election of an eligible holder and subject to the limitations described in the
notice, $1,000 principal amount of 2022 Senior Notes for each $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes.

These financing transactions, combined with the strategic disposition of Shallow Gas Properties, provide the Company with enhanced
optionality and flexibility to manage near term obligations while at the same time, creating opportunities to resume development opportunities
to re-establish a self-sustaining cost structure. The Company will continue to regularly assess changes to its capital structure and repayment
alternatives, with considerations for both short term liquidity and longer term financial sustainability.
Capital Management
($ thousands, except as noted)
Bank indebtedness
Senior notes, measured at principal amount
Carrying amount of TOU share margin loans
Carrying amount of TOU share investment(1)
Adjusted working capital deficiency (surplus)(2)
Net debt(2)
Shares outstanding at end of period (thousands)(3)
Market price at end of period ($/share)(3)
Market value of shares
Total capitalization(2)
Net debt as a percentage of total capitalization
Trailing twelve months adjusted funds flow(2)
(1)
(2)
(3)

December 31, 2016
–
60,573
39,953
(66,343)
3,917
38,100
53,681
2.35
126,150
164,250
23
920

December 31, 2015
42,000
275,000
18,059
(145,275)
13,832
203,616
19,114
1.00
19,114
222,730
91
2,004

The carrying amount of the TOU share investment is based on the period end closing price per the Toronto Stock Exchange ($35.91 per share) and 1.85
million TOU shares held (December 31, 2015 – 6.5 million TOU shares held with a closing price of $22.35 per share).
See “Non-GAAP measures” in this MD&A.
Common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the consolidation of outstanding common shares on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share on March 24, 2016.

At December 31, 2016, Perpetual had total net debt of $38.1 million, down $165.5 million (81 percent) from December 31, 2015. The
reduction reflects a $42 million drop in bank indebtedness, the Security Swap transaction, whereby $214.4 million face value of senior notes
was swapped in exchange for 4.4 million TOU shares, and an $9.9 million decrease in the working capital deficiency. This was offset partially
by an increase in the carrying value of TOU share margin loans of $21.9 million and a reduction in the period end value of the TOU shares of
$78.9 million.
Reserve Based Credit Facility
As at December 31, 2016, the Company had a reserve based, revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with a borrowing limit (the
“Borrowing Limit”) of $6.0 million (2015 - $20.0 million) under which $4.0 million of letters of credit had been drawn (2015 - $5.4 million).
The Credit Facility matures on April 28, 2017. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at its lenders’ prime rate or Banker’s
Acceptance rates, plus applicable margins and standby fees. The applicable margins range between 1.25% and 4.75%. Borrowings are
secured by general security agreements covering all of the Company’s assets with the exception of TOU shares pledged as security for the
TOU share margin loans and certain lands pledged to the gas over bitumen royalty financing counterparty. As at December 31, 2016, the
Company had pledged restricted cash of $2.0 million in favor of its lender as additional security.
The Credit Facility is subject to a working capital covenant which requires the Company to maintain net working capital plus outstanding
letters of credits to not exceed the Borrowing Limit. Net working capital includes the sum of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and unpledged TOU shares less accounts payable and accrued liabilities and accrued interest on senior
notes up to the Credit Facility maturity date. The Company was in compliance with all Credit Facility covenants at December 31, 2016.
The Company was in compliance with all Credit Facility covenants at December 31, 2016.
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The Credit Facility also contains provisions which restrict the Company’s ability to pay dividends on or repurchase its common shares.
On February 8, 2017, the Company’s lender released the restricted cash and on March 8, 2017, increased the Credit Facility Borrowing Limit
to $20.0 million and extended its maturity to October 31, 2017. The next Borrowing Limit redetermination will occur on or before May 31,
2017.
TOU share margin loans
Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
39,953
18,059
–
42,000
39,953
60,059

($ thousands)
TOU share put option margin loans
TOU margin loans
Total TOU share margin loans

At December 31, 2016, the Company has TOU share margin loans with two lenders for which TOU shares have been pledged as collateral.
Under these TOU share margin loans, the Company effectively purchased embedded TOU put options from the lender (“TOU share put option
margin loans”). TOU share put option margin loans bear interest based on fixed interest rates, plus the cost of purchasing the embedded TOU
put option, if applicable.
At December 31, 2016, $23.2 million (December 31, 2015 - $18.1 million) TOU share put option margin loans mature in March 2017 and
$16.8 million (December 31, 2015 – nil) mature in November 2017. For the March 2017 maturity, 0.84 million (December 31, 2015 – 1.0
million) TOU shares have been pledged as collateral with a put option floor price of $27.72 per share (December 31, 2015 – $21.32 per
share). For the November 2017 maturity, 0.65 million TOU shares have been pledged as collateral with a put option floor price of $27.38 per
share.
At December 31, 2015, 5.5 million TOU shares had been pledged as collateral for the $42.0 million TOU margin loans. The TOU margin loans
bear interest based on floating interest rates.
The TOU share put option margin loans are hybrid financial instruments comprising a debt host with an embedded TOU put option derivative
related to indexation of the future settlement amount to changes in the market price of TOU shares pledged as collateral. The Company has
designated the TOU share put option margin loans as financial liabilities which are measured at fair value through profit and loss. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, an unrealized loss of $6.5 million (December 31, 2015 – unrealized gain of $0.2 million) is included in finance
expense, representing the change in fair value of the TOU put options during the year.
Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Company sold 180,000 TOU shares for net cash proceeds of $5.7 million which was applied as a
reduction to the TOU share put option margin loan set to expire in March 2017. The remaining balance was extended to August 1, 2017
subject to a maximum payment of $18.9 million at maturity. The number of shares pledged as collateral was increased to 0.9 million with the
floor price being reset to $21.14 per TOU share.
Senior Notes
December 31, 2016

2018 senior notes
2019 senior notes

Maturity date

Interest
rate

March 15, 2018
July 23, 2019

8.75%
8.75%

December 31, 2015

Principal

Carrying Amount

Principal

Carrying amount

$ 36,013
24,560
$ 60,573

$ 35,847
24,273
$ 60,120

$ 150,000
125,000
$ 275,000

$ 148,724
122,934
$ 271,658

During the second quarter of 2016, the Company executed the Security Swap transaction, whereby $114.0 million of outstanding 2018 Senior
Notes and $100.4 million of outstanding 2019 Senior Notes were repurchased and cancelled through the exchange of 4.4 million TOU shares
and cash payments of $3.9 million for accrued interest. The fair market value of TOU shares exchanged was $130.5 million based on an
average closing price of $29.64 per share. Included in the Security Swap were $81.6 million 2018 Senior Notes and $57.0 million 2019 Senior
Notes held by directors and officers of the Company or entities controlled by them.
On January 23, 2017, the Company exchanged $8.4 million and $9.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes and 2019
Senior Notes respectively for $17.4 million 2022 Senior Notes. Included in the exchange were $3.7 million 2018 Senior Notes and $4.3 million
2019 Senior Notes held by directors and officers of the Company or entities controlled by them. The 2022 Senior Notes bear a fixed rate of
9.75% for the first year of issuance and 8.75% thereafter, and have identical covenants and rights as the existing 2018 and 2019 Senior
Notes. After giving effect to the exchange, outstanding senior notes are as follows:

2018 senior notes
2019 senior notes
2022 senior notes
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Maturity date

Interest rate

Payment dates

Principal

March 15, 2018
July 23, 2019
January 23, 2022

8.75%
8.75%
8.75%

March 15 & September 15
January 23 & July 23
January 23 & July 23

$ 27,617
15,572
17,384
$ 60,573
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The senior notes are direct senior unsecured obligations of the Company, ranking pari passu with all other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated indebtedness of the Company. At any time prior to three years before the senior note maturity date, the Company can
redeem up to 35 percent of the principal amount of the senior notes at a premium to face value. Within three years of maturity, the Company
may redeem up to 100 percent of the senior notes at a premium to face value. Within one year of maturity, the Company may redeem up to
100 percent of the senior notes at the principal amount. On March 15, 2017, the Company issued a notice for early redemption of all
outstanding 2018 Senior Notes.
The senior notes have a cross-default provision with the Company’s credit facility. In addition, the senior notes indenture contains restrictions
on certain payments including dividends, retirement of subordinated debt and stock repurchases. The permitted amount of any restricted
payment is limited to:
i)

To the extent the Company’s Consolidated Debt (defined as the sum of the Company’s period end balance of bank indebtedness,
TOU share margin loans and gas over bitumen royalty financing) Ratio is less than 3.0 to 1.0, the sum of 50 percent of income
before interest, taxes, depletion and depreciation and non-cash items from January 1, 2011 to the end of the most recently
completed fiscal quarter plus 100 percent of the fair market value of any equity contributions made to the Company during that
period less the sum of all restricted payments during that period; and

ii)

To the extent the Company’s Consolidated Debt Ratio is greater than or equal to 3.0 to 1.0 pro forma for the proposed restricted
payment, $50 million plus 100 percent of the fair market value of any equity contributions made to the Company.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2016.
At December 31, 2016 the senior notes are presented net of $0.5 million (December 31, 2015 - $3.3 million) in issue costs which are
amortized using a weighted average effective interest rate of 9.2 percent.
Equity
On March 24, 2016 shareholders of the Corporation approved the consolidation of outstanding common shares of Perpetual on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share, which has been retroactively applied in the consolidated financial statements and throughout this
MD&A. On January 18, 2016, Perpetual issued 33.3 million (post-consolidation) common shares of the Company upon closing of a fully
backstopped rights offering to issue common shares of Perpetual for gross proceeds of $25 million. Included were 21.4 million common
shares issued to entities controlled by the Chairman of Perpetual’s Board of Directors for proceeds of $16.1 million.
On November 17, 2016, the Company issued 0.5 million flow-through shares at a price of $2.15 per share for total gross proceeds of $1.1
million. The implied premium was $0.2 million or $0.44 per share. As at December 31, 2016 the Company is committed to spend $1.1 million
on qualified exploration expenditures by December 31, 2017. The expenditures will be renounced to investors with an effective renunciation
date of December 31, 2016.
At December 31, 2016 there were 53.4 million common shares outstanding which is net of 0.3 million shares held in trust for employee
compensation programs. Weighted average shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2016 were 50.7 million (2015 – 7.5 million).
On March 14, 2017, 5.1 million common shares and 6.5 million common share warrants were issued in connection with the issuance of the
Second Lien Facility and private placement of common shares for proceeds of $9.0 million. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire
common shares on a one for one basis at an exercise price of $2.34 per share prior to March 14, 2020. Included were 1.6 million common
shares and 0.4 million warrants issued to directors and officers of Perpetual or entities controlled by them for proceeds of $2.9 million.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS
As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s contractual obligations over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
Contractual repayments of
financial liabilities ($ thousands)

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021 and
Thereafter

Total

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Fair value of derivatives
TOU share margin loans
Senior notes – principal(1)
Gas over bitumen royalty financing
Drilling commitments
Pipeline transportation commitments
Office and other operating lease commitments

21,257
9,221
39,953
–
3,390
3,000
7,099
4,049

–
2,023
–
27,617
2,416
–
9,454
1,022

–
–
–
15,572
1,600
–
8,525
14

–
–
–
–
615
–
4,824
–

–
–
–
17,384
323
–
2,336
–

21,257
11,244
39,953
60,573
8,344
3,000
32,238
5,085

Total

87,969

42,532

25,711

5,439

20,043

181,694

(1)

Senior Note contractual obligations reflect the exchange of $8.4 million 2018 Senior Notes and $9.0 million 2019 Senior Notes for $17.4 million 2022 Senior
Notes completed on January 23, 2017 (note 11).
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Com m odity price risk managem ent
Perpetual’s commodity price risk management strategy is focused on managing downside risk and increasing certainty in cash flow from operating
activities by mitigating the effect of commodity price volatility. Physical forward sales and financial derivatives are used to manage the balance
sheet, to lock in economics on capital programs and acquisitions, and to take advantage of perceived anomalies in commodity markets. Perpetual
also utilizes foreign exchange swaps and physical or financial swaps related to the differential between natural gas prices at the AECO and NYMEX
trading hubs and oil basis differentials between WTI and WCS in order to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and basis
differentials on the Corporation’s realized revenue.
Subsequent to December 31, 2016, Perpetual crystallized the following positions with one of its counterparties at a net cost of $0.3 million:
•
•
•

30,000 GJ/d of 2017 basis contracts and 25,000 GJ/d of 2018 basis contracts for net proceeds of $4.9 million;
250 bbl/d calendar 2017 WTI costless collar at a cost of $0.9 million; and
Foreign exchange currency option contract that was due to expire in March 2018 at a cost of $4.3 million.

The following tables provide a summary of derivative natural gas contracts outstanding at March 14, 2017.
Natural Gas
The following table provides a summary of physical natural gas arrangements at AECO. Settlements on these physical sales contracts are
recognized in oil and natural gas revenue.

Term
April 2017
May 2017
June 2017 – October 2017
November 2017 – December 2017
(1)
(2)

Volumes sold
(bought) at AECO
(GJ/ d )
35,000
30,000
20,000
32,500

Average price
($/ GJ )(1)
2.66
2.93
3.15
3.07

Market prices
($/ GJ )(2)
2.43
2.38
2.44
2.77

Type of contract
Physical
Physical
Physical
Physical

Market prices
($/ GJ )(2)
2.43
2.51

Type of contract
Financial
Financial

Average price calculated using weighted average price for net open contracts.
Market prices are based on forward AECO Monthly Index prices as of market close on March 14, 2017.

The Corporation had entered into financial natural gas sales arrangements at AECO as follows:

Term
April 2017
May 2017 – December 2017
(1)
(2)

Volumes sold
(bought) at AECO
(GJ/ d )
22,500
7,500

Average price
($/ GJ )(1)
2.67
3.15

Average price calculated using weighted average price for net open contracts.
Market prices are based on forward AECO Monthly Index prices as of market close on March 14, 2017.

Crude Oil
The Corporation had entered into financial oil sales arrangements in $USD as follows:
Term
March 2017 – December 2017
March 2017 – December 2017
(1)

Volumes
(bbl/ d )
250
500

Floor price
($USD/ bbl )
50.00
50.00

Ceiling price
($USD/ bbl )
61.50
59.40

Market prices
($USD/ bbl )(1)
49.37
49.37

Type of
contract
Financial
Financial

Market prices are based on forward WTI oil prices as of market close on March 14, 2017.

The following table provides a summary of basis differential contracts between WTI and WCS trading:
Term
April 2017 – December 2017
April 2017 – December 2017
(1)

(2)

Volumes
(bbl/ d )
500
250

WTI-WCS differential
($USD/ bbl )(1)
(15.40)
(14.85)

Market prices
($USD/ bbl )(2)
(14.83)
(14.83)

Type of
contract
Financial
Financial

Average price calculated using weighted average price for net open contracts; contracts settle at WTI index less a fixed basis amount.
Market prices are based on forward WTI-WCS differential prices as of market close on March 14, 2017.
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Foreign Exchange
The Corporation has the following U.S. dollar boosted forward sales arrangement:
Term
March 2017 – February 2018(2)
(1)
(2)

(3)

Notional
($USD/ m onth )
1,000,000

Boosted notional(1)
($USD/ m onth )
3,000,000

Strike rate
($CAD/ $USD )
1.25

Market prices
($CAD/ $USD )(3)
1.34

Type of
contract
Financial

If the spot rate at expiry of each contract month is below the strike rate, the Corporation pays $USD 3,000,000 multiplied by the difference between the
spot rate at expiry and the strike rate.
If the spot rate at expiry of each contract month is above the strike rate, the Corporation receives $USD 1,000,000 multiplied by the difference between the
spot rate at expiry and the strike rate. Cumulative receipts on this contract are limited to a total of $0.8 million, of which $0.8 million have been recognized
as of March 14, 2017.
Market prices are based on forward $CAD/$USD exchange rates as of market close on March 14, 2017.

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
($ thousands, except where noted)
Financial
Oil and natural gas revenues
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities
Adjusted funds flow(1)
Per share – basic
Net income (loss)
Per share – basic
– diluted
Net Capital expenditures
Exploration and development
Other
Capital expenditures
Geological and geophysical
Acquisitions
Dispositions
Net capital expenditures
Common shares (thousands)(2)
Weighted average – basic
Weighted average – diluted
Operating
Daily average production
Natural gas (MMcf/d)
Oil (bbl/d)
NGL (bbl/d)
Total (boe/d)
Average prices
Natural gas – before derivatives ($/Mcf)
Natural gas – including derivatives ($/Mcf)
Oil – before derivatives ($/bbl)
Oil – including derivatives ($/bbl)
NGL ($/bbl)
(1)
(2)

Q4 2016
17,940
4,740
3,326
0.06
20,379
0.39
0.37
7,044
25
7,069
(3)
–
1,248
8,314

Q3 2016

Q2 2016

Q1 2016

22,268
(1,710)
(602)
(0.01)
(10,919)
(0.21)
(0.21)

16,501
(3,396)
(1,852)
(0.04)
64,925
1.25
1.23

24,694
(6,770)
48
0.00
32,764
0.72
0.70

1,379
32
1,411
–
12
(954)
469

822
464
1,286
11
–
(20,052)
(18,755)

4,794
20
4,814
15
–
(6,466)
(1,637)

52,924
54,678

52,253
52,253

52,140
52,904

45,573
47,022

40.3
936
467
8,118

75.5
1,052
476
14,123

85.2
1,073
682
15,959

98.2
1,174
836
18,378

3.31
2.41
42.35
38.95
46.99

2.44
2.12
38.93
38.90
35.80

1.37
1.85
38.47
39.17
34.71

2.25
3.15
22.08
33.90
29.33

See “Non-GAAP measures” in this MD&A.
Common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the consolidation of outstanding common shares on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share on March 24, 2016. All common shares are net of shares held in trust.
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($ thousands, except where noted)
Financial
Oil and natural gas revenues
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities
Adjusted funds flow(1)
Per share – basic
Net income (loss)
Per share – basic
– diluted
Net capital expenditures
Exploration and development
Other
Capital expenditures
Geological and geophysical
Acquisitions
Dispositions
Net capital expenditures
Common shares (thousands)(2)
Weighted average – basic
Weighted average – diluted
Operating
Daily average production
Natural gas (MMcf/d)
Oil (bbl/d)
NGL (bbl/d)
Total (boe/d)
Average prices
Natural gas – before derivatives ($/Mcf)
Natural gas – including derivatives ($/Mcf)
Oil – before derivatives ($/bbl)
Oil – including derivatives ($/bbl)
NGL ($/bbl)
(1)
(2)

Q4 2015
33,044
11,980
362
0.05
(93,539)
(12.34)
(12.34)

Q3 2015

Q2 2015

Q1 2015

35,460
(2,803)
(2,514)
(0.33)
(67,139)
(8.89)
(8.89)

32,129
6,674
2,635
0.35
104,121
13.94
13.29

41,804
(3,445)
1,521
0.20
(32,717)
(4.41)
(4.41)

14,670
584
15,254
16
–
(2,630)
12,640

13,069
280
13,349
105
240
(21,337)
(7,643)

46,886
21
42,907
1,498
3
11
48,419

7,582
7,582

7,549
7,549

7,468
7,879

7,427
7,427

105.1
1,278
866
19,661

105.5
1,426
741
19,758

86.0
1,766
522
16,621

120.4
2,045
713
22,819

2.74
2.92
33.04
39.81
33.68

2.91
2.86
40.58
41.40
28.07

2.80
3.10
52.35
74.33
38.64

3.01
3.14
37.37
49.41
36.15

806
25
831
(93)
–
3
741

See “Non-GAAP measures” in this MD&A.
Common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the consolidation of outstanding common shares on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share on March 24, 2016. All common shares are net of shares held in trust.
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION
($ thousands, except per share amounts)

2016

Financial
Oil and natural gas revenue
Net income (loss)
Per share(1)
Cash flow from (used in) operating activities
Adjusted funds flow
Per share(1)(2)
Total assets
Total long term liabilities
Senior notes, at principal amount
Carrying amount of TOU share margin loans
Carrying amount of TOU share investment
Convertible debentures, at principal amount
Adjusted working capital deficiency (surplus)
Total net debt
Net capital expenditures
Exploration and development
Other
Capital expenditures
Geological and geophysical costs
Dispositions, net of acquisitions
Net capital expenditures
Common shares (thousands)(3)
End of period(4)
Weighted average - basic
Operating
Average production
Natural gas (MMcf/d)
Oil (bbl/d)
NGL (bbl/d)
Total average production (boe/d)
Average prices
Natural gas – before derivatives ($/Mcf)
Natural gas – including derivatives ($/Mcf)
Oil – before derivatives ($/bbl)
Oil – including derivatives ($/bbl)
NGL
Wells drilled
Natural gas – gross (net)
Crude oil – gross (net)
Total – gross (net)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

2015

2014

81,403
107,149
2.11
(7,136)
920
0.02
361,405
97,215
60,573
39,953
(66,343)
–
3,917
38,100

142,437
(89,274)
(11.75)
12,406
2,004
0.26
603,450
443,648
275,000
60,059
(145,275)
–
13,832
203,616

262,790
3,366
0.45
82,082
81,395
10.92
750,602
507,296
275,000
–
–
34,878
21,867
331,745

14,039
541
14,580
23
(26,212)
(11,609)

75,431
910
76,341
1,526
(23,710)
54,157

115,813
614
116,427
644
(70,351)
46,720

53,421
50,733

19,067
7,507

7,455
7,454

74.7
1,058
614
14,128

104.2
1,626
711
19,706

102.7
2,905
537
20,554

2.19
2.42
34.93
37.60
35.45

2.87
3.01
41.27
52.48
33.72

4.50
4.36
75.21
71.55
73.97

4 (4.0)
– (–)
4 (4.0)

6 (4.5)
– (–)
6 (4.5)

29 (20.9)
20 (17.8)
49 (38.7)

Based on weighted average shares outstanding for the year.
See “non-GAAP measure” in this MD&A.
Common shares and per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the consolidation of outstanding common shares on the basis of 20
common shares to one common share on March 24, 2016. All common shares are net of shares held in trust.
Reduced by shares held in trust (2016 – 260; 2015 – 47; and 2014 – 49). See “Note 17 to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”.
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OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Perpetual has no off balance sheet arrangements.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee regularly issue new and revised accounting
pronouncements which have future effective dates and therefore are not reflected in Perpetual’s financial statements. Once adopted these
new and amended pronouncements may have an impact on Perpetual’s consolidated financial statements. Perpetual’s analysis of recent
accounting pronouncements is included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Corporation is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. Each regulatory body, including the Toronto Stock
Exchange and the Canadian provincial securities commissions, has a different set of rules pertaining to corporate governance. The Corporation
fully conforms to the rules of the governing bodies under which it operates.

RISK FACTORS
The Corporation is exposed to business risks that are inherent in the oil and gas industry as well as those governed by the individual nature of
Perpetual’s operations. Risks impacting the business which influence controls and management of the Corporation include, but are not limited
to, the following:
•
•
•
•
•

geological and engineering risks;
the uncertainty of discovering commercial quantities of new reserves;
commodity prices, interest rate and foreign exchange risks;
competition; and
changes to government regulations including shut in of gas over bitumen assets, royalty regimes and tax legislation.

Perpetual manages these risks by:
•
•
•
•
•
•

attracting and retaining a team of highly qualified and motivated professionals who have a vested interest in the success of the
Corporation;
prudent operation of oil and natural gas properties;
employing risk management instruments and policies to manage exposure to volatility of commodity prices, interest rates and
foreign exchange rates;
maintaining a flexible financial position;
maintaining strict environment, safety and health practices; and
active participation with industry organizations to monitor and influence changes in government regulations and policies.

A complete discussion of risk factors is included in the Corporation’s 2016 AIF available on the Corporation’s website at
www.perpetualenergyinc.com or on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

DISCLOSURE
REPORTING

CONTROLS

AND

PROCEDURES

AND

INTERNAL

CONTROL

OVER

FINANCIAL

Perpetual’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Interim Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) have designed, or caused to be designed under their
supervision, disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and Internal controls over financial reporting (“ICOFR”) as defined in National
Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
Disclosure controls and procedures
The DC&P have been designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to Perpetual is made known to the CEO and
CFO by others and that information required to be disclosed by Perpetual in its annual filings, interim filing or other reports filed or submitted
by Perpetual under securities legislation.
Perpetual’s CEO and CFO have concluded, based on their evaluation at December 31, 2016, that DC&P are effective to provide reasonable
assurance that material information related to the issuer is made known to them by others within the Corporation, as such information is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported in the reports filed or sent to securities regulatory authorities within the time periods specified
under Canadian securities laws.
Management’s annual report on internal controls over financial reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate ICOFR, which is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
CEO and CFO, and effected by the board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
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Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the CEO and CFO, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the
internal control over financial reporting was conducted as of December 31, 2016 based on criteria described in “Internal Control – Integrated
Framework” issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment,
management determined that, as of December 31, 2016, the internal control over financial reporting was effective.
Changes to internal controls over financial reporting
There were no changes in the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting during the period beginning on January 1, 2016 and
ended December 31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.
CEO and CFO certifications
Perpetual’s CEO and CFO have filed with the Canadian securities regulators regarding the quality of Perpetual’s public disclosures relating to
its fiscal 2016 report filed with the Canadian securities regulators.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Perpetual makes assumptions in applying certain critical accounting estimates that are uncertain at the time the accounting estimate is made
and may have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements. Critical accounting estimates include oil and natural gas reserves,
derivative financial instruments, provisions, the amount and likelihood of contingent liabilities and income taxes. Critical accounting estimates
are based on variable inputs including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Estimation of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves and future cash flows from reserves;
Forward market prices;
Geological interpretations, success or failure of exploration activities, and Perpetual’s plans with respect to property and financial
ability to hold the property;
Risk free interest rates;
Estimation of future abandonment and reclamation costs;
Facts and circumstances supporting the likelihood and amount of contingent liabilities; and
Interpretation of income tax laws.

A change in a critical accounting estimate can have a significant effect on net income as a result of their impact on the depletion rate,
provisions, impairments, losses and income taxes. A change in a critical accounting estimate can have a significant effect on the value of
property, plant, and equipment, provisions, derivative financial instruments and accounts payable. A complete discussion of critical accounting
estimates is included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2016.

ADVISORIES
NON-GAAP MEASURES: This document contains the following non-GAAP financial measures which do not have any standardized meaning
prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. Non-GAAP measures
presented in this document should not be viewed as alternatives to measures of financial performance calculated in accordance with GAAP.
Adjusted funds flow: Management uses adjusted funds flow and adjusted funds flow per share to analyze operating performance and
leverage. Adjusted funds flow is cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital, settlement of
decommissioning obligations and certain E&E costs, but after payments on the gas over bitumen royalty financing and payments on
restructuring costs. Adjusted funds flow is not intended to represent cash flow from operating activities, net earnings or other measures of
financial performance calculated in accordance with IFRS. The Corporation previously referred to adjusted funds flow as “funds flow”.
Operating netback: Perpetual considers operating netback an important performance measure as it demonstrates its profitability relative to
current commodity prices. Operating netback is calculated by deducting royalties, operating costs, and transportation from realized revenue.
Operating netback is also calculated on a per boe basis using average boe production for the period. Operating netback on a per boe basis
can vary significantly for each of the Company’s operating areas.
Realized revenue: Realized revenue includes oil and natural gas revenue, realized gains (losses) on financial natural gas, crude oil and
foreign exchange contracts but excludes any realized gains (losses) resulting from contracts related to the disposition of the Shallow Gas
Properties. Realized revenue, excluding foreign exchange contracts is used by management to calculate the Corporation’s net realized
commodity prices taking into account monthly settlements on financial crude oil and natural gas forward sales, collars and basis differentials.
These contracts are put in place to protect Perpetual’s adjusted funds flow from potential volatility in commodity prices, and as such, any
related realized gains or losses are considered part of the Corporation’s realized price.
Gas over bitumen revenue, net of payments: Gas over bitumen revenue, net of payments, includes gas over bitumen revenue less
monthly payments on the gas over bitumen royalty financing. This is used by management to calculate the Corporation’s net realized gas over
bitumen revenue to reflect the substantive monetization of the future gas over bitumen royalty credits.
Adjusted working capital deficiency (surplus): Adjusted working capital deficiency (surplus) includes total current assets and current
liabilities excluding short-term derivative assets and liabilities related to the Corporation’s risk management activities, current portion of gas
over bitumen royalty financing, TOU (described below) share investment, current portion of the TOU share margin loans and current portion
of provisions.
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Net debt and net bank debt: Net bank debt is measured as current and long term bank indebtedness including adjusted working capital
deficiency (surplus). Net debt includes the carrying value of net bank debt, the TOU share margin loans and the principal amount of senior
notes reduced for the mark-to-market value of TOU shares held. Net bank debt and net debt are used by management to analyze borrowing
capacity.
Total capitalization: Total capitalization is equal to net debt plus market value of issued equity and is used by management to analyze
leverage. Total capitalization is not intended to represent the total funds from equity and debt received by the Corporation upon issuance.
VOLUME CONVERSIONS: Barrel of oil equivalent (“boe”) may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. In accordance with National
Instrument 51-101 (“NI 51-101”), a conversion ratio for natural gas of 6 Mcf:1 bbl has been used, which is based on an energy equivalency
conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. In addition, utilizing a
conversion on a 6 Mcf:1 bbl basis may be misleading as an indicator of value as the value ratio between natural gas and crude oil, based on
the current prices of natural gas and crude oil, differ significantly from the energy equivalency of 6 Mcf:1 bbl.
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION AND STATEMENTS: Certain information and statements contained in this MD&A including
management's assessment of future plans and operations and including the information contained under the heading “Outlook” may
constitute forward-looking information and statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws. This information and these statements
relate to future events or to future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking information
and statements. The use of any of the words “anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, “believe”,
“outlook”, “guidance”, “objective”, “plans”, “intends”, “targeting”, “could”, “potential”, “strategy” and any similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking information and statements.
In particular, but without limiting the foregoing, this MD&A contains forward-looking information and statements pertaining to the following:
the quantity and recoverability of Perpetual’s reserves; the timing and amount of future production; future prices as well as supply and
demand for natural gas, natural gas liquids (“NGL”) and oil; the existence, operations and strategy of the commodity price risk management
program; the approximate amount of forward sales and financial contracts to be employed, and the value of financial forward natural gas, oil
and other risk management contracts; net income and adjusted funds flow sensitivities to commodity price, production, foreign exchange and
interest rate changes; operating, general and administrative (“G&A”), and other expenses; the expected impact of the disposition of shallow
gas assets on future cash flows, the expected impact of cost-saving initiatives on operating and G&A expenses, expected interest savings from
Security Swap, expected net debt balance after Security Swap, the costs and timing of future abandonment and reclamation, asset retirement
and environmental obligations; the use of exploration and development activity, prudent asset management, and acquisitions to sustain,
replace or add to reserves and production or expand the Corporation’s asset base; the Corporation’s acquisition and disposition strategy and
the existence of acquisition and disposition opportunities, the criteria to be considered in connection therewith and the benefits to be derived
therefrom; Perpetual’s ability to benefit from the combination of growth opportunities and the ability to grow through the capital expenditure
program; expected compliance with credit facility covenants in 2017 and 2018; the retention of, and benefits to be received from holding the
TOU shares (as defined above); expected book value and related tax value of the Corporation’s assets and prospect inventory and estimates
of net asset value; adjusted funds flow; ability to fund exploration and development; the corporate strategy; expectations regarding
Perpetual’s access to capital to fund its acquisition, exploration and development activities; the effect of future accounting pronouncements
and their impact on the Corporation’s financial results; future income tax and its effect on adjusted funds flow; intentions with respect to
preservation of tax pools and taxes payable by the Corporation; funding of and anticipated results from capital expenditure programs; renewal
of and borrowing costs associated with the credit facility; future debt levels, financial capacity, liquidity and capital resources; future
contractual commitments; drilling, completion, facilities, construction and waterflood plans, and the effect thereof; the impact of Canadian
federal and provincial governmental regulation on the Corporation relative to other issuers; Crown royalty rates; Perpetual’s treatment under
governmental regulatory regimes; business strategies and plans of management including future changes in the structure of business
operations and debt reduction initiatives; and the reliance on third parties in the industry to develop and expand Perpetual’s assets and
operations.
The forward-looking information and statements contained in this MD&A reflect several material factors, expectations and assumptions of the
Corporation including, without limitation, that Perpetual will conduct its operations in a manner consistent with its expectations and, where
applicable, consistent with past practice; the general continuance of current or, where applicable, assumed industry conditions; the
continuance of existing, and in certain circumstances, the implementation of proposed tax, royalty and regulatory regimes; the ability of
Perpetual to obtain equipment, services, and supplies in a timely manner to carry out its activities; the accuracy of the estimates of
Perpetual’s reserve and resource volumes; the timely receipt of required regulatory approvals; certain commodity price and other cost
assumptions; the timing and costs of storage facility and pipeline construction and expansion and the ability to secure adequate product
transportation; the continued availability of adequate debt and/or equity financing and adjusted funds flow to fund the Corporation’s capital
and operating requirements as needed; and the extent of Perpetual’s liabilities.
The Corporation believes the material factors, expectations and assumptions reflected in the forward-looking information and statements are
reasonable but no assurance can be given that these factors, expectations and assumptions will prove to be correct. The forward-looking
information and statements included in this MD&A are not guarantees of future performance and should not be unduly relied upon. Such
information and statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ
materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking information or statements including, without limitation: volatility in market prices for
oil and natural gas products; supply and demand regarding Perpetual’s products; risks inherent in Perpetual’s operations, such as production
declines, unexpected results, geological, technical, or drilling and process problems; unanticipated operating events that can reduce
production or cause production to be shut-in or delayed; changes in exploration or development plans by Perpetual or by third party operators
of Perpetual’s properties; reliance on industry partners; uncertainties or inaccuracies associated with estimating reserves volumes; competition
for, among other things; capital, acquisitions of reserves, undeveloped lands, skilled personnel, equipment for drilling, completions, facilities
and pipeline construction and maintenance; increased costs; incorrect assessments of the value of acquisitions; increased debt levels or debt
service requirements; industry conditions including fluctuations in the price of natural gas and related commodities; royalties payable in
respect of Perpetual’s production; governmental regulation of the oil and gas industry, including environmental regulation; fluctuation in
foreign exchange or interest rates; the need to obtain required approvals from regulatory authorities; changes in laws applicable to the
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Corporation, royalty rates, or other regulatory matters; general economic conditions in Canada, the United States and globally; stock market
volatility and market valuations; limited, unfavorable, or a lack of access to capital markets, and certain other risks detailed from time to time
in Perpetual’s public disclosure documents. The foregoing list of risk factors should not be considered exhaustive.
The forward-looking information and statements contained in this MD&A speak only as of the date of this MD&A, and neither the Corporation
nor any of its subsidiaries assumes any obligation to publicly update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, unless expressly
required to do so by applicable securities laws.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT
The consolidated financial statements of Perpetual Energy Inc. (“the Company”) are the responsibility of Management and have been
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Management in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
the Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee.
The consolidated financial statements are audited and have been prepared using accounting policies in accordance with IFRS. The preparation
of Management’s Discussion and Analysis is based on the Company’s financial results which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. It
compares the Company’s financial performance in 2016 to 2015 and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes.
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s financial reporting. Management
believes that the system of internal controls that have been designed and maintained at the Company provide reasonable assurance that
financial records are reliable and form a proper basis for preparation of financial statements. The internal accounting control process includes
Management’s communication to employees of policies which govern ethical business conduct.
Internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective
can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
The Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee consisting of unrelated, non-management directors which meets at least four times
during the year with Management and independently with the external auditors and as a group to review any significant accounting, internal
control and auditing matters in accordance with the terms of the charter of the Audit Committee as set out in the Annual Information Form.
The Audit Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis before the consolidated
financial statements are submitted to the Board of Directors for approval. The external auditors have free access to the Audit Committee
without obtaining prior Management approval.
With respect to the external auditors, the Audit Committee approves the terms of engagement and reviews the annual audit plan, the
Auditors’ Report and results of the audit. It also recommends to the Board of Directors the firm of external auditors to be appointed by the
shareholders.
The independent external auditors, KPMG LLP, have been appointed by the Board of Directors on behalf of the shareholders to express an
opinion as to whether the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the Company’s financial position, financial
performance and cash flows in accordance with IFRS. The report of KPMG LLP outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion on the
consolidated financial statements.

Susan L. Riddell Rose
President &
Chief Executive Officer

William A. Hahn
Interim Chief Financial Officer &
Vice President, Finance

March 14, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Perpetual Energy Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Perpetual Energy Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements
of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive
income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Perpetual
Energy Inc. as at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the years then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Calgary, Canada
March 14, 2017
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PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2016

As at
(Cdn$ thousands)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash (note 9)
Accounts receivable (note 19)
Tourmaline Oil Corp. (“TOU”) share investment (note 4)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Fair value of derivatives (note 20)

$

Fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Exploration and evaluation (note 6)
Gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Fair value of derivatives (note 20)
TOU share margin loans (note 10)
Gas over bitumen royalty financing (note 12)
Provisions (note 13)

2,877
2,000
11,473
66,343
990
8,326

December 31, 2015

$

92,009

172,383

2,351
219,886
47,159
–

1,411
347,903
56,407
25,346

$

361,405

$

603,450

$

21,257
9,221
39,953
3,390
7,656

$

38,621

Fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Senior notes (note 11)
Gas over bitumen royalty financing (note 12)
Provisions (note 13)
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital (note 15)
Shares held in trust (note 17)
Share purchase rights (note 15)
Contributed surplus
Deficit

9,353
60,059
2,604
1,981

81,477

112,618

2,023
60,120
4,954
30,118

7,395
271,658
7,407
157,188

178,692

556,266

1,327,016
(1,311)
–
42,999
(1,185,991)

1,297,911
(1,177)
5,290
38,300
(1,293,140)

182,713

Total equity
$

Total liabilities and equity

2,116
–
19,532
145,275
3,141
2,319

361,405

47,184
$

603,450

Subsequent events (note 8).
Commitments (note 14).
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Robert A. Maitland
Director
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Geoffrey C. Merritt
Director
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PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
2016

(Cdn$ thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue
Oil and natural gas
Royalties

$

Change in fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Gas over bitumen royalty credit (note 3k)

81,403
(9,415)
71,988
18,041
1,984
92,013

Years Ended December 31,
2015

$

142,437
(16,344)
126,093
(11,437)
3,153
117,809

Expenses
Production and operating
Transportation
Exploration and evaluation (note 6)
General and administrative
Gains on dispositions (notes 5 and 6)
Restructuring costs (note 13)
Depletion and depreciation (note 5)
Impairment losses (reversal) (note 5b)
Income (loss) from operating activities

35,019
7,925
3,790
23,064
(27,770)
5,638
54,317
(6,900)
(3,070)

65,133
12,058
10,730
21,235
(146,632)
–
88,364
23,700
43,221

Finance expenses (note 18)
Gain on exchange of senior notes for TOU share investment (note 11)
Change in fair value of TOU share investment (note 4)
Loss on disposition of gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Share of net income of gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)

(24,847)
81,310
58,897
(6,165)
1,024
107,149

(27,890)
–
(104,828)
–
223
(89,274)

Income (loss) per share (note 15)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

2.11
1.98

$
$

(11.89)
(11.89)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.

2016 ANNUAL RESULTS

Page 38

PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Share capital

Shares held
in trust

Share purchase
rights

Contributed
surplus

(thousands)

($thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2015

19,115

$ 1,297,911

Net income

–
34,566
–

–
29,105

–

–

28

–

–

–

–

5,911

–

$ 42,999

Deficit

Total equity

(Cdn$ thousands)

Common shares issued (notes 15 and 17)
Change in shares held in trust (note 17)
Share based payments (note 16)
Balance at December 31, 2016

53,681

Share capital

(thousands)

$ 1,327,016

($thousands)

$

(1,177)

$

–
(162)

$ (1,311)

Shares held
in trust

5,290

$

38,300

–
(5,290)

$

$ (1,293,140)

$

47,184

–
(1,184)

107,149
–

(28)

–

–

–

5,911

$ (1,185,991)

Share
purchase
rights

Equity
component
of
convertible
debentures

Contributed
surplus

$

$

$

107,149
22,469

$ 182,713

Deficit

Total equity

$ (1,191,098)

$ 106,283

(Cdn$ thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2014
Net loss

7,504 $ 1,258,840

Common shares issued (notes 15 and 17)
Change in shares held in trust (note 17)
Share based payments (note 16)
Redemption of convertible debentures

–
165
–
–
11,446

Balance at December 31, 2015

19,115 $ 1,297,911

$

–
1,019
–
–

(1,387)
–
1,319
(1,109)
–
–

38,052
$

(1,177)

–
–
5,290
–
–
–

$

5,290

3,174
–
–
–
–
(3,174)

$

–

36,754
–
(2,239)
–
3,785
–

$

38,300

(89,274)
(12,768)
–
–
–
$ (1,293,140)

(89,274)
(7,379)
(1,109)
3,785
34,878
$

47,184

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31,
2016

2015

(Cdn$ thousands)
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to add (deduct) non-cash items:
Depletion and depreciation (note 5)
Exploration and evaluation (note 6)
Share based payments (note 16)
Change in fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Change in fair value of TOU share investment (note 4)
Gains on dispositions (note 5a)
Finance expenses (note 18)
Restructuring costs (note 13)
Gain on exchange of senior notes for TOU share investment (note 11)
Share of net income from gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Loss on disposition of gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Impairment losses (reversal) (note 5)
Expenditures on decommissioning obligations (note 13)
Dividends from gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Payments of restructuring costs (note 13)
Change in non-cash working capital (note 19)

$

107,149

$

54,317
2,727
5,911
(13,340)
(58,897)
(27,770)
10,156
5,638
(81,572)
(1,024)
6,165
(6,900)
(3,803)
501
(1,484)
(4,910)

88,364
6,338
3,774
16,063
104,828
(146,632)
(2,756)
–
–
(223)
–
23,700
(7,589)
–
–
15,813

(7,136)

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities

(89,274)

12,406

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
(26,613)
(2,164)
(162)
22,631
216

Change in TOU share margin loans (note 10)
Change in gas over bitumen royalty financing (note 12)
Shares purchased and held in trust (note 17)
Common shares issued
Change in non-cash working capital (note 19)

60,230
(3,704)
(1,109)
99
–

(6,092)

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities

55,516

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Net proceeds on dispositions (note 5a)
Net proceeds on dispositions - marketing arrangements (note 20)
Net proceeds on sale of gas storage facility investment (note 7)
Proceeds on sale of TOU share investment (note 4)
Restricted cash
Change in non-cash working capital (note 19)
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
$

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

(14,580)
(12)
6,521
(537)
19,703
7,354
(2,000)
(2,460)

(76,341)
(243)
23,953
–
–
8,557
6,552
(39,781)

13,989

(77,303)

761
2,116

(9,381)
11,497

2,877

$

2,116

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.

2016 ANNUAL RESULTS

Page 40

PERPETUAL ENERGY INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(All tabular amounts are in Cdn$ thousands, except where otherwise noted)

1.

REPORTING ENTITY

Perpetual Energy Inc. (the “Company”) is a Canadian corporation engaged in the exploration, development and marketing of oil and natural
gas based energy in Alberta, Canada. The Company operates a diversified asset portfolio that includes liquids-rich natural gas, shallow natural
gas and conventional heavy oil producing properties, as well as undeveloped bitumen resource properties.
The address of the Company’s registered office is 3200, 605 – 5 Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3H5.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are comprised of the accounts of Perpetual Energy Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries: Perpetual Operating Corp., Perpetual Operating Trust, and Perpetual Energy Operating Corp, which are incorporated in Canada.
On October 1, 2016, the Company disposed of all the shares in Perpetual Energy Operating Corp. (note 5).
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The consolidated financial statements of the Company were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 14, 2017.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the TOU share investment (note 4), TOU share
margin loans (note 10), gas over bitumen royalty financing (note 12), derivative financial instruments (note 20) and share purchase rights
(note 15) that have been measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
a)

Critical accounting judgments and significant estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. These
judgments, estimates, and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and all relevant information
available to the Company at the time of financial statement preparation. As the effect of future events cannot be determined with certainty
the actual results may differ from estimates. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised
and in any future periods affected.
Information about the critical judgments and significant estimates made by management are described below and also in the relevant notes
to the financial statements.
b)

Critical accounting judgments:

The following are the critical judgments that management has made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. These
judgments have the most significant effect on the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements.
i)

Cash-generating units (“CGUs”)

The Company allocates its oil and natural gas properties to CGUs identified as the smallest group of assets that generate cash flows
independent of the cash flows of other assets or groups of assets. Determination of the CGUs is subject to management’s judgement and
is based on geographical proximity, shared infrastructure, and similar exposure to market risk.
ii)

Identification of impairment indicators

Judgment is required to assess when impairment indicators exist and impairment testing is required. For the purposes of determining
whether impairment of petroleum and natural gas assets has occurred, and the extent of any impairment or its reversal, the key
assumptions the Company uses in estimating future cash flows are forecasted petroleum and natural gas prices, expected production
volumes, and anticipated recoverable quantities of proved and probable reserves. These assumptions are subject to change as new
information becomes available. Changes in economic conditions can also affect the rate used to discount future cash flow estimates.
Changes in the aforementioned assumptions could affect the carrying amounts of assets. Impairment charges and reversals are
recognized in profit or loss.
iii)

Componentization

For the purposes of depletion the Company allocates its oil and natural assets to components with similar useful lives and depletion
methods. The grouping of assets is subject to management’s judgment and is performed on the basis of geographical proximity and
similar reserve life. The Company’s oil and gas assets are depleted on a unit-of-production basis.
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iv)

Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Costs associated with acquiring oil and natural gas licenses and exploratory drilling are accumulated as exploration and evaluation
(“E&E”) assets pending determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability. Establishment of technical feasibility and
commercial viability is subject to judgment and involves management’s review of project economics, resource quantities, expected
production techniques, production costs and required capital expenditures to confirm continued intent to develop and extract the
underlying resources. Management uses the establishment of commercial reserves within the exploration area as the basis for
determining technical feasibility and commercial viability. Upon determination of commercial reserves, E&E assets attributable to those
reserves are tested for impairment and reclassified from E&E assets to a separate category within property, plant and equipment
referred to as oil and natural gas properties.
v)

Joint arrangements

Judgment is required to determine when the Company has joint control over an arrangement. In establishing joint control the Company
considers whether unanimous consent is required to direct the activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement, such as
the capital and operating activities of the arrangement.
Once joint control has been established judgment is also required to classify a joint arrangement. The type of joint arrangement is
determined through analysis of the rights and obligations arising from the arrangement by considering its structure, legal form, and
terms agreed upon by the parties sharing control. An arrangement where the controlling parties have rights to the assets and revenues,
and obligations for the liabilities and expenses, is classified as a joint operation. Arrangements where the controlling parties have rights
to the net assets of the arrangement are classified as joint ventures.
c)

Significant estimates:

The following assumptions represent the key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period. As future confirming events
occur the actual results may differ from estimated amounts.
i)

Reserves

The Company uses estimates of natural gas, oil, and natural gas liquids (“NGL” or “liquids”) reserves in the calculation of depletion and
also for value in use (“VIU”) and fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) calculations of non-financial assets. Estimates of economically
recoverable natural gas, oil, and liquids reserves and their future net cash flows are based upon a number of variable factors and
assumptions, such as geological, geophysical, and engineering assessments of hydrocarbons in place on the Company’s lands, historical
production from the properties, production rates, future commodity prices, ultimate reserve recovery, timing and amount of capital
expenditures, marketability of oil and natural gas, royalty rates, the assumed effects of regulation by government agencies and future
operating costs. The geological, economic and technical factors used to estimate reserves may change from period to period. Changes in
the reported reserves could have a material impact on the carrying values of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties, the
calculation of depletion and depreciation and the timing of decommissioning cash flows.
Reserve engineers are engaged at least annually to independently evaluate or review the recoverable quantities and estimated future
cash flows from the Company’s interest in petroleum and natural gas properties. This evaluation of proved and proved plus probable
reserves is prepared in accordance with the reserve definitions contained in National Instrument 51-101 and the COGE Handbook.
ii)

Provisions for decommissioning obligations

Decommissioning, abandonment, and site reclamation expenditures for production facilities, wells and pipelines are expected to be
incurred by the Company over many years into the future. Amounts recorded for decommissioning obligations and the associated
accretion are calculated based on estimates of the extent and timing of decommissioning activities, future site remediation regulations
and technologies, inflation, liability specific discount rates and related cash flows. The provision represents management’s best estimate
of the present value of the future abandonment and reclamation costs required. Actual abandonment and reclamation costs could be
materially different from estimated amounts.
iii)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are measured at fair value on each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received or paid to exit the position
as of the measurement date. The Company uses estimated external forward market price curves available at period end and the
contracted volumes over the contracted term to determine the fair value of each contract. Changes in market pricing between period end
and settlement of the derivative contracts could have a material impact on financial results related to the derivatives.
iv)

Gas over bitumen royalty financing

The gas over bitumen royalty financing is measured at fair value on each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be paid to exit
the position as of the measurement date.
The fair value of the gas over bitumen royalty financing is estimated by discounting future cash payments based on the forecasted
Alberta gas reference price multiplied by the contracted deemed volume. Changes in market pricing between period end and settlement
could have a material impact on financial results related to the gas over bitumen royalty financing.
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v)

TOU share margin loans

The fair value of the TOU share margin loans are estimated using market pricing for identical financial instruments adjusted for
provisions specific to the contract such as the maximum repayment amount and the notional amount of shares pledged as security.
Changes in the market pricing of the shares could have a material impact on the valuation of TOU share margin loans.
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these annual consolidated financial
statements, and have been applied consistently by the Company, its subsidiaries, and its equity accounted gas storage facility investment.
a)

Basis of consolidation
i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
ii)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for acquisitions of subsidiaries and assets that meet the definition of a business
under IFRS. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred
or assumed at the date of acquisition of control. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured at their recognized amounts (generally fair value) at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
recognized amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less
than the recognized amount of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized as a bargain purchase gain in net income or loss.
iii)

Joint venture

The Company’s investment in Warwick Gas Storage Limited Partnership (“WGS LP”) was structured through a separate vehicle whereby
joint control was established and the contractual arrangement provided the parties with rights to the net assets of WGS LP. The
Company’s investment in WGS LP was accounted for as an investment in a jointly controlled entity using the equity-method of
accounting.
On initial recognition of the investment, any excess of the Company’s share of the fair value of WGS LP’s net assets over the cost of the
investment was included in the determination of the Company’s share of WGS LP’s profit or losses. The Company’s share of WGS LP’s
profits or losses were recognized in net income or loss. Appropriate adjustments to the Company’s share of WGS LP profits or losses
were also made to account for depreciation of assets based on their fair values at the date of initial recognition. Dividends receivable
were recognized as a reduction to the carrying amount of the investment and were included in cash flows from operating activities.
An impairment loss in respect of an equity-method accounted investee is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the
investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, and is reversed if there is a favorable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
iv)

Joint operations

Many of the Company’s oil and natural gas activities involve jointly controlled operations which are not conducted through a separate
vehicle. The consolidated financial statements include the Company’s proportionate share of these jointly controlled assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses.
v)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
b)

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the statement of financial position. Subsequent measurement of financial
instruments is based on their initial classification into one of the following categories: financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities.
Financial instruments presented in the statement of financial position are shown net of offsetting assets or liabilities where the arrangement
provides or the legal right and intention for net settlement exists.
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i)

Financial assets
Financial Instrument
Accounts receivable
TOU share investment

Category
Loans and receivables
Financial assets

Subsequent Measurement
Amortized cost
Fair value through profit or loss

The Company’s accounts receivable are initially recognized on the date they originate and are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
The TOU share investment is a non-derivative financial instrument measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) as the
Company manages such investments and makes decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Company’s risk management
or investment strategy.
ii)

Financial liabilities

Financial Instrument
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Bank indebtedness
Senior notes
Gas over bitumen royalty financing
TOU share margin loans

Category
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities

Subsequent Measurement
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Fair value through profit or loss
Fair value through profit or loss

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness and senior notes are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
iii)

Derivative assets and liabilities

The Company has entered into certain financial derivative contracts in order to manage the exposure to market risks from fluctuations in
commodity prices and currency rates. The Company has not designated its financial derivative contracts as effective accounting hedges,
and thus not applied hedge accounting, even though the Company considers all commodity and currency contracts to be economic
hedges. As a result, all financial derivative contracts are designated as fair value through profit or loss and recorded as derivatives on the
statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in the fair value of the commodity price and currency rate derivatives are
recognized in net income or loss.
The Company has accounted for its forward physical delivery fixed-price sales contracts as derivative financial instruments. Accordingly,
such forward physical delivery fixed-price sales contracts are designated as fair value through profit or loss and recorded as derivatives
on the statement of financial position at fair value.
Transaction costs on derivatives are recognized in net income or loss when incurred.
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the
host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Changes in the fair value of separable embedded derivatives are recognized immediately in net income or loss.
iv)

Share capital

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net
of any tax effects.
c)

Property, plant and equipment
i)

Production and development costs

Items of property, plant and equipment, which include oil and natural gas development and production assets, are measured at cost less
accumulated depletion and depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The initial cost of property, plant and equipment includes
the purchase price or construction costs, costs that are directly attributable to bringing the asset into commercial operations, the initial
estimate of decommissioning costs, and borrowing costs for qualifying assets.
Significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment, including oil and natural gas properties, that have different useful lives
from the life of the area or facility in general, are accounted for as separate items.
Gains and losses on disposition of an item of property, plant and equipment, including oil and natural gas properties, are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposition with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognized in net income or
loss. The carrying amount of any replaced or disposed item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized.
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ii)

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to the determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability and the costs of replacing parts of
property, plant and equipment are recognized as property, plant and equipment only when they increase the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in net income or loss as incurred. Such
capitalized property, plant and equipment generally represent costs incurred in developing proved and/or probable reserves and bringing
on or enhancing production from such reserves, and are accumulated on a field or geotechnical area basis. The costs of the day-to-day
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in net income or loss as incurred.
iii)

Depletion and depreciation

The net carrying amount of development or production assets is depleted using the unit-of-production method by reference to the ratio
of production in the period to the related proved and probable reserves, taking into account estimated future development costs
necessary to bring those reserves into production and future decommissioning costs. Future development and decommissioning costs are
estimated taking into account the level of development required to produce the reserves. The future development cost estimates are
reviewed by independent reserve engineers at least annually.
Costs associated with office furniture, information technology, and leasehold improvements are carried at cost and are depreciated on a
straight line basis over a period ranging from one to three years.
Costs associated with abandonment equipment and turnaround equipment at major facilities are carried at cost and are depreciated on a
straight line basis over a period ranging from five to seven years.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each period end date for all classes of property, plant, and
equipment.
d)

Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Pre-license costs, geological and geophysical costs and lease rentals of undeveloped properties are recognized in net income or loss as
incurred.
E&E costs, consisting of the costs of acquiring oil and natural gas licenses, are capitalized initially as E&E assets according to the nature of the
assets acquired. Costs associated with drilling exploratory wells in an undeveloped area are capitalized as E&E costs. The costs are
accumulated in cost centers by well, field or exploration area pending determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability. When
technical feasibility and commercial viability are determined, the relevant expenditure is transferred to oil and gas properties after impairment
is assessed and any applicable impairment loss is recognized in net income or loss.
The Company’s E&E assets consist of undeveloped land, exploratory drilling assets, and bitumen evaluation assets. Gains and losses on
disposition of E&E assets are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposition with the carrying amount and are recognized in net
income or loss.
e)

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups consisting of assets and liabilities (“disposal groups”), are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Assets and liabilities qualifying as held for
sale must be available for immediate sale in their present condition subject to normal terms and conditions and their sale must be highly
probable.
Non-current assets, or disposal groups, are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal, with
impairments recognized in net income or loss. Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are presented in current assets and
liabilities within the statement of financial position. Assets held for sale are not subject to depletion and depreciation.
f)

Impairment
i)

Financial assets

Financial assets are assessed at each period end date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that they are impaired. A
financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognized in net income or loss. An impairment loss is reversed when there is objective evidence that the
value of the financial asset has been partially or fully restored. For financial assets measured at amortized cost the reversal is recognized
in net income or loss.
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ii)

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than E&E assets, are reviewed at each period end date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. E&E assets
are assessed for impairment when they are reclassified to property, plant and equipment, as oil and natural gas properties, and also if
facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together at a CGU level. The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is
determined based on the higher of its FVLCD and its VIU. FVLCD is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of a
CGU in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. The FVLCD of oil and gas properties is generally
determined as the net present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continued use of the CGU and its eventual
disposition, using assumptions that an independent market participant may take into account. These cash flows are discounted by an
appropriate discount rate which would be applied by such a market participant to arrive at a net present value of the CGU. In
determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. VIU is generally determined by reference to
the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from production of proved and probable reserves.
E&E assets are assessed for impairment both at the time of any triggering facts and circumstances as well as upon their eventual
reclassification to oil and natural gas properties in property, plant and equipment. If a test is required as a result of triggering facts and
circumstances, the Company considers whether the combined recoverable amount of oil and natural gas properties and E&E assets at
the total company level is sufficient to cover the combined carrying value of E&E and oil and natural gas assets.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU, including the related decommissioning obligation,
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses are recognized in net income or loss.
In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each period end date for any indication that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depletion and depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
g)

Shares held in trust

The Company has a compensation program whereby employees may be entitled to receive shares of the Company purchased on the open
market by a trustee controlled by the Company. Shares acquired and held by the trustee for the benefit of employees that have not yet been
issued to employees are presented as a separate category of equity. The balance of shares held in trust represents the cumulative cost of
shares held by the trustee. Upon the issuance of shares to the employee, the amount attributable to an employee is deducted from the
balance of shares held in trust and transferred to contributed surplus.
h)

Share based payments

Awards granted under share based payment plans and agreements are equity-settled and are measured at grant-date fair value. Fair values
are determined by means of an option pricing model using the exercise price of the equity instrument granted, the share price at the grant
date, the expected life of the grant based on the vesting date and expiry date, estimates of volatility and interest rates over its expected life.
A forfeiture rate is estimated on the grant date and is subsequently adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest.
The costs of the equity-settled share based payments are recognized within general and administrative expenses, or property, plant and
equipment to the extent they are directly attributable, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus over the vesting period. Upon
exercise or settlement of an equity-based instrument, consideration received and associated amounts previously recorded in contributed
surplus are recorded to share capital.
i)

Flow-through shares

Periodically, the Company finances a portion of its exploration and development activities through the issuance of flow through shares.
Resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploratory development activities funded by flow-through share
arrangements are renounced to investors in accordance with tax legislation. Flow-through shares issued are recorded in share capital at the
fair value of common shares on the date of issue. The premium received on issuing flow-through shares is initially recorded as a deferred
liability. As qualifying expenditures are incurred, the premium is reversed and a deferred income tax liability is recorded. The net amount is
then recognized as deferred income tax expense.
j)

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a current legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, which can be reliably
estimated, and will require the outflow of economic resources to settle the obligation. A non-current provision is determined using the
estimated future cash flows discounted at a rate that reflects current market conditions and liability specific risks.
i)

Decommissioning obligations

The Company’s activities give rise to dismantling, decommissioning and site disturbance remediation activities. A provision is made for
the estimated cost of site restoration and capitalized in the relevant asset category.
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Decommissioning obligations are measured at the present value of management’s estimate of expenditures required to settle the present
obligation at the statement of financial position date and using a risk free interest rate not adjusted for credit risk. Subsequent to the
initial measurement, the obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time, changes in the estimated future
cash flows underlying the obligation and changes in the risk free rate. The accretion of the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized in net income or loss whereas changes in the provision arising from changes in estimated cash flows or changes in the risk
free rate are capitalized. Actual costs incurred upon settlement of the decommissioning obligations are charged against the provision to
the extent the provision was established.
ii)

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provisions are recognized when the Company has developed a detailed formal plan for restructuring and has announced
the plan’s main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures
arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are not associated with the ongoing activities of the Company.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company from a contract are lower than
the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.
A provision for employee downsizing costs is recognized when the Company has announced the restructuring plan to those affected by
it, and can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits. The provision is measured on initial recognition at the Company’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.
k)

Revenue

Revenue and royalty expense from the sale of oil and natural gas is recorded when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
product are transferred to the buyer which is usually when legal title passes to the external party. This is generally at the time product enters
a third party transmission pipeline.
Royalty income is recognized as it accrues in accordance with the terms of the overriding royalty agreements.
The Company’s entitlement to gas over bitumen royalty adjustments under the Natural Gas Royalty Regulation (2004) with respect to
foregone production (deemed production) from gas wells shut-in for the benefit of bitumen producers in the Athabasca oil sands area, is
recognized as gas over bitumen revenue in the period that deemed production occurs, to the extent that they are expected to be recovered
through gas Crown royalties otherwise payable.
l)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred components. Income tax expense is recognized in net income or loss except to the
extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the period end
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will
be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each period end date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
m) Income or loss per share amounts
Basic income or loss per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. For the dilutive net income or loss per share calculation, the weighted average number of shares outstanding is
adjusted for the potential number of shares which may have a dilutive effect on net income or loss.
Diluted income or loss per share is calculated giving effect to the potential dilution that would occur if outstanding Share Options, Restricted
Rights, or Performance Share Units, were exercised or converted into common shares. The weighted average number of diluted shares is
calculated in accordance with the treasury stock method for Share Options, Restricted Rights and Performance Share Units and the ifconverted method for potentially issuable common shares through the convertible debentures. The treasury stock method assumes that the
proceeds received from the exercise of all potentially dilutive instruments are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price.
The if-converted method assumes conversion of convertible securities at the beginning of the reporting period.
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n)

Recent pronouncements issued

The Company will be required to adopt the following new standards and amendments as issued by the IASB. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact on the consolidated financial statements as discussed below.

4.

i)

In April 2016, the IASB issued its final amendments to IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which replaces IAS 18
“Revenue”, IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, and related interpretations. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based five-step model
to be applied to all contracts with customers. The standard requires an entity to recognize revenue to reflect the transfer of goods
and services for the amount it expects to receive, when control is transferred to the purchaser. Disclosure requirements have also
been expanded. The standard is required to be adopted either retrospectively or using a modified retrospective approach for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier adoption permitted. IFRS 15 will be applied by Perpetual on January 1,
2018. The Company is currently in the process of reviewing its various revenue streams and underlying contracts with customers to
determine the impact, if any, that the adoption of IFRS 15 will have on its financial statements, as well as the impact that adoption
of the standard will have on disclosure.

ii)

In July 2014, the IASB completed the final elements of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”. The standard supersedes earlier versions of
IFRS 9 and completes the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9
introduces a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value and replaces the
multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. For financial liabilities, IFRS 9 retains most of the
requirements of IAS 39; however, where the fair value option is applied to financial liabilities, any change in fair value resulting
from an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in OCI rather than the statement of income, unless this creates an accounting mismatch.
In addition, IFRS 9 introduces a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial assets, replacing the incurred
loss impairment model required by IAS 39. Perpetual does not anticipate that the new impairment model will result in material
changes to the valuation of its financial assets on adoption of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 also contains a new model to be used for hedge
accounting. The Company does not currently apply hedge accounting to its risk management contracts and does not currently
intend to apply hedge accounting to any of its existing risk management contracts on adoption of IFRS 9. The standard will come
into effect for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier adoption permitted. IFRS 9 will be applied on a
retrospective basis by Perpetual on January 1, 2018.

iii)

IFRS 16, “Leases” was issued in January 2016 and replaces IAS 17 “Leases”. Under the new standard, a single recognition and
measurement model for leases is introduced which would require the recognition of most leases with a term greater than twelve
months on the statement of financial position. The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” at or before the initial
adoption date of January 1, 2018. IFRS 16 will be applied by Perpetual on January 1, 2019 and the Company is currently evaluating
the impact of the standard on the financial statements.

TOU SHARE INVESTMENT
December 31, 2016
Shares
Amount

(thousands)
Balance, beginning of year
Acquired in sale of west Edson assets (note 5a)
Sold
Exchange for senior notes (note 11)
Unrealized change in fair value
Balance, end of year

$

$

6,500
–
(250)
(4,403)
–
1,847

($ thousands)
$

$

145,275
–
(7,354)
(130,475)
58,897
66,343

Shares

(thousands)
$

$

December 31, 2015
Amount

–
6,750
(250)
–
–
6,500

($ thousands)

$

$

–
258,660
(8,557)
–
(104,828)
145,275

On April 1, 2015, the Company received 6.75 million common shares of Tourmaline Oil Corp. (“TOU”), valued at $258.7 million in exchange
for the Company’s West Edson asset (note 5a).
TOU is engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development and production of petroleum and natural gas properties situated in western
Canada. TOU shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “TOU”.
During the second quarter of 2016, 4.4 million TOU shares valued at $130.5 million were exchanged for the Company’s senior notes (note
11).
At December 31, 2016, the Company held 1.85 million (December 31, 2015 – 6.5 million) TOU shares with a fair market value of $66.3 million
(December 31, 2015 - $145.3 million) based on a December 31, 2016 closing price of $35.91 per share (December 31, 2015 - $22.35). Net
income for the year ended December 31, 2016 includes an unrealized gain of $58.9 million (2015 – loss of $104.8 million) representing the
change in fair value of TOU shares held during the year.
Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Company sold 180,000 TOU shares for net cash proceeds of $5.7 million (note 10).
At December 31, 2016, 1.5 million TOU shares (December 31, 2015 – 6.5 million TOU shares) were pledged as security for the TOU share
margin loans (note 10).
As at December 31, 2016, a $1.00 per share increase in the market price of TOU shares would increase the Company’s after tax net income
by $1.8 million. The TOU share margin loans detailed in note 10 include put options that effectively protect the Company from potential TOU
share price decreases on 0.84 million TOU shares below $27.72 per share and 0.65 million TOU shares below $27.38 per share.
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5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Oil and Gas
Properties

Cost
December 31, 2014
Additions
Non-monetary additions
Change in decommissioning obligations (note 13)
Transfers from exploration and evaluation (note 6)
Acquisitions
Dispositions
December 31, 2015
Additions
Change in decommissioning obligations (note 13)
Dispositions
December 31, 2016

$

Corporate
Assets

2,633,900
69,086
3,700
(58,313)
692
3
(218,500)
2,430,568
14,170
5,213
(1,838,905)
611,046

$

$ (2,072,642)
(88,067)
105,096
(27,522)
(2,083,135)
(54,034)
1,738,830
6,900
$
(391,439)

$

$
$

$
$

$

$

Total

7,021
69
–
–
–
–
–
7,090
92
–
–
7,182

$

(6,323)
(297)
–
–
(6,620)
(283)
–
–
(6,903)

$

$

2,640,921
69,155
3,700
(58,313)
692
3
(218,500)
2,437,658
14,262
5,213
(1,838,905)
618,228

Accumulated depletion, depreciation and impairment losses
December 31, 2014
Depletion and depreciation
Dispositions
Impairment
December 31, 2015
Depletion and depreciation
Dispositions
Impairment reversal
December 31, 2016

$

$

(2,078,965)
(88,364)
105,096
(27,522)
(2,089,755)
(54,317)
1,738,830
6,900
(398,342)

$
$

347,903
219,886

Carrying amount
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2016

347,433
219,607

470
279

At December 31, 2016, property, plant and equipment included $1.4 million (December 31, 2015 – $6.1 million) of costs currently not subject
to depletion.
Future development costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $367.6 million (December 31, 2015 - $458.7 million) were included in the
depletion calculation.
a)

Dispositions

Net cash proceeds
Non-cash proceeds
Property, plant and equipment after net accumulated DD&A
Exploration and evaluation (note 6)
Decommissioning obligations (note 13)
Marketing arrangements related to shallow gas property disposition
Realized/unrealized changes to retained marketing arrangements

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
$
6,521
$
23,953
–
268,240
(100,075)
(113,404)
(6,851)
(34,096)
129,602
1,939
(3,184)
–
1,757
–

Gain on dispositions

$

27,770

$

146,632

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company received net cash proceeds of $6.5 million (2015 - $24.0 million) from dispositions
which were attributed to certain oil sands leases, non-core undeveloped lands, seismic data and idle production equipment.
On October 1, 2016, the Company disposed of a significant portion of the Company’s shallow gas properties in east central and northeast
Alberta (the “Shallow Gas Properties”) for nominal cash consideration and the assumption of $128.0 million of decommissioning obligations
associated with the Shallow Gas Properties, resulting in a gain on disposition of $19.2 million. In addition, the transaction included marketing
arrangements (described below) whereby the Company will receive additional consideration to the extent natural gas average monthly AECO
prices exceed $2.81/GJ on 33,611 GJ/d through to August 31, 2018. Additionally, the Company has retained price exposure on 33,611 GJ/d to
the extent average monthly AECO prices fall below $2.58/GJ for the April 2018 through August 2018 period.
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Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these marketing arrangements are recognized as adjustments to gains/losses on dispositions.
During the fourth quarter, $1.8 million of realized and unrealized net gains were recorded with respect to these arrangements.
At December 31, 2016, the retained shallow gas marketing arrangements has been summarized as follows:
Term
January 2017 – August 2018
April 2018 – August 2018

Volumes at AECO
(GJ/ d )
33,611
33,611

Floor price
($/ GJ )
–
2.58

Ceiling price
($/ GJ )
2.81
–

Fair Value
($ thousands )
4,811
(1,002)

On April 1, 2015, the Company sold its joint interest share in its West Edson assets in West Central Alberta in exchange for 6.75 million TOU
shares. Non-monetary gross proceeds of $258.7 million were calculated based on the market value of the TOU shares determined using the
April 1, 2015 closing price on the Toronto Stock Exchange.
The Company undertook additional property transactions throughout 2015 including the disposition of certain fee simple lands in east central
Alberta and related seismic data, for net cash proceeds of $21.0 million. The Company also disposed of its interest in certain non-core
undeveloped lands for cash proceeds of $1.2 million and executed an asset swap to acquire an increased interest in existing reserves as well
as undeveloped acreage in its core East Edson property in exchange for its working interest in certain undeveloped lands and net cash
proceeds of $1.8 million.
b)

Cash-generating units, impairments and reversals

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company conducted an assessment of impairment indicators for the Company’s CGUs. In
performing the review, management determined that the disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties justified calculation of the recoverable
amount of the Athabasca CGUs (renamed Northern CGU). In addition, technical revisions to Mannville heavy oil reserves related to improved
recovery methods along with realized lower operating and capital efficiencies justified a review for impairment reversals for the Birchwavy
East CGU (renamed Eastern CGU). The Company determined the recoverable amount of Northern and Eastern CGUs using VIU based on the
net present value of cash flows from oil, natural gas, and NGL reserves using estimates of total proved plus probable reserves evaluated or
reviewed by the Company’s independent reserves evaluators along with the associated year end commodity price forecast, and an estimate of
market discount rates between 12 and 20 percent to consider risks specific to the asset.
At December 31, 2016, the Company recorded a net impairment reversal of $6.9 million to net income which was comprised of the following:
•
•

The Company determined that the carrying amount of the Northern CGU exceeded the recoverable amounts. Accordingly, an
impairment charge of $5.8 million was included in net income; and
The Company determined that the recoverable amount of the Eastern CGU exceeded its carrying amount by $15.9 million;
accordingly, a reversal of $12.7 million was recognized in net income representing the full reversal of previously recorded
impairments adjusted for depletion.

The independent reserves evaluator’s commodity price estimates were used in the VIU calculations as at December 31, 2016:
WTI Crude Oil
Year
(US$/bbl)
2017
55.00
2018
58.70
2019
62.40
2020
69.00
2021
75.80
2022
77.30
2023
78.80
2024
80.40
2025
82.00
2026
83.70
2027
85.30
2028
87.00
2029
88.80
2030
90.60
2031
92.40
Escalate 2.0 percent per year thereafter

USD/CDN exchange rate
(US$/Cdn$)
0.75
0.78
0.80
0.83
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85
0.85

Alberta heavy crude oil
(Cdn$/bbl)
46.50
50.50
54.00
58.00
61.90
63.10
64.40
65.60
67.00
68.40
69.60
71.10
72.50
74.00
75.40

AECO natural gas
(Cdn$/mmbtu)
3.40
3.15
3.30
3.60
3.90
3.95
4.10
4.25
4.30
4.40
4.50
4.60
4.65
4.75
4.85

At December 31, 2015, management determined that the recent declines in commodity pricing and the impact these declines have on the
economic performance of the Company justified calculation of the recoverable amount for all CGUs. The Company determined that the
carrying amount of the Birchwavy East and Birchwavy West CGUs exceeded their recoverable amounts using similar methodology, sources of
inputs and discount rates as were used at December 31, 2016. Accordingly, an impairment charge of $9.0 million was included in net income.
2015 impairment losses also included $14.7 million related to de-recognition of the Company’s gas over bitumen CGU, comprised of $18.5
million related to the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment offset by a $3.8 million reduction of the gas over bitumen provision
for estimated future repayments of gas over bitumen credits received.
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6.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION
$

Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Acquisitions
Dispositions (note 5a)
Non-cash exploration and evaluation expense
Non-monetary additions
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Balance, end of year

$

2016
56,407
318
12
(6,851)
(2,727)
–
–
47,159

$

$

2015
84,227
7,186
240
(34,096)
(6,338)
5,880
(692)
56,407

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company disposed of $6.9 million in undeveloped lands mainly in connection with the
disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties (note 5a).
During the year ended December 31, 2016, $1.1 million (2015 – $4.4 million) in costs were charged directly to E&E expense in net income
(loss).
7.

GAS STORAGE FACILITY INVESTMENT

The Company owned a 30 percent partnership interest in the WGS LP gas storage facility located in Alberta, Canada that was accounted for
using the equity-method.
On May 25, 2016, the Company disposed of its interest in WGS LP for net cash proceeds of $19.7 million, resulting in a net loss on disposition
of $6.2 million.
Prior to the disposition, transactions between the Company and WGS LP totaled $0.6 million in 2016 (2015 - $1.6 million) consisting primarily
of fees earned for the provision of management and operational services. This service agreement between the Company and WGS LP was
terminated concurrent with the disposition. The Company received dividends of $0.5 million which were declared and received by WGS LP
prior to the disposition (2015 - nil).
Summary financial information for the Company’s equity method gas storage facility investment is as follows:
For the period ended

May 25, 2016
$

Revenue
Depreciation
Other expenses
Unrealized gain (loss) on gas storage obligation derivative
Net income (loss)
Share of net income (loss)
Amortization of fair value adjustment on acquisition of interest in WGS LP
Share of net income (loss) of equity method investment
8.

$

6,756
(1,398)
(2,511)
623
3,470
1,041
(17)
1,024

December 31, 2015
$

$

10,251
(3,440)
(9,881)
4,023
953
286
(63)
223

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s goal is to maintain a strong capital base so as to retain investor, creditor and market confidence and to support the execution
of the Company’s business plan. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to its capital spending in light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying oil and natural gas assets. The Company considers its capital structure to
include share capital, senior notes, bank indebtedness, TOU share margin loans and net working capital (note 9), with value and liquidity
enhanced through the current ownership of TOU shares.
With the deterioration of commodity prices continuing in 2016, the Company was focused on liquidity management and preservation of its
balance sheet by restricting capital spending, reducing costs and maximizing efficiencies in administration and operations. A diligent focus on
reductions in all areas of spending, including operating, financing and administrative costs, will continue in order to establish a sustainable
cost structure in this low commodity price environment.
At December 31, 2016, the majority of the Company’s debt is in the form of senior notes with maturities in 2018 and 2019. Obligations which
will require settlement or extension in 2017 include the reserve based credit facility on April 28, 2017 and two TOU share margin loans
maturing March 14, 2017 and November 16, 2017 which can be repaid in cash or through settlement with the TOU shares pledged as
security.
Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Company completed a number of financing transactions to strengthen Perpetual’s liquidity and debt
repayment profile and secure funding for the Company’s 2017 and 2018 business plan. The significant financing transactions are as follows:
•
•

Partial repayment and refinancing of its existing TOU share put option margin loan previously maturing in March 2017, reducing the
loan amount outstanding to $18.9 million, extending the maturity to August 1, 2017 and increasing the number of shares pledged
as collateral to 0.9 million TOU shares, with a new floor price on these shares of $21.14 per TOU share (note 10);
Exchange of $17.4 million aggregate principal amount of its existing senior notes maturing in 2018 and 2019 for new 8.75% senior
notes having an extended maturity date of January 23, 2022 (the “2022 Senior Notes”) (note 11);
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•

•

•
•

Establishment of a $45 million second lien senior secured term loan facility (the “Second Lien Facility”) bearing annual interest at
8.1 percent and maturing March 14, 2021. The initial draw on the Second Lien facility was $35 million with the remaining $10
million to be drawn prior to November 30, 2017. In addition, for no additional consideration, 5.4 million warrants were issued which
entitle the holder to acquire common shares on a one for one basis for a period of up to three years, at an exercise price of $2.34
per share, equal to a 45 percent premium to the volume weighted average trading price of the common shares for the ten trading
days prior to the date of issue of the warrants on March 14, 2017;
Issuance of 5.1 million common shares and 1.1 million warrants to purchase common shares on the same terms and conditions as
above (collectively, the “Equity Units”) at $1.75 per Equity Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $9 million. Included in the issuance
were 1.6 million common shares and 0.4 million warrants issued to directors and officers of the Company or entities controlled by
them, for proceeds of $2.9 million (note 15);
Extension of the Company’s current bank lending arrangements to October 31, 2017, while providing for a $14 million increase in
total borrowing capacity under the credit facility to $20 million (note 9); and
Issuance of a notice for the early redemption of all of the $27.6 million aggregate outstanding principal amount of its 8.75% senior
notes maturing March 15, 2018, effective April 15, 2017. The redemption amount payable will be either: CDN $1,000 for each
$1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes; or at the election of an eligible holder and subject to the limitations described in the
notice, $1,000 principal amount of 2022 Senior Notes for each $1,000 principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes.

The Company will continue to regularly assess changes to its capital structure and repayment alternatives, with considerations for both short
term liquidity and longer term financial sustainability.
9.

BANK INDEBTEDNESS

As at December 31, 2016, the Company had a reserve based, revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with a borrowing limit (the
“Borrowing Limit”) of $6.0 million (2015 - $20.0 million) under which $4.0 million of letters of credit had been drawn (2015 - $5.4 million).
The Credit Facility matures on April 28, 2017. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at its lenders’ prime rate or Banker’s
Acceptance rates, plus applicable margins and standby fees. The applicable margins range between 1.25% and 4.75%. Borrowings are
secured by general security agreements covering all of the Company’s assets with the exception of TOU shares pledged as security for the
TOU share margin loans (note 10) and certain lands pledged to the gas over bitumen royalty financing counterparty (note 12). As at
December 31, 2016, the Company had pledged restricted cash of $2.0 million in favor of its lender as additional security.
The Credit Facility is subject to a working capital covenant which requires the Company to maintain net working capital plus outstanding
letters of credits to not exceed the Borrowing Limit. Net working capital includes the sum of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and unpledged TOU shares less accounts payable and accrued liabilities and accrued interest on senior
notes up to the Credit Facility maturity date. The Company was in compliance with all Credit Facility covenants at December 31, 2016.
The credit facility also contains provisions which restrict the Company’s ability to pay dividends on or repurchase its common shares.
On February 8, 2017, the Company’s lender released the restricted cash and on March 8, 2017, increased the Credit Facility Borrowing Limit
to $20.0 million and extended its maturity to October 31, 2017. The next Borrowing Limit redetermination will occur on or before May 31,
2017.
10. TOU SHARE MARGIN LOANS

$

TOU share put option margin loans
TOU margin loans
Total TOU share margin loans

$

Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
$
18,059
39,953
–
42,000
39,953
$
60,059

At December 31, 2016, the Company has TOU share margin loans with two lenders for which TOU shares have been pledged as collateral.
Under these TOU share margin loans, the Company effectively purchased embedded TOU put options from the lender (“TOU share put option
margin loans”). TOU share put option margin loans bear interest based on fixed interest rates, plus the cost of purchasing the embedded TOU
put option, if applicable.
At December 31, 2016, $23.2 million (December 31, 2015 - $18.1 million) TOU share put option margin loans mature in March 2017 and
$16.8 million (December 31, 2015 – nil) mature in November 2017. For the March 2017 maturity, 0.84 million (December 31, 2015 – 1.0
million) TOU shares have been pledged as collateral with a put option floor price of $27.72 per share (December 31, 2015 – $21.32 per
share). For the November 2017 maturity, 0.65 million TOU shares have been pledged as collateral with a put option floor price of $27.38 per
share.
At December 31, 2015, 5.5 million TOU shares had been pledged as collateral for the $42.0 million TOU margin loans. The TOU margin loans
bear interest based on floating interest rates.
The TOU share put option margin loans are hybrid financial instruments comprising a debt host with an embedded TOU put option derivative
related to indexation of the future settlement amount to changes in the market price of TOU shares pledged as collateral. The Company has
designated the TOU share put option margin loans as financial liabilities which are measured at fair value through profit and loss. For the year
ended December 31, 2016, an unrealized loss of $6.5 million (December 31, 2015 – unrealized gain of $0.2 million) is included in finance
expense, representing the change in fair value of the TOU put options during the year.
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Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Company sold 180,000 TOU shares for net cash proceeds of $5.7 million which was applied as a
reduction to the TOU share put option margin loan set to expire in March 2017. The remaining balance was extended to August 1, 2017
subject to a maximum payment of $18.9 million at maturity. The number of shares pledged as collateral was increased to 0.9 million with the
floor price being reset to $21.14 per TOU share.
11. SENIOR NOTES
December 31, 2016

2018 senior notes
2019 senior notes

Maturity date

Interest
rate

March 15, 2018
July 23, 2019

8.75%
8.75%

December 31, 2015

Principal

Carrying Amount

Principal

Carrying amount

$ 36,013
24,560
$ 60,573

$ 35,847
24,273
$ 60,120

$ 150,000
125,000
$ 275,000

$ 148,724
122,934
$ 271,658

During the second quarter of 2016, the Company repurchased and cancelled $114.0 million of outstanding 2018 Senior Notes and $100.4
million of outstanding 2019 Senior Notes through the exchange of 4.4 million TOU shares and cash payments of $3.9 million for accrued
interest (the “Security Swap”). The fair market value of TOU shares exchanged was $130.5 million based on an average closing price of
$29.64 per share. Included in the exchange were $81.6 million 2018 Senior Notes and $57.0 million 2019 Senior Notes held by directors and
officers of the Company or entities controlled by them. The Company recorded a net gain on the Security Swap of $81.3 million, representing
the difference between the carrying amount of senior notes cancelled of $212.0 million ($214.4 million principal amount) and the fair market
value of TOU shares exchanged of $130.5 million, net of transaction costs.
On January 23, 2017, the Company exchanged $8.4 million and $9.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2018 Senior Notes and 2019
Senior Notes respectively for $17.4 million new 8.75% senior notes with a maturity date of January 23, 2022. Included in the exchange were
$3.7 million 2018 Senior Notes and $4.3 million 2019 Senior Notes held by directors and officers of the Company or entities controlled by
them. The 2022 Senior Notes bear a fixed rate of 9.75% for the first year of issuance and 8.75% thereafter, and have identical covenants and
rights as the existing 2018 and 2019 Senior Notes. After giving effect to the exchange, outstanding senior notes are as follows:

2018 senior notes
2019 senior notes
2022 senior notes(1)
(1)

Maturity date

Interest rate(1)

Payment dates

Principal

March 15, 2018
July 23, 2019
January 23, 2022

8.75%
8.75%
8.75%

March 15 & September 15
January 23 & July 23
January 23 & July 23

$ 27,617
15,572
17,384
$ 60,573

Annual interest rate for the first year is 9.75% and then 8.75% thereafter.

The senior notes are direct senior unsecured obligations of the Company, ranking pari passu with all other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated indebtedness of the Company. At any time prior to three years before the senior note maturity date, the Company can
redeem up to 35 percent of the principal amount of the senior notes at a premium to face value. Within three years of maturity, the Company
may redeem up to 100 percent of the senior notes at a premium to face value. Within one year of maturity, the Company may redeem up to
100 percent of the senior notes at the principal amount. On March 15, 2017, the Company issued a notice for early redemption of all
outstanding 2018 senior notes (note 8).
The senior notes have a cross-default provision with the Company’s credit facility (note 9a). In addition, the senior notes indenture contains
restrictions on certain payments including dividends, retirement of subordinated debt and stock repurchases. The permitted amount of any
restricted payment is limited to:
i)

To the extent the Company’s Consolidated Debt (defined as the sum of the Company’s period end balance of bank indebtedness,
TOU share margin loans and gas over bitumen royalty financing) Ratio is less than 3.0 to 1.0, the sum of 50 percent of income
before interest, taxes, depletion and depreciation and non-cash items from January 1, 2011 to the end of the most recently
completed fiscal quarter plus 100 percent of the fair market value of any equity contributions made to the Company during that
period less the sum of all restricted payments during that period; and

ii)

To the extent the Company’s Consolidated Debt Ratio is greater than or equal to 3.0 to 1.0 pro forma for the proposed restricted
payment, $50 million plus 100 percent of the fair market value of any equity contributions made to the Company.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2016.
At December 31, 2016 the senior notes are presented net of $0.5 million (December 31, 2015 - $3.3 million) in issue costs which are
amortized using a weighted average effective interest rate of 9.2 percent.
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12. GAS OVER BITUMEN ROYALTY FINANCING
December 31, 2016
$
10,011
(2,164)
497
$
8,344

Balance, beginning of year
Payments
Change in fair value
Balance, end of year

$

Gas over bitumen royalty financing – current
Gas over bitumen royalty financing – non-current

$

3,390
4,954
8,344

December 31, 2015
$
15,390
(3,704)
(1,675)
$
10,011
$
$

2,604
7,407
10,011

In 2014, the Company entered into an agreement whereby the Company received cash proceeds of $21.3 million in exchange for an
obligation to make a monthly cash payment equivalent to a portion of the Company’s monthly gas over bitumen royalty adjustment
entitlements until final expiries in June 2021. Monthly payments under the arrangement are due on the 25th day following the entitlement
month.
At the inception of the arrangement, the estimated future payments were determined using the same formula as the Company’s monthly gas
over bitumen royalty adjustment entitlements under the Alberta Natural Gas Royalty Regulation based on a January 1, 2014 forecast for the
Alberta gas reference price (“base cash payment”). In the event that the actual Alberta gas reference price for a month causes the actual
monthly cash payment under the arrangement to differ from the base cash payment, the Company is required to (a) pay 65 percent of any
increase from the base cash payment, or (b) deduct 100 percent of any decrease from the base cash payment. Security for the gas over
bitumen royalty financing is provided by an interest in certain lands of the Company and by the Company’s entitlement to future gas over
bitumen royalty adjustments.
The gas over bitumen royalty financing is a hybrid financial instrument comprised of a debt host with an embedded derivative related to
indexation of the future cash payments to changes in the future Alberta gas reference price. The Company has designated the gas over
bitumen royalty financing as a financial liability which is measured at fair value through profit and loss. For the year ended December 31,
2016, an unrealized loss of $0.5 million (December 31, 2015 – unrealized gain of $1.7 million) is included in finance expense related to the
change in fair value of the gas over bitumen royalty financing.
As at December 31, 2016, if future natural gas prices changed by $0.25 per GJ with all other variables held constant, the fair value of the gas
over bitumen royalty financing and after tax net loss for the period would change by $0.9 million (December 31, 2015 - $1.2 million).
13. PROVISIONS
2016
$ 159,169
177
(129,602)
10,184
(5,148)
(3,803)
2,643
33,620
4,154
$ 37,774

Decommissioning obligations, beginning of year
Obligations incurred
Obligations disposed (note 5a)
Change in risk free rate
Change in estimates
Obligations settled
Accretion (note 18)
Decommissioning obligations, end of year
Restructuring costs (b)
Balance, end of year
Provisions – current
Provisions – non-current

a)

$

7,656
30,118
37,774

$

2015
222,976
1,442
(1,939)
617
(60,372)
(7,589)
4,034
159,169
–
159,169

$

1,981
157,188
159,169

$

Decommissioning obligations

Total future decommissioning obligations are estimated based on the Company’s net ownership interest in all wells and facilities, estimated
costs to reclaim and abandon these wells and facilities and the estimated timing of the costs to be incurred in future periods.
The Company adjusts the decommissioning obligations on each period end date for changes in the risk free interest rate. Accretion is
calculated on the adjusted balance after taking into account additions and dispositions to property, plant, and equipment. Decommissioning
obligations are also adjusted for revisions to future cost estimates and the estimated timing of costs to be incurred in future years.
During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company achieved efficiencies and cost savings by utilizing internal labor and
equipment rather than third party services for various stages of reclamation and abandonment. This resulted in a revision to estimated future
abandonment liabilities for all oil and natural gas assets.
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The following significant assumptions were used to estimate the Company’s decommissioning obligations:
December 31, 2016
$
37,877
2.3%
1.5%
1 to 25 years

Undiscounted obligations
Average risk free rate
Inflation rate
Expected timing of settling obligations
b)

December 31, 2015
$
179,325
2.3%
1.5%
1 to 25 years

Restructuring costs
Employee
downsizing costs
$
–
2,926
(1,320)
1,606

Balance, beginning of year
Recognized in 2016
Payments in 2016
Balance, end of year
Restructuring costs – current
Restructuring costs – non-current
Total

1,606
–
1,606

$

Onerous office
lease contract
$
–
2,712
(164)
2,548
2,038
510
2,548

$

$

$

Total
–
5,638
(1,484)
4,154
3,644
510
4,154

As a result of the Company’s disposition of the Shallow Gas Properties on October 1, 2016 (note 5), the Company’s employee base and office
space requirements were significantly reduced. Restructuring costs of $5.6 million were expensed, comprised of employee downsizing costs of
$2.9 million and office lease obligations associated with surplus office space of $2.7 million. Payments made in 2016 with respect to
restructuring costs were $1.5 million.
The unused corporate office space is recorded as an onerous contract as the unavoidable costs associated with the lease contract exceed the
expected economic benefits to be received.
14. COMMITMENTS
At December 31, 2016, the Company’s contractual obligations over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
Contractual repayments of
financial liabilities ($ thousands)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Fair value of derivatives
TOU share margin loans
Senior notes – principal(1)
Gas over bitumen royalty financing
Drilling commitments
Pipeline transportation commitments
Office and other operating lease commitments
Total
(1)

2017
21,257
9,221
39,953
–
3,390
3,000
7,099
4,049
87,969

2018
–
2,023
–
27,617
2,416
–
9,454
1,022
42,532

2019
–
–
–
15,572
1,600
–
8,525
14
25,711

2020
–
–
–
–
615
–
4,824
–
5,439

2021 and
Thereafter
–
–
–
17,384
323
–
2,336
–
20,043

Total
21,257
11,244
39,953
60,573
8,344
3,000
32,238
5,085
181,694

Senior Note contractual obligations reflect the exchange of $8.4 million 2018 Senior Notes and $9.0 million 2019 Senior Notes for $17.4 million 2022 Senior
Notes completed on January 23, 2017 (note 11).

15. SHARE CAPITAL
December 31, 2016
Shares
Amount

(thousands)
Balance, beginning of year
Flow-through shares
Issued pursuant to share purchase rights
Issued pursuant to share based payment plans
Redemption of convertible debentures
Balance, end of year
a)

19,115
491
33,268
807
–
53,681

($ thousands)
$

$

1,297,911
839
27,082
1,184
–
1,327,016

December 31, 2015
Shares
Amount

(thousands)
7,504
–
–
165
11,446
19,115

($ thousands)
$

$

1,258,840
–
–
1,019
38,052
1,297,911

Authorized

Authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. On March 24, 2016, shareholders of the Company approved the
consolidation of common shares on the basis of 20 common shares to one common share, which has been retroactively applied throughout
these consolidated financial statements.
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b)

Flow through shares

On November 17, 2016, the Company issued 0.5 million flow-through shares at a price of $2.15 per share for total gross cash proceeds of
$1.1 million. The implied premium received in excess of the fair value of the common shares on the date of issue was $0.2 million or $0.44
per share and has been recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities pending the incurrence of qualified exploration and development
expenditures by the Company. As at December 31, 2016 the Company was committed to spend $1.1 million on qualified exploration
expenditures by December 31, 2017. The expenditures have been incurred in 2017 and renounced to investors with an effective renunciation
date of December 31, 2016.
c)

Share purchase rights

On December 7, 2015, the Company filed a short form prospectus with the security regulatory authorities in connection with a rights offering to
issue common shares of the Company for gross proceeds of $25 million. The rights offering was fully backstopped by an entity controlled by the
Chairmen of the Company’s Board of Directors.
Pursuant to the rights offering, each registered holder of common shares as of December 16, 2015 received one right (a “Share Purchase Right”) for
each common share held. Each Share Purchase Right entitled the holder to acquire 0.2169 common shares upon payment of the exercise price of
$3.26 per Share Purchase Right. The number of common shares received for each Share Purchase Right was calculated following the close of
trading of the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on December 22, 2015 based upon the volume weighted average price of the
common shares for the preceding 20 consecutive trading days, being November 25, 2015 through to and including December 22, 2015.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a gain of $7.5 million included in non-cash finance expense (note 18) related to the
change in the carrying amount of the Share Purchase Rights derivative between filing of the prospectus on December 7, 2015 and determination
of the number of common shares to be issued for each Share Purchase Right on December 22, 2015.
Upon closing of the rights offering on January 18, 2016, the Company issued an aggregate of 33.3 million common shares of the Company including
21.4 million issued to entities controlled by the Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors for proceeds of $16.1 million.
d)

Redemption of convertible debentures

On December 31, 2015, the Company redeemed all of the outstanding 7.00% Convertible Debentures. The Company elected to satisfy the
total principal amount of $34.9 million through the issuance of 11.4 million common shares in accordance with the indenture agreement.
e)

Per share information

(thousands, except per share amounts)

$

Net income (loss) – basic
Effect of dilutive securities
Net income (loss) – diluted

$

Weighted average shares
Issued common shares
Effect of shares held in trust (note 17)
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic
Effect of dilutive securities
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
107,149
$
(89,274)
–
–
107,149
$
(89,274)
50,985
(252)
50,733
3,305
54,038

$
$

Income (loss) per share - basic
Income (loss) per share - diluted

2.11
1.98

7,598
(91)
7,507
–
7,507
$
$

(11.89)
(11.89)

In computing per share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2016, 1.5 million potentially issuable common shares through the share
based compensation plans (2015 – 0.1 million) were excluded because they were anti-dilutive.
f)

Warrants and equity private placement

On March 14, 2017, 5.1 million common shares and 6.5 million common share warrants were issued in connection with the issuance of the
Second Lien Facility and private placement of common shares (note 8). Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire common shares on a one
for one basis at an exercise price of $2.34 per share prior to March 14, 2020.
16. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Concurrent with the share consolidation, the Company’s Board of Directors approved modifications to existing share based compensation
agreements with directors, officers and employees of the Company. For the year ended December 31, 2016, incremental share based compensation
expense associated with the modifications totalled $2.0 million.
a)

Share Option Plan

The Share Option Plan provides a long-term incentive to employees and directors to reward them on the basis of the Company’s long-term
performance. The Board of Directors administers the Share Option Plan and determines participants, number of Share Options and terms of
vesting. The exercise price of the Share Options granted shall not be less than the value of the weighted average trading price for the
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Company’s common shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant. Share Options granted have a maximum term
of 5 years and vest evenly on each of the first, second, third and fourth grant anniversary dates.
Participants in the Share Option Plan may offer to surrender their options to the Company in exchange for a cash payment not to exceed the
in-the-money value of the Share Options. The Company has the right to accept or refuse such offers. For the year ended December 31, 2016,
the Company recorded $0.9 million in share based payments expense related to Share Options (2015 – $1.2 million), with no cash payments
made in 2016 (2015 – nil).
The following tables summarize information about Share Options outstanding:
December 31, 2016
Average
Share
Exercise Price
Options
($/ share )
(thousands )
1.23
14,794
1.11
(13,933)
1.42
2,275
–
–
1.69
(682)
3.41
(386)
1.71
2,068

Balance, beginning of year
Modification
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled/forfeited
Expired
Balance, end of year

Options Outstanding
Range of
Exercise Prices
$1.42 to $1.71
$1.72 to $2.61
$2.62 to $3.37
$3.38 to $4.74
$4.75 to $5.97
Total

Number of
Share Options
(thousands )
1,805
83
93
3
84
2,068

Average
Contractual Life
(years )
4.42
3.63
0.64
0.39
1.63
4.10

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
($/ share )
$
1.42
2.00
3.22
3.51
5.97
$
1.71

December 31, 2015
Average
Share
Exercise Price
Options
($/share)
(thousands)
1.33
12,819
–
–
0.69
2,150
0.62
(65)
1.23
(50)
3.59
(60)
1.23
14,794

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Number of Share
Average
Options
Exercise Price
(thousands )
($/ share )
–
$
–
21
2.00
93
3.22
3
3.51
56
5.97
173
$
3.98

The Company used the Black Scholes pricing model to calculate the estimated fair value of the outstanding Share Options. The following
assumptions were used to arrive at the estimate of fair value as at the date of grant:
2016
0.0
20.6
60.7
0.5
3.2
4.0
5.0
$ 0.73

Dividend yield (%)
Forfeiture rate (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life (years)
Vesting period (years)
Contractual life (years)
Weighted average grant date fair value
b)

2015
0.0
20.6
49.8
0.4
3.2
4.0
5.0
$ 0.18

Restricted Rights Plan

The Company has a Restricted Rights Plan for certain officers, employees and consultants. Restricted Rights granted under the Restricted
Rights Plan may be exercised during a period (the “Exercise Period”) not exceeding five years from the date upon which the Restricted Rights
were granted. The Restricted Rights typically vest on a graded basis over two years. At the expiration of the Exercise Period, any Restricted
Rights which have not been exercised shall expire. Upon vesting, the plan participant is entitled to receive one common share for each right
held at no cost.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, share based payments expense in respect of Restricted Rights outstanding was $0.9 million (2015 –
nil).
The following table shows changes in the Restricted Rights outstanding under the Restricted Rights Plan:

(thousands)

Balance, beginning of year
Modification
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, end of year
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2016

2015

40
(38)
1,082
(811)
–
273

618
–
2,727
(3,280)
(25)
40
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c)

Performance Share Rights Plan

The Company has a Performance Share Rights Plan for the Company’s senior management team. Performance Rights granted under the
Performance Share Rights Plan vest two years after the date upon which the Performance Rights were granted. The Performance Rights that
vest and become redeemable are a multiple of the Performance Rights granted dependent upon the achievement of certain performance
metrics over the vesting period. Vested Performance Rights can be settled in cash or Restricted Rights, at the discretion of the Board of
Directors. Should participants of the Performance Share Rights Plan leave the organization other than through retirement or termination
without cause prior to the vesting date, the Performance Rights would be forfeited.
At December 31, 2016, the Company had 1.0 million Performance Share Rights issued and outstanding under the Performance Share Rights
Plan (December 31, 2015 – 2.3 million).
For the year ended December 31, 2016, share based payments expense in respect of the Performance Share Rights outstanding was $0.5
million (2015 – nil) as a result of performance multiplier adjustments related to performance share units issued and outstanding.
d)

Compensation awards

The Company has agreements in place with certain employees whereby over a period of three years they may be entitled to receive shares of
the Company purchased on the open market by an independent trustee if they remain employees of the Company during such time. This does
not dilute equity or involve the issuance of shares from treasury. The shares purchased by the Trustee are reported as shares held in trust
(note 17).
At December 31, 2016, the Company had 1.1 million of these awards issued and outstanding (2015 – 4.0 million).
For the year ended December 31, 2016, $0.4 million in share based payments expense was recorded in respect of the awards (2015 – $0.6
million).
The Company also has agreements in place with directors and certain employees whereby, in the case of directors, upon retirement from the
board of directors, or in the case of employees, over a period of two years if they remain employees of the Company during such time, may
be entitled to receive at the discretion of the Board, cash, a grant of Restricted Rights or shares of the Company purchased on the open
market by an independent trustee.
At December 31, 2016, the Company had 2.2 million of these awards issued and outstanding (2015 – 3.5 million).
For the year ended December 31, 2016, $3.2 million in share based payments expense was recorded in respect of the compensation awards
granted (2015 – $2.1 million).
17. SHARES HELD IN TRUST
December 31, 2016
Shares
Amount

(thousands)
Balance, beginning of year
Shares purchased and held in trust
Share based payment settlements
Balance, end of year

47
218
(5)
260

($ thousands)
$
$

1,177
162
(28)
1,311

December 31, 2015
Shares
Amount

(thousands)

49
51
(53)
47

($ thousands)

$
$

1,387
1,109
(1,319)
1,177

The Company has compensation agreements in place with employees whereby they may be entitled to receive shares of the Company purchased
on the open market by a trustee. The balance of shares held in trust represents the cumulative cost of shares held by the trustee for the benefit of
employees that have not yet been issued to employees.
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18. FINANCE EXPENSE
The components of finance expense are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
Cash interest
Interest on senior notes
Interest on convertible debentures
Interest on bank indebtedness
Total cash interest
Non-cash finance expense
Amortization of debt issue costs
Accretion on decommissioning obligations (note 13)
Accretion on gas over bitumen provision
Change in fair value of gas over bitumen royalty financing (note 12)
Change in fair value of TOU share margin loans (note 10)
Change in carrying amount of share purchase rights derivative (note 15)
Total non-cash finance expense
Finance expenses recognized in net income (loss)

11,942
–
2,749
14,691

24,062
2,441
4,143
30,646

509
2,643
–
497
6,507
–
10,156
24,847

2,036
4,034
498
(1,675)
(171)
(7,478)
(2,756)
27,890

19. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL INFORMATION
Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
$
8,059
$
30,765
2,151
(1,506)
(17,364)
(53,227)
$ (7,154)
$
(23,968)

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Change in non-cash working capital
The change in non-cash working capital has been allocated to the following activities:

Operating
Financing
Investing

$

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
(4,910)
$
15,813
216
–
(2,460)
(39,781)

Change in non-cash working capital

$

(7,154)

$

(23,968)

20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The
Board of Directors has implemented and monitors compliance with risk management policies.
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Company’s activities.
a)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from joint venture partners, oil and natural gas marketers and derivative
contract counterparties.
Credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances is managed by maintaining balances with financial
institutions that have investment grade credit ratings.
Receivables from oil and natural gas marketers are normally collected on the 25th day of the month following production. The Company’s
policy to mitigate credit risk associated with these balances is to establish marketing relationships with large, well established purchasers. The
Company historically has not experienced any significant collection issues with its oil and natural gas marketing receivables. Joint venture
receivables are typically collected within one to three months of the joint venture bill being issued to the partner. The Company attempts to
mitigate the risk from joint venture receivables by obtaining partner approval of significant capital expenditures prior to expenditure. However,
the receivables are generally from participants in the oil and natural gas sector, and collection of the outstanding balances is dependent on
industry factors such as commodity price fluctuations, escalating costs, the risk of unsuccessful drilling and oil and gas production; in addition,
further risk exists with joint venture partners as disagreements occasionally arise that increase the potential for non-collection. The Company
does not typically obtain collateral from oil and natural gas marketers or joint venture partners, however, the Company does have the ability
in some cases to withhold production or amounts payable to joint venture partners in the event of non-payment.
The Company manages the credit exposure related to derivatives by engaging in risk management transactions with credit worthy
counterparties, and periodically monitoring counterparty credit assessments.
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The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and fair value of derivative assets represents the
Company’s maximum credit exposure. As at December 31, 2016, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance was $2.9 million
(December 31, 2015 - $2.1 million), restricted cash was $2.0 million (December 31, 2015 – nil), accounts receivable was $11.5 million
(December 31, 2015 - $19.5 million), and derivative assets was $10.7 million (December 31, 2015 - $3.7 million). The Company’s credit
provisions are represented by its allowance for doubtful accounts receivable as at December 31, 2016 of $0.8 million (December 31, 2015 –
$0.6 million). The amount of the allowance was determined by assessing the probability of collection for each past due receivable. The
Company is currently involved in negotiations with the joint venture partners involved to recover the full amount of the receivables in
question. The total amount of accounts receivables 90 days past due amounted to $2.0 million as at December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015
– $0.9 million).
b)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they are due. The Company’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking harm to the Company’s reputation.
The Company anticipates that cash flows including cash flow from operating activities, proceeds from potential future asset dispositions and
future disposition of its TOU share investment, cash and cash equivalents, and access to credit facilities will provide the required funds to
discharge the Company’s obligations, carry out exploration and development programs and fund ongoing operations for the foreseeable
future.
The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and updated as considered necessary. Further, the
Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on both operated and non-operated projects to further manage capital expenditures. The
Company also attempts to match its payment cycle with collection of petroleum and natural gas revenues on the 25th of each month.
The Company’s minimum contractual obligations, excluding estimated interest payments, at December 31, 2016 are detailed in note 14.
c)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, TOU share price, commodity prices and interest rates will
affect the Company’s net income or the value of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns.
The Company utilizes both financial derivatives and fixed-price physical delivery sales contracts to manage market risks related to commodity
prices, foreign currency rates and TOU share investment prices. All such transactions are conducted in accordance with the Company’s Risk
Management Policy, which has been approved by the Board of Directors.
i)

Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow will fluctuate as a result of changes in commodity prices.
Commodity prices for oil and natural gas are impacted not only by the relationship between the Canadian and United Stated dollar, but
also by world economic events that dictate the levels of supply and demand. The Company manages commodity price risk through the
use of various financial derivatives and fixed-price physical delivery sales contracts.
As at December 31, 2016, the Company has variable priced physical natural gas sales contracts based on future market prices. These
contracts are not classified as non-financial derivatives due to the fact that the settlement price corresponds directly with fluctuations in
natural gas prices.

N atural gas contracts
At December 31, 2016 the Company entered into the following physical fixed natural gas sales arrangements at AECO:
Term
January 2017
January 2017 – December 2017
February 2017
February 2017 – December 2017
March 2017
April 2017 – December 2017

Sold/bought
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold
Sold

Volumes
(GJ/ d )
56,100
12,500
40,000
2,500
10,000
5,000

Average price
($/ GJ )
3.28
3.11
3.39
3.20
3.32
3.20

Fair Value
($ thousands )
(75)
697
504
234
125
391

At December 31, 2016 the Company had entered into the following financial fixed natural gas sales arrangements at AECO:
Term
January 2017 – December 2017
March 2017
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Volumes
(GJ/ d )
7,500
5,000

Average price
($/ GJ )
3.16
3.29

Fair Value
($ thousands )
(265)
(9)
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At December 31, 2016 the Company had entered into the following financial basis differential contracts between AECO and NYMEX
trading:
Term
January
January
January
January

2017
2017
2018
2018

–
–
–
–

Sold/bought
Sold
Bought
Sold
Bought

December 2017
December 2017
December 2018
December 2018

Volumes
(M M BTU/ d )
30,000
(30,000)
25,000
(25,000)

differential price
($USD/ M M BTU )
(0.69)
(0.93)
(0.71)
(0.82)

Fair Value
($CAD thousands )
5,526
(2,058)
2,217
(805)

In January 2017, the Company crystalized these basis differential contracts resulting in net cash proceeds of $4.9 million.

Oil contracts
At December 31, 2016, the Company had entered into the following costless collar oil sales arrangements which settle in $USD.
Term
January 2017 – December 2017(1)
January 2017 – December 2017
(1)

Volumes at WTI
(bbls/ d )
250
500

Floor price
($USD/ bbl )
44.50
50.00

Ceiling price
($USD/ bbl )
49.55
59.40

Fair Value
($CAD thousands )
(933)
(205)

In January 2017, the Company crystalized this contract at a cost of $0.9 million and reset the floor price to $USD50.00 and the ceiling price to
$USD61.50

The following table is a summary of the fair value of the Company’s financial contracts by type:

Physical natural gas contracts
Financial natural gas contracts
Financial oil contracts
Financial foreign exchange contracts
Fixed portion of retained shallow gas marketing arrangements(1)
Non-fixed portion of retained shallow gas marketing arrangements
Fair value of derivatives

8,326
2,351
(9,221)
(2,023)
(567)

Derivative assets – current
Derivative assets – non-current
Derivative liabilities - current
Derivative liabilities – non-current
Fair value of derivatives
(1)

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
1,876
(131)
4,606
(1,824)
(1,138)
2,006
(5,022)
(13,069)
(4,698)
–
3,809
–
(567)
(13,018)
2,319
1,411
(9,353)
(7,395)
(13,018)

Upon entering into these arrangements, the term of the put option between the periods of November 1, 2016 and March 31, 2018 was fixed at a cost
of $5.1 million which settles monthly over the term. This portion of the contract is recorded at amortized cost. During the year ended December 31,
2016, payments of $0.4 million were recorded as a reduction to this liability.

The following table details the Company’s changes in fair value of commodity price derivatives:

Unrealized gain (loss) on financial oil contracts
Unrealized gain (loss) on financial natural gas contracts
Unrealized gain (loss) on physical natural gas contracts
Unrealized gain (loss) on forward foreign exchange contracts
Unrealized change in fair value of commodity price derivatives
Realized gain (loss) on financial oil contracts
Realized gain (loss) on financial natural gas contracts
Realized loss on forward foreign exchange contracts
Change in fair value of commodity price derivatives

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
(3,144)
(4,409)
6,430
(3,165)
2,007
(80)
8,047
(8,409)
13,340
(16,063)
1,036
6,651
6,224
5,161
(2,559)
(7,186)
18,041
(11,437)

N atural gas contracts - sensitivity analysis
As at December 31, 2016, if future natural gas prices changed by $0.25 per GJ with all other variables held constant, the fair value of
commodity price derivatives and after tax net income for the period would change by $0.6 million. Fair value sensitivity was based on
published forward AECO and NYMEX prices.

Oil contracts - sensitivity analysis
As at December 31, 2016, if future oil prices increased by $5.00 per boe with all other variables held constant, the fair value of
commodity price derivatives and after tax net income for the period would decrease by $1.0 million. If future oil prices decreased by
$5.00 per boe with all other variables held constant, the fair value of commodity price derivatives and after tax net income for the period
would increase by $0.6 million. Fair value sensitivity was based on published forward WTI and WCS prices.
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ii)

Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Foreign currency exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company will fluctuate as a result of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The majority of the Company’s oil and natural gas sales are denominated in Canadian dollars. As the
demand for oil and natural gas is substantially driven by the demand in the United States, the Company’s exposure to US dollar foreign
exchange risk is indirectly driven by the price of oil and natural gas. From time to time, the Company also uses foreign exchange
contracts to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in exchange rates on the Company’s cash flows.

Foreign ex change contracts
At December 31, 2016, the Company had entered into the following U.S. dollar forward sales arrangement:
Notional
($USD/ m onth )
3,500,000

Term
January 2017 – March 2018(1)
(1)

Strike rate
($CAD/ $USD )
1.25

Fair Value
($CAD thousands )
(5,134)

If the average monthly exchange rate is greater than the strike rate, the Company pays $USD 3,500,000 multiplied by the difference between the
average monthly exchange rate and the strike rate.

In January 2017, the Company terminated the forward U.S. dollar sales arrangement at a cost of $4.3 million.
At December 31, 2016, the Company had entered into the following U.S. dollar boosted forward sales arrangement:

Term
January 2017 – March 2018(2)
(1)

(2)

Notional
($USD/ m onth )
1,000,000

Boosted
notional(1)
($USD/ m onth )
3,000,000

Strike rate
($CAD/ $USD )
1.25

Fair Value
($CAD thousands )
112

If the spot rate at expiry of each contract month is below the strike rate, the Company pays $USD 3,000,000 multiplied by the difference between
the spot rate at expiry and the strike rate.
If the spot rate at expiry of each contract month is above the strike rate, the Company receives $USD 1,000,000 multiplied by the difference between
the spot rate at expiry and the strike rate. Cumulative receipts on this contract are limited to a total of $0.8 million, after which the contract
terminates.

Foreign ex change contracts - sensitivity analysis
As at December 31, 2016, if future exchange rates increased by $0.10 $CAD/$USD with all other variables held constant, the fair value of
foreign exchange derivatives and after tax net income for the period would decrease by $7.0 million. If future exchange rates decreased
by $0.10 $CAD/$USD with all other variables held constant, the fair value of foreign exchange derivatives and after tax net income for
the period would increase by $3.4 million. Fair value sensitivity was based on published forward $CAD/$USD rates.
iii) Interest rate risk
The Company utilizes a credit facility which bears a floating rate of interest and as such is subject to interest rate risk. Increased future
interest rates will decrease future cash flows and net income or loss, thereby potentially affecting the Company’s bank indebtedness. The
Company had no interest rate swap or financial contracts in place as at or during the year ended December 31, 2016 (December 31,
2015 – nil).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, if interest rates changed by one percent with all other variables held constant, the
impact on interest expense and net income (loss) would be nominal, as the Company’s bank indebtedness was minimal.
d)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The Company’s fair value measurements are classified as one of the following levels of the fair value hierarchy:
Level 1 – inputs represent unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. An active market is characterized
by a high volume of transactions that provides pricing information on an ongoing basis.
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
These valuations are based on inputs that can be observed or corroborated in the marketplace, such as market interest rates or forward
prices for commodities.
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data.
The Company aims to maximize the use of observable inputs when preparing calculations of fair value. Classification of each measurement
into the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value calculation.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate
their carrying amounts due to their short terms to maturity. Bank indebtedness bears interest at a floating market rate and accordingly the
fair market value approximates the carrying amount.
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The fair value of the gas over bitumen royalty financing is estimated by discounting future cash payments based on the forecasted Alberta gas
reference price (note 12) multiplied by the contracted deemed volume. This fair value measurement is classified as level 3 as significant
unobservable inputs, including the discount rate and forecasted Alberta gas reference prices, are used in determination of the carrying
amount. The discount rate of 12.2% was determined on inception of the agreement based on the characteristics of the instrument. The
forecasted Alberta gas reference prices for the remaining term are based on AECO forward market pricing with adjustments for historical
differences between the Alberta reference price and market prices.
The fair value of the TOU share margin loans are estimated using significant unobservable inputs including discount rates and measures of
future volatility required to fair value the embedded TOU share price put options. This fair value measurement is classified as level 3 as
significant unobservable inputs, including discount rates and measures of future volatility are used in determination of the carrying amount
(see note 10).
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, excluding working capital, is attributable to the following fair value hierarchy levels:

As at December 31, 2016
Financial assets
Fair value through profit and loss
TOU share investment
Derivatives – current
Derivatives – non-current
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Senior notes
Fair value through profit and loss
Derivatives – current
Derivatives – non-current
Gas over bitumen royalty financing – current
Gas over bitumen royalty financing – non-current
TOU share margin loans – current
(1)

66,343
10,528
4,157

60,120
11,423
3,829
3,390
4,954
39,953

Netting(1)

–
(2,202)
(1,806)

–
(2,202)
(1,806)
–
–
–

Fair value

Carrying
Amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

66,343
8,326
2,351

66,343
–
–

–
8,326
2,351

–
–
–

60,120

–

59,664

–

9,221
2,023
3,390
4,954
39,953

–
–
–
–
–

9,221
2,023
–
–
–

–
–
3,390
4,954
39,953

Derivative assets and liabilities presented in the statement of financial position are shown net of offsetting assets or liabilities where the arrangement
provides for the legal right and intention for net settlement exists.

As at December 31, 2015
Financial assets
Fair value through profit and loss
TOU share investment
Derivatives – current
Derivatives – non-current
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Senior notes
Fair value through profit and loss
Derivatives – current
Derivatives – non-current
Gas over bitumen royalty financing – current
Gas over bitumen royalty financing – non-current
TOU share margin loans - current
(1)

Gross

Fair value

Gross

Netting

Carrying
Amount

145,275
2,667
1,411

–
(348)
–

145,275
2,319
1,411

145,275
–
–

–
2,319
1,411

–
–
–

271,658

–

168,000

–

9,353
7,395
2,604
7,407
60,059

–
–
–
–
–

9,353
7,395
–
–
–

–
–
2,604
7,407
60,059

271,658
9,701
7,395
2,604
7,407
60,059

(1)

–
(348)
–
–
–
–

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Derivative assets and liabilities presented in the statement of financial position are shown net of offsetting assets or liabilities where the arrangement
provides for the legal right and intention for net settlement exists.
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21. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes in the financial statements differs from the result that would have been obtained by applying the combined
federal and provincial tax rate to the Company’s income (loss) before income tax. This difference results from the following items:
Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
$ 107,149
$
(89,274)
27.0%
26.0%
$ 28,930
$
(23,211)

Net income (loss) before income tax
Combined federal and provincial tax rate
Computed income tax expense (recovery)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable capital (gain) loss
Change in unrecognized tax asset
Change in tax rate
Other
Deferred income taxes

1,596
(18,095)
(13,113)
–
682
$
–

$

981
13,635
16,653
(8,745)
687
–

The Alberta income tax rate increased to 12 percent from 10 percent on July 1, 2015, resulting in an effective tax rate of 27 percent for 2016
and 26 percent for 2015. There were no changes to federal statutory income tax rates.
The following table summarizes the deferred income tax liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries, which are offset against certain
deferred income tax assets:
Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
Liability:
Property, plant and equipment
Marketable securities
Other
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Asset:
Decommissioning obligation

$

$

$

–
2,087
3,264
5,351

$

34,609
–
3,205
37,814

$

(5,351)

$

(37,814)

The unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences included in the Company’s unrecognized deferred income tax assets are as
follows:
Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
$ 138,012
$ 163,404
139,937
161,625
50,163
–
2,061
30,985
8,344
10,011
–
104,460
18,886
4,752
$ 357,403
$ 475,237

Non-capital losses
Capital losses
Property, plant and equipment
Decommissioning obligation
Gas over bitumen royalty financings
Marketable securities
Other

At December 31, 2016, the unused non-capital losses expire between 2024 and 2036, and unused capital losses have no expiry date. The
deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. The petroleum and natural gas properties and facilities owned by
the Company and its subsidiaries have an approximate tax basis of $317 million (December 31, 2015 – $276 million) available for future use
as deductions from taxable income.
Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these unused tax losses and temporary differences because it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits.
22. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The Company has defined key management personnel as executive officers, as well as the Board of Directors, as they have the collective
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. The following table outlines the total
compensation expense for key management personnel:

$

Short-term compensation
Share based payments
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Years ended December 31,
2016
2015
2,637
$
2,562
1,871
1,128
4,508
$
3,690
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23. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
The Company’s consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) are prepared primarily by nature of expense, with
the exception of employee compensation costs which are included in both production and operating and general and administrative expenses.
The following table details the amount of total employee compensation costs included in production and operating and general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss).

$

Production and operating
General and administrative
Restructuring costs

$

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
4,986
$
8,319
18,336
20,343
2,926
–
26,248
$
28,662

During the year ended December 31, 2016, total employee compensation costs included share based payments of $5.9 million (2015 – $3.8
million) with the remainder being short-term fees and other short-term benefits.
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